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Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Brown & Brown, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “we,” “Brown & Brown” or the “Company”), make “forward-looking statements” within
the “safe harbor” provision of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended, throughout this report and in the documents we incorporate by
reference into this report. You can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“intend,” “estimate,” “plan” and “continue” or similar words. We have based these statements on our current expectations about future events. Although we
believe the expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-Q and the reports, statements, information and announcements
incorporated by reference into this report are based on reasonable assumptions within the bounds of our knowledge of our business, a number of factors could
cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements, whether oral or written, made by us or on our behalf. Many of
these factors have previously been identified in filings or statements made by us or on our behalf. Important factors which could cause our actual results to differ
materially from the forward-looking statements in this report include the following items, in addition to those matters described in Part I, Item 2 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”:
 

 •  Projections of revenues, income, losses, cash flows, and capital expenditures;
 

 •  Future prospects;
 

 •  Plans for future operations;
 

 •  Expectations of the economic environment;
 

 •  Material adverse changes in economic conditions in the markets we serve and in the general economy;
 

 •  Future regulatory actions and conditions in the states in which we conduct our business;
 

 •  Competition from others in the insurance agency, wholesale brokerage, insurance programs and service business;
 

 
•  The occurrence of adverse economic conditions, an adverse regulatory climate, or a disaster in California, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Massachusetts,

Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas and Washington, because a significant portion of business written by Brown & Brown is for
customers located in these states;

 

 
•  The integration of our operations with those of businesses or assets we have acquired, including our January 2012 acquisition of Arrowhead General

Insurance Agency Superholding Corporation (“Arrowhead”) and our July 2013 acquisition of Beecher Carlson Holdings, Inc. (“Beecher”), or may
acquire in the future and the failure to realize the expected benefits of such acquisition and integration;

 

 •  Premium rates and exposure units set by insurance companies which have traditionally varied and are difficult to predict;
 

 •  Our ability to forecast liquidity needs through at least the end of 2013;
 

 •  Our ability to renew or replace expiring leases;
 

 •  Outcome of legal proceedings and governmental investigations;
 

 •  Policy cancellations which can be unpredictable;
 

 •  Potential changes to the tax rate that would affect the value of deferred tax assets and liabilities;
 

 
•  The inherent uncertainty in making estimates, judgments, and assumptions in the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”);
 

 •  The performance of acquired businesses and its effect on estimated acquisition earn-out payable;
 

 
•  Other risks and uncertainties as may be detailed from time to time in our public announcements and Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)

filings; and
 

 
•  Assumptions as to any of the foregoing and all statements that are not based on historical fact but rather reflect our current expectations concerning

future results and events.

Forward-looking statements that we make or that are made by others on our behalf are based on a knowledge of our business and the environment in which
we operate, but because of the factors listed above, among others, actual results may differ from those in the forward-looking statements. Consequently, these
cautionary statements qualify all of the forward-looking statements we make herein. We cannot assure you that the results or developments anticipated by us will
be realized or, even if substantially realized, that those results or developments will result in the expected consequences for us or affect us, our business or our
operations in the way we expect. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of their dates. We
assume no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements.
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1 — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

BROWN & BROWN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(UNAUDITED)

 

(in thousands, except per share data)   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
   2013    2012   2013    2012  
REVENUES        

Commissions and fees   $324,150    $289,942   $657,943    $586,475  
Investment income    239     187    425     322  
Other income, net    1,403     787    2,436     6,605  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total revenues    325,792     290,916    660,804     593,402  

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    163,514     150,752    323,012     300,348  
Non-cash stock-based compensation    3,623     3,738    7,473     7,485  
Other operating expenses    47,397     42,220    93,736     85,620  
Amortization    16,121     15,881    32,282     31,494  
Depreciation    4,263     3,784    8,430     7,425  
Interest    3,997     4,000    7,981     8,087  
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payables    656     (604)   2,178     (992) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total expenses    239,571     219,771    475,092     439,467  
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 

Income before income taxes    86,221     71,145    185,712     153,935  

Income taxes    34,214     28,674    73,574     62,031  
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 

Net income   $ 52,007    $ 42,471   $ 112,138    $ 91,904  
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Net income per share:        
Basic   $ 0.36    $ 0.30   $ 0.78    $ 0.64  

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Diluted   $ 0.36    $ 0.29   $ 0.77    $ 0.63  
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:        
Basic    140,836     139,086    140,816     139,044  

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Diluted    143,021     141,828    142,938     141,664  
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Dividends declared per share   $ 0.09    $ 0.0850   $ 0.1800    $ 0.1700  
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BROWN & BROWN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(UNAUDITED)

 

(in thousands, except per share data)   
June 30,

2013    
December 31,

2012  
ASSETS     
Current Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 385,525    $ 219,821  
Restricted cash and investments    210,538     164,564  
Short-term investments    12,205     8,183  
Premiums, commissions and fees receivable    310,486     302,725  
Deferred income taxes    15,051     24,408  
Other current assets    38,767     39,811  

    
 

    
 

Total current assets    972,572     759,512  

Fixed assets, net    72,929     74,337  
Goodwill    1,722,828     1,711,514  
Amortizable intangible assets, net    538,767     566,538  
Other assets    19,224     16,157  

    
 

    
 

Total assets   $3,326,320    $3,128,058  
    

 

    

 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Current Liabilities:     

Premiums payable to insurance companies   $ 476,529    $ 406,704  
Premium deposits and credits due customers    31,216     32,867  
Accounts payable    46,884     48,524  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    107,153     79,593  
Current portion of long-term debt    33     93  

    
 

    
 

Total current liabilities    661,815     567,781  

Long-term debt    450,000     450,000  

Deferred income taxes, net    249,195     237,630  

Other liabilities    63,252     65,314  

Shareholders’ Equity:     
Common stock, par value $0.10 per share; authorized 280,000 shares; issued and outstanding 144,045 at 2013 and 143,878

at 2012    14,405     14,388  
Additional paid-in capital    344,354     335,872  
Retained earnings    1,543,299     1,457,073  

    
 

    
 

Total shareholders’ equity    1,902,058     1,807,333  
    

 
    

 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $3,326,320    $3,128,058  
    

 

    

 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BROWN & BROWN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2013   2012  
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net income   $ 112,138   $ 91,904  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Amortization    32,282    31,494  
Depreciation    8,430    7,425  
Non-cash stock-based compensation    7,473    7,485  
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payables    2,178    (992) 
Deferred income taxes    20,922    25,385  
Income tax benefit from exercise of shares from the stock benefit plans    (307)   (55) 
Net gain on sales of investments, fixed assets and customer accounts    (974)   (2,361) 
Payments on acquisition earn-outs in excess of original estimated payables    (1,926)   —   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect from acquisitions and divestitures:    
Restricted cash and investments (increase)    (45,974)   (62,005) 
Premiums, commissions and fees receivable (increase)    (6,307)   (6,355) 
Other assets (increase)    (1,386)   (9,747) 
Premiums payable to insurance companies increase    69,008    50,028  
Premium deposits and credits due customers (decrease)    (1,651)   (854) 
Accounts payable increase    6,725    33,269  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities increase (decrease)    27,517    (27,969) 
Other liabilities (decrease)    (6,263)   (23,903) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    221,885    112,749  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Additions to fixed assets    (7,123)   (12,677) 
Payments for businesses acquired, net of cash acquired    (14,384)   (369,733) 
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets and customer accounts    513    4,504  
Purchases of investments    (9,935)   (3,147) 
Proceeds from sales of investments    5,914    3,084  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (25,015)   (377,969) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Payments on acquisition earn-outs    (6,153)   (1,645) 
Proceeds from long-term debt    —     200,000  
Payments on long-term debt    (60)   (624) 
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities    —     100,000  
Payments on revolving credit facilities    —     (100,000) 
Income tax benefit from exercise of shares from the stock benefit plans    307    55  
Issuances of common stock for employee stock benefit plans    725    288  
Repurchase stock benefit plan shares for employees to fund tax withholdings    (73)   (1,084) 
Cash dividends paid    (25,912)   (24,363) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (31,166)   172,627  
    

 
   

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    165,704    (92,593) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    219,821    286,305  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $385,525   $ 193,712  
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BROWN & BROWN, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1· Nature of Operations

Brown & Brown, Inc., a Florida corporation, and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Brown & Brown” or the “Company”) is a diversified insurance agency,
insurance programs, wholesale brokerage and services organization that markets and sells to its customers insurance products and services, primarily in the
property and casualty area. Brown & Brown’s business is divided into four reportable segments: the Retail Division, which provides a broad range of insurance
products and services to commercial, public and quasi-public entities, professional and individual customers; the National Programs Division, which provides
professional liability and related package products for certain professionals delivered through nationwide networks of independent agents, and markets targeted
products and services designated for specific industries, trade groups, public and quasi-public entities and market niches; the Wholesale Brokerage Division,
which markets and sells excess and surplus commercial insurance and reinsurance, primarily through independent agents and brokers; and the Services Division,
which provides insurance-related services, including third-party claims administration and comprehensive medical utilization management services in both the
workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as Medicare set-aside services, Social Security disability and Medicare benefits advocacy services,
and catastrophe claims adjusting services.

NOTE 2· Basis of Financial Reporting

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions for Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X.
Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all
adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. These unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto set forth in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2013.

NOTE 3· Net Income Per Share

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 260 — Earnings Per Share is the authoritative guidance that states that unvested share-based payment
awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are participating securities and, therefore, are included in computing earnings per
share (“EPS”) pursuant to the two-class method. The two-class method determines EPS for each class of common stock and participating securities according to
dividends or dividend equivalents and their respective participation rights in undistributed earnings. Performance stock shares granted to employees under the
Company’s Performance Stock Plan and Stock Incentive Plan are considered participating securities as they receive non-forfeitable dividend equivalents at the
same rate as common stock.
 

7



Table of Contents

Basic EPS is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares (including participating securities) issued and outstanding during the
period. Diluted EPS is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding plus equivalent shares assuming the exercise
of stock options. The dilutive effect of stock options is computed by application of the treasury stock method. The following is a reconciliation between basic and
diluted weighted average shares outstanding:
 

   
For the three  months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2013   2012   2013   2012  

Net income   $ 52,007   $ 42,471   $ 112,138   $ 91,904  

Net income attributable to unvested awarded performance stock    (1,157)   (1,248)   (2,467)   (2,744) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net income attributable to common shares   $ 50,850   $ 41,223   $109,671   $ 89,160  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic    144,041    143,298    143,984    143,323  

Less unvested awarded performance stock included in weighted average number of
common shares outstanding – basic    (3,205)   (4,212)   (3,168)   (4,279) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding for basic earnings
per common share    140,836    139,086    140,816    139,044  

Dilutive effect of stock options    2,185    2,742    2,122    2,620  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – diluted    143,021    141,828    142,938    141,664  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net income per share:      
Basic   $ 0.36   $ 0.30   $ 0.78   $ 0.64  

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted   $ 0.36   $ 0.29   $ 0.77   $ 0.63  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

NOTE 4· Business Combinations

Acquisitions in 2013

During the six months ended June 30, 2013, Brown & Brown has acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of two insurance intermediaries and a
book of business (customer accounts). The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $17,865,000, including $14,366,000 of cash payments, the issuance
of $85,000 in other payables, the assumption of $860,000 of liabilities and $2,554,000 of recorded earn-out payables. All of these acquisitions were acquired
primarily to expand Brown & Brown’s core businesses and to attract and hire high-quality individuals. Acquisition purchase prices are typically based on a
multiple of average annual operating profit earned over a one- to three-year period within a minimum and maximum price range. The recorded purchase price for
all acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009 included an estimation of the fair value of liabilities associated with any potential earn-out provisions.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of earn-out obligations will be recorded in the consolidated statement of income when incurred.

The fair value of earn-out obligations is based on the present value of the expected future payments to be made to the sellers of the acquired businesses in
accordance with the provisions outlined in the respective purchase agreements. In determining fair value, the acquired business’s future performance is estimated
using financial projections developed by management for the acquired business and reflects market participant assumptions regarding revenue growth and/or
profitability. The expected future payments are estimated on the basis of the earn-out formula and performance targets specified in each purchase agreement
compared to the associated financial projections. These payments are then discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted rate that takes into consideration the
likelihood that the forecasted earn-out payments will be made.

Based on the acquisition date and the complexity of the underlying valuation work, certain amounts included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements may be provisional and thus subject to further adjustments within the permitted measurement period, as defined in ASC Topic 805 – Business
Combinations (“ASC 805”). For the six months ended June 30, 2013, several adjustments were made within the permitted measurement period that resulted in
reduction to the aggregate purchase price of the applicable acquisitions of $1,115,000, including $18,000 of cash payments, a reduction of $454,000 in other
payables, the assumption of $42,000 of liabilities and the reduction of $721,000 in recorded earn-out payables.
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The following table summarizes the aggregate purchase price allocations made as of the date of each acquisition for current year acquisitions and
adjustments made during the measurement period for prior year acquisitions:
 
(in thousands)                        

Name   
Business
Segment   

Date of
Acquisition   

Cash
Paid    

Other
Payable  

Recorded
Earn-Out
Payable   

Net  Assets
Acquired   

Maximum
Potential  Earn-

Out Payable  
Arrowhead General Insurance Agency

Superholding Corporation
  

National
Programs;
Services   January 9, 2012   $ —     $ (454)  $ —    $ (454)  $ —   

Insurcorp & GGM Investments LLC   Retail   May 1, 2012    —      —     (834)   (834)   —    
Richard W. Endlar Insurance Agency, Inc.   Retail   May 1, 2012    —      —     220    220    —    
Texas Security General Insurance Agency, Inc.

  

Wholesale
Brokerage   September 1, 2012   —      —     (107)   (107)   —    

The Rollins Agency, Inc.   Retail   June 1, 2013    13,792     50    2,256    16,098    4,300  
Other   Various   Various    592     35    298    925    448  

        
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total       $14,384    $ (369)  $ 1,833   $ 15,848   $ 4,748  
        

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the aggregate assets and liabilities acquired as of the date of each acquisitions and adjustments
made during the measurement period for prior year acquisition:
 

(in thousands)   Rollins   Arrowhead  Insurcorp  Endlar   
Texas

Security  Other   Total  
Other current assets   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —     $ 25   $1,455   $ 1,480  
Fixed assets    30    —      —      —      —     1    31  
Goodwill    13,019    (454)   (566)   216     (843)   (685)   10,687  
Purchased customer accounts    3,876    —      (268)   4     708    170    4,490  
Non-compete agreements    31    —      —      —      —     31    62  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets acquired    16,956    (454)   (834)   220     (110)   972    16,750  
Other current liabilities    (858)   —     —     —      3    (47)   (902) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net assets acquired   $16,098   $ (454)  $ (834)  $ 220    $ (107)  $ 925   $15,848  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

The weighted average useful lives for the acquired amortizable intangible assets are as follows: purchased customer accounts, 15.0 years; and non-compete
agreements, 5.0 years.

Goodwill of $10,687,000, was allocated to the Retail, National Programs and Wholesale Brokerage Divisions in the amounts of $11,984,000, ($454,000)
and ($843,000), respectively. Of the total goodwill of $10,687,000, $9,308,000 is currently deductible for income tax purposes and ($454,000) is non-deductible.
The remaining $1,833,000 relates to the earn-out payables and will not be deductible until it is earned and paid.

The results of operations for the acquisitions completed during 2013 have been combined with those of the Company since their respective acquisition
dates. The total revenues and income before income taxes from the acquisitions completed through June 30, 2013, included in the Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, were $627,000 and $142,000, respectively. If the acquisitions had occurred as of the
beginning of the period, the Company’s results of operations would be as shown in the following table. These unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily
indicative of the actual results of operations that would have occurred had the acquisitions actually been made at the beginning of the respective periods.
 

(UNAUDITED)   
For the three months ended

June 30,    
For the six months ended

June 30,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2013    2012    2013    2012  
Total revenues   $ 326,753    $ 292,242    $663,460    $596,931  
Income before income taxes    86,506     71,528     186,503     154,953  
Net income    52,179     42,700     112,616     92,511  
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(UNAUDITED)   
For the three months ended

June 30,    
For the six months ended

June 30,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2013    2012    2013    2012  
Net income per share:         

Basic   $ 0.36    $ 0.30    $ 0.78    $ 0.65  
Diluted   $ 0.36    $ 0.29    $ 0.77    $ 0.63  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:         
Basic    140,836     139,086     140,816     139,044  
Diluted    143,021     141,828     142,938     141,664  

Acquisitions in 2012

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, Brown & Brown acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of seven insurance intermediaries and all of
the stock of one insurance intermediary. The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $599,122,000, including $428,612,000 of cash payments, the
issuance of notes payable of $59,000, the issuance of $23,594,000 in other payables, the assumption of $133,938,000 of liabilities and $12,919,000 of recorded
earn-out payables. All of these acquisitions were acquired primarily to expand Brown & Brown’s core businesses and to attract and hire high-quality individuals.
Acquisition purchase prices are typically based on a multiple of average annual operating profit earned over a one- to three-year period within a minimum and
maximum price range. The recorded purchase price for all acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009 included an estimation of the fair value of liabilities
associated with any potential earn-out provisions. Subsequent changes in the fair value of earn-out obligations will be recorded in the consolidated statement of
income when incurred.

The fair value of earn-out obligations is based on the present value of the expected future payments to be made to the sellers of the acquired businesses in
accordance with the provisions outlined in the respective purchase agreements. In determining fair value, the acquired business’s future performance is estimated
using financial projections developed by management for the acquired business and reflects market participant assumptions regarding revenue growth and/or
profitability. The expected future payments are estimated on the basis of the earn-out formula and performance targets specified in each purchase agreement
compared to the associated financial projections. These payments are then discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted rate that takes into consideration the
likelihood that the forecasted earn-out payments will be made.

The acquisition made during the six months ended June 30, 2012 have been accounted for as business combinations and were as follows:
 
(in thousands)                                 

Name   
Business
Segment    

2012
Date of

Acquisition    
Cash
Paid    

Note
Payable   

Other
Payable    

Recorded
Earn-Out
Payable    

Net Assets
Acquired    

Maximum
Potential
Earn-Out
Payable  

Arrowhead General Insurance Agency Superholding
Corporation

  

 
 
 

National
Programs;

Services

  
  
     January 9    $397,531    $ —     $22,694    $ 3,634    $423,859    $ 5,000  

Insurcorp & GGM Investments LLC (d/b/a Maalouf
Benefit Resources)    Retail     May 1     15,500     —      900     4,932     21,332     17,000  

Other    Various     Various     15,581     59     —      4,353     19,993     10,235  
        

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total       $428,612    $ 59    $23,594    $12,919    $465,184    $32,235  
        

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the aggregate assets and liabilities acquired as of the date of each acquisition:
 

(in thousands)   Arrowhead   Insurcorp   Other    Total  
Cash   $ 61,786    $ —     $ —     $ 61,786  
Other current assets    68,381     —      219     68,600  
Fixed assets    4,629     25     67     4,721  
Goodwill    321,774     14,856     12,931     349,561  
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(in thousands)   Arrowhead   Insurcorp  Other   Total  
Purchased customer accounts    99,515    6,529    8,190    114,234  
Non-compete agreements    100    22    97    219  
Other assets    1    —     —     1  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets acquired    556,186    21,432    21,504    599,122  
Other current liabilities    (105,905)   (100)   (1,510)   (107,515) 
Deferred income taxes, net    (26,423)   —     —     (26,423) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total liabilities assumed    (132,328)   (100)   (1,510)   (133,938) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net assets acquired   $ 423,858   $21,332   $19,994   $ 465,184  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The weighted average useful lives for the acquired amortizable intangible assets are as follows: purchased customer accounts, 15.0 years; and non-compete
agreements, 5.0 years.

Goodwill of $349,561,000, was allocated to the Retail, National Programs, Wholesale Brokerage and Services Divisions in the amounts of $26,976,000,
$252,761,000, $811,000 and $69,013,000, respectively. Of the total goodwill of $349,561,000, $19,909,000 is currently deductible for income tax purposes and
$316,733,000 is non-deductible. The remaining $12,919,000 relates to the earn-out payables and will not be deductible until it is earned and paid.

The results of operations for the acquisitions completed during 2012 have been combined with those of the Company since their respective acquisition
dates. The total revenues and income (loss) before income taxes from the acquisitions completed through June 30, 2012, included in the Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Income for the three months ended June 30, 2012, were $30,554,000 and ($814,000), respectively. The total revenues and income (loss) before
income taxes from the acquisitions completed through June 30, 2012, included in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the six months ended
June 30, 2012, were $58,266,000 and ($452,000), respectively. If the acquisitions had occurred as of the beginning of the period, the Company’s results of
operations would be as shown in the following table. These unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations that would
have occurred had the acquisitions actually been made at the beginning of the respective periods.
 

(UNAUDITED)   
For the three  months

ended June 30,    
For the six  months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2012    2011    2012    2011  
Total revenues   $291,763    $277,522    $599,965    $570,176  
Income before income taxes    71,473     70,022     156,202     155,203  
Net income    42,667     42,189     93,257     93,622  

Net income per share:         
Basic   $ 0.30    $ 0.30    $ 0.65    $ 0.66  
Diluted   $ 0.29    $ 0.29    $ 0.64    $ 0.64  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:         
Basic    139,086     138,379     139,044     138,365  
Diluted    141,828     139,942     141,664     140,950  

For acquisitions consummated prior to January 1, 2009, additional consideration paid to sellers as a result of purchase price earn-out provisions are
recorded as adjustments to intangible assets when the contingencies are settled. The net additional consideration paid by the Company in 2013 as a result of these
adjustments totaled $627,000, all of which was allocated to goodwill. Of the $627,000 net additional consideration paid, $627,000 was issued as an other
payable. The net additional consideration paid by the Company in 2012 as a result of these adjustments totaled $2,907,000, all of which was allocated to
goodwill. Of the $2,907,000 net additional consideration paid, $2,907,000 was paid in cash.

As of June 30, 2013, the maximum future contingency payments related to all acquisitions totaled $135,199,000, all of which relates to acquisitions
consummated subsequent to January 1, 2009.

ASC Topic 805 — Business Combinations is the authoritative guidance requiring an acquirer to recognize 100% of the fair values of acquired assets,
including goodwill, and assumed liabilities (with only limited exceptions) upon initially obtaining control of an acquired entity. Additionally, the fair value of
contingent consideration arrangements (such as earn-out purchase arrangements) at the acquisition date must be included in the purchase price consideration. As a
result, the recorded purchase prices for all acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009 include an estimation of the fair value of liabilities associated with any
potential earn-out provisions. Subsequent changes in these earn-out obligations will be recorded in the consolidated statement of income when incurred. Potential
earn-out obligations are typically based upon future earnings of the acquired entities, usually between one and three years.
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As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, the fair values of the estimated acquisition earn-out payables were re-evaluated and measured at fair value on a recurring
basis using unobservable inputs (Level 3). The resulting additions, payments, and net changes, as well as the interest expense accretion on the estimated
acquisition earn-out payables, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, were as follows:
 

   
For the three  months

ended June 30,   
For the six  months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2013   2012   2013   2012  
Balance as of the beginning of the period   $49,469   $51,908   $52,987   $47,715  
Additions to estimated acquisition earn-out payables    2,554    8,205    1,833    12,919  
Payments for estimated acquisition earn-out payables    (3,761)   (1,512)   (8,080)   (1,645) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Subtotal    48,262    58,601    46,740    58,989  

Net change in earnings from estimated acquisition earn-out payables:      

Change in fair value on estimated acquisition earn-out payables    159    (1,236)   1,156    (2,206) 
Interest expense accretion    497    632    1,022    1,214  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net change in earnings from estimated acquisition earn-out payables    656    (604)   2,178    (992) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance as of June 30   $48,918   $57,997   $48,918   $57,997  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Of the $48,918,000 estimated acquisition earn-out payables as of June 30, 2013, $14,455,000 was recorded as accounts payable and $34,463,000 was
recorded as other non-current liabilities. Of the $57,997,000 in estimated acquisition earn-out payables as of June 30, 2012, $16,682,000 was recorded as
accounts payable and $41,315,000 was recorded as other non-current liabilities.

NOTE 5· Goodwill

Goodwill is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair value-based test. Brown & Brown completed its most recent annual
assessment as of November 30, 2012, and identified no impairment as a result of the evaluation.

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill by operating segment for the six months ended June 30, 2013 are as follows:
 

(in thousands)   Retail    
National

Programs    
Wholesale
Brokerage   Services    Total  

Balance as of January 1, 2013   $876,219    $439,180    $288,054   $108,061    $1,711,514  
Goodwill of acquired businesses    11,984     173     (843)   —      11,314  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Balance as of June 30, 2013   $888,203    $439,353    $ 287,211   $108,061    $1,722,828  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

NOTE 6· Amortizable Intangible Assets

Amortizable intangible assets at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, consisted of the following:
 
   June 30, 2013    December 31, 2012  

(in thousands)   

Gross
Carrying

Value    
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying

Value    

Weighted
Average

Life
(Years)(1)   

Gross
Carrying

Value    
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying

Value    

Weighted
Average

Life
(Years)(1) 

Purchased customer accounts   $1,009,452    $ (471,638)  $537,814     14.9    $1,005,031    $ (439,623)  $565,408     14.9  
Non-compete agreements    25,382     (24,429)   953     7.2     25,320     (24,190)   1,130     7.2  

    
 

    
 

   
 

      
 

    
 

   
 

  

Total   $1,034,834    $ (496,067)  $538,767      $1,030,351    $ (463,813)  $566,538    
    

 

    

 

   

 

      

 

    

 

   

 

  

Amortization expense for amortizable intangible assets for the years ending December 31, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017, is estimated to be
$64,271,000, $63,327,000, $62,038,000, $57,457,000, and $54,745,000, respectively.
 
(1) Weighted average life calculated as of the date of acquisition.
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NOTE 7· Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, consisted of the following:
 

(in thousands)   2013   2012  
Unsecured senior notes   $450,000   $450,000  
Acquisition notes payable    33    93  
Revolving credit facility    —     —   

    
 

   
 

Total debt    450,033    450,093  
Less current portion    (33)   (93) 

    
 

   
 

Long-term debt   $450,000   $450,000  
    

 

   

 

In July 2004, the Company completed a private placement of $200.0 million of unsecured senior notes (the “Notes”). The $200.0 million was divided into
two series: (1) Series A, which closed on September 15, 2004, for $100.0 million due in 2011 and bore interest at 5.57% per year; and (2) Series B, which closed
on July 15, 2004, for $100.0 million due in 2014 and bearing interest at 6.08% per year. Brown & Brown has used the proceeds from the Notes for general
corporate purposes, including acquisitions and repayment of existing debt. On September 15, 2011, the $100.0 million of Series A Notes were redeemed on their
normal maturity date. As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there was an outstanding balance on the Notes of $100.0 million.

On December 22, 2006, the Company entered into a Master Shelf and Note Purchase Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) with a national insurance
company (the “Purchaser”). On September 30, 2009, the Company and the Purchaser amended the Master Agreement to extend the term of the agreement until
August 20, 2012. The Purchaser also purchased Notes issued by the Company in 2004. The Master Agreement provides for a $200.0 million private uncommitted
“shelf” facility for the issuance of unsecured senior notes over a three-year period, with interest rates that may be fixed or floating and with such maturity dates,
not to exceed ten years, as the parties may determine. The Master Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default similar to the Notes
issued in 2004. The initial issuance of notes under the Master Agreement occurred on December 22, 2006, through the issuance of $25.0 million in Series C
Senior Notes due December 22, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 5.66% per year. On February 1, 2008, $25.0 million in Series D Senior Notes due January 15,
2015, with a fixed interest rate of 5.37% per year, were issued. On September 15, 2011, and pursuant to a Confirmation of Acceptance, dated January 21, 2011
(the “Confirmation”), in connection with the Master Agreement, $100.0 million in Series E Senior Notes due September 15, 2018, with a fixed interest rate of
4.50% per year, were issued. The Series E Senior Notes were issued for the sole purpose of retiring the Series A Senior Notes. As of June 30, 2013, and
December 31, 2012, there was an outstanding debt balance issued under the provisions of the Master Agreement of $150.0 million. The Master Agreement
expired on September 30, 2012 and was not extended.

On October 12, 2012, the Company entered into a Master Note Facility Agreement (the “New Master Agreement”) with another national insurance
company (the “New Purchaser”). The New Purchaser also purchased Notes issued by the Company in 2004. The New Master Agreement provides for a $125.0
million private uncommitted “shelf” facility for the issuance of unsecured senior notes over a three-year period, with interest rates that may be fixed or floating
and with such maturity dates, not to exceed ten years, as the parties may determine. The New Master Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and
events of default similar to the Master Agreement.

On June 12, 2008, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement dated as of June 3, 2008 (the “Prior Loan
Agreement”), with a national banking institution, amending and restating the Revolving Loan Agreement dated September 29, 2003, as amended (the “Revolving
Agreement”), to, among other things, increase the lending commitment to $50.0 million (subject to potential increases up to $100.0 million) and to extend the
maturity date from December 20, 2011, to June 3, 2013. The Revolving Agreement initially provided for a revolving credit facility in the maximum principal
amount of $75.0 million. After a series of amendments that provided covenant exceptions for additional notes issued or to be issued under the Master Agreement
and relaxed or deleted certain other covenants, the maximum principal amount was reduced to $20.0 million. The Revolving Agreement was amended and
restated by the SunTrust Revolver (as defined in the below paragraph).

On January 9, 2012, the Company entered into: (1) an amended and restated revolving and term loan credit agreement (the “SunTrust Agreement”) with
SunTrust Bank (“SunTrust”) that provides for (a) a $100.0 million term loan (the “SunTrust Term Loan”) and (b) a $50.0 million revolving line of credit (the
“SunTrust Revolver”) and (2) a $50.0 million promissory note (the “JPM Note”) in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”), pursuant to a letter
agreement executed by JP Morgan (together with the JPM Note, (the “JPM Agreement”) that provided for a $50.0 million uncommitted line of credit bridge
facility (the “JPM Bridge Facility”). The SunTrust Term Loan, the SunTrust Revolver and the JPM Bridge Facility were each funded on January 9, 2012,
and provided the financing for the Arrowhead acquisition. The SunTrust Agreement amended and restated the Prior Loan Agreement.

The maturity date for the SunTrust Term Loan and the SunTrust Revolver is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest
will be due. Both the SunTrust Term Loan and the SunTrust Revolver may be increased by up to $50.0 million (bringing the total amount available to $150.0
million for the SunTrust Term Loan and $100.0 million for the SunTrust
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Revolver). The calculation of interest and fees for the SunTrust Agreement is generally based on the Company’s funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio. Interest is charged
at a rate equal to 1.00% to 1.40% above LIBOR or 1.00% below the Base Rate, each as more fully described in the SunTrust Agreement. Fees include an up-front
fee, an availability fee of 0.175% to 0.25%, and a letter of credit margin fee of 1.00% to 1.40%. The obligations under the SunTrust Term Loan and SunTrust
Revolver are unsecured and the SunTrust Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default that are customary for similar facilities for
similar borrowers and that are substantially similar to those contained in the Prior Loan Agreement. 

The maturity date for the JPM Bridge Facility was February 3, 2012, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest would have been due. On
January 26, 2012, the Company entered into a term loan agreement (the “JPM Agreement”) with JPMorgan that provided for a $100.0 million term loan (the
“JPM Term Loan”). The JPM Term Loan was fully funded on January 26, 2012, and provided the financing to fully repay (1) the JPM Bridge Facility and (2) the
SunTrust Revolver. As a result of the January 26, 2012 financing and repayments, the JPM Bridge Facility was terminated and the SunTrust Revolver’s amount
outstanding was reduced to zero. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were no borrowings against this SunTrust Revolver.

The maturity date for the JPM Term Loan is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest will be due. Interest is charged
at a rate equal to the Alternative Base Rate or 1.00% above the Adjusted LIBOR Rate, each as more fully described in the JPM Agreement. Fees include an up-
front fee. The obligations under the JPM Term Loan are unsecured and the JPM Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default that are
customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers.

The 30-day LIBOR and Adjusted LIBOR Rate as of June 30, 2013 were 0.19% and 0.25%, respectively.

The Notes, the Master Agreement, the SunTrust Agreement and the JPM Agreement all require the Company to maintain certain financial ratios and
comply with certain other covenants. The Company was in compliance with all such covenants as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Acquisition notes payable represent debt incurred to former owners of certain insurance operations acquired by Brown & Brown. These notes and future
contingent payments are payable in monthly, quarterly and annual installments through July 2013.

NOTE 8· Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information and Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities
 

   
For the six  months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2013    2012  
Cash paid during the period for:     

Interest   $ 7,660    $ 7,764  
Income taxes   $52,077    $45,261  

Brown & Brown’s significant non-cash investing and financing activities are summarized as follows:
 

   
For the six  months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2013    2012  
Other payable issued for purchased customer accounts   $ 257    $23,594  
Notes payable issued or assumed for purchased customer accounts   $ —      $ 59  
Estimated acquisition earn-out payables and related charges   $1,833    $12,919  
Notes received on the sale of fixed assets and customer accounts   $ 614    $ 1,273  

NOTE 9· Legal and Regulatory Proceedings

The Company is involved in numerous pending or threatened proceedings by or against Brown & Brown, Inc. or one or more of its subsidiaries that arise in
the ordinary course of business. The damages that may be claimed against the Company in these various proceedings are in some cases substantial, including in
many instances claims for punitive or extraordinary damages. Some of these claims and lawsuits have been resolved, others are in the process of being resolved
and others are still in the investigation or discovery phase. The Company will continue to respond appropriately to these claims and lawsuits and to vigorously
protect its interests.

Although the ultimate outcome of such matters cannot be ascertained and liabilities in indeterminate amounts may be imposed on Brown & Brown, Inc. or
its subsidiaries, on the basis of present information, availability of insurance and legal advice, it is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate
determination of such claims will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position. However, as (i) one or more of the
Company’s insurance companies could take the
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position that portions of these claims are not covered by the Company’s insurance, (ii) to the extent that payments are made to resolve claims and lawsuits,
applicable insurance policy limits are eroded, and (iii) the claims and lawsuits relating to these matters are continuing to develop, it is possible that future results
of operations or cash flows for any particular quarterly or annual period could be materially affected by unfavorable resolutions of these matters.

NOTE 10· Segment Information

Brown & Brown’s business is divided into four reportable segments: the Retail Division, which provides a broad range of insurance products and services
to commercial, public and quasi-public entities, and to professional and individual customers; the National Programs Division, which provides professional
liability and related package products for certain professionals delivered through nationwide networks of independent agents, and markets targeted products and
services designed for specific industries, trade groups, public and quasi-public entities, and market niches; the Wholesale Brokerage Division, which markets and
sells excess and surplus commercial and personal lines insurance, and reinsurance, primarily through independent agents and brokers; and the Services Division,
which provides insurance-related services, including third-party claims administration and comprehensive medical utilization management services in both the
workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as Medicare set-aside service, Social Security disability and Medicare benefits advocacy services and
catastrophe claims adjusting services.

Brown & Brown conducts all of its operations within the United States of America, except for one wholesale brokerage operation based in London,
England which commenced business in March 2008. This operation earned $2.8 million and $3.1 million of total revenues for the three months ended June 30,
2013 and 2012, respectively. This operation earned $5.9 million and $5.8 million of total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Additionally, this operation earned $9.7 million of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012. Long-lived assets held outside of the United States
during the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 were not material.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2012. Brown & Brown evaluates the performance of its segments based upon revenues and income before income taxes. Inter-segment
revenues are eliminated.

Summarized financial information concerning Brown & Brown’s reportable segments is shown in the following tables. The “Other” column includes any
income and expenses not allocated to reportable segments and corporate-related items, including the inter-company interest expense charge to the reporting
segment.
 
   For the three months ended June 30, 2013  

(in thousands)   Retail    
National

Programs    
Wholesale
Brokerage    Services    Other   Total  

Total revenues   $ 171,819    $ 68,354    $ 54,823    $ 30,403    $ 393   $ 325,792  
Investment income   $ 23    $ 5    $ 4    $ —     $ 207   $ 239  
Amortization   $ 8,789    $ 3,511    $ 2,887    $ 925    $ 9   $ 16,121  
Depreciation   $ 1,371    $ 1,326    $ 716    $ 401    $ 449   $ 4,263  
Interest expense   $ 5,649    $ 5,590    $ 723    $ 1,883    $ (9,848)  $ 3,997  
Income before income taxes   $ 44,482    $ 11,226    $ 15,760    $ 2,589    $ 12,164   $ 86,221  
Total assets   $2,501,084    $1,224,175    $925,901    $246,235    $(1,571,075)  $3,326,320  
Capital expenditures   $ 1,488    $ 1,420    $ 561    $ 379    $ 328   $ 4,176  

   For the three months ended June 30, 2012  

(in thousands)   Retail    
National

Programs    
Wholesale
Brokerage    Services    Other   Total  

Total revenues   $ 162,019    $ 52,966    $ 47,483    $ 27,660    $ 788   $ 290,916  
Investment income   $ 27    $ 11    $ 5    $ —     $ 144   $ 187  
Amortization   $ 8,652    $ 3,278    $ 2,786    $ 1,156    $ 9   $ 15,881  
Depreciation   $ 1,294    $ 1,136    $ 661    $ 304    $ 389   $ 3,784  
Interest expense   $ 6,704    $ 4,351    $ 895    $ 4,481    $ (12,431)  $ 4,000  
Income before income taxes   $ 33,886    $ 9,238    $ 11,195    $ 2,618    $ 14,208   $ 71,145  
Total assets   $2,229,198    $1,149,268    $795,134    $268,629    $(1,344,938)  $3,097,291  
Capital expenditures   $ 1,574    $ 3,434    $ 712    $ 444    $ 608   $ 6,772  
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   For the six months ended June 30, 2013  

(in thousands)   Retail    
National

Programs    
Wholesale
Brokerage    Services    Other   Total  

Total revenues   $ 346,387    $ 137,294    $103,520    $ 73,050    $ 553   $ 660,804  
Investment income   $ 46    $ 10    $ 9    $ 1    $ 359   $ 425  
Amortization   $ 17,600    $ 7,030    $ 5,784    $ 1,849    $ 19   $ 32,282  
Depreciation   $ 2,742    $ 2,574    $ 1,423    $ 798    $ 893   $ 8,430  
Interest expense   $ 11,849    $ 11,284    $ 1,478    $ 3,804    $ (20,434)  $ 7,981  
Income before income taxes   $ 90,693    $ 25,238    $ 26,122    $ 16,542    $ 27,117   $ 185,712  
Total assets   $2,501,084    $1,224,175    $925,901    $246,235    $(1,571,075)  $3,326,320  
Capital expenditures   $ 2,823    $ 2,312    $ 1,097    $ 498    $ 393   $ 7,123  

   For the six months ended June 30, 2012  

(in thousands)   Retail    
National

Programs    
Wholesale
Brokerage    Services    Other   Total  

Total revenues   $ 329,223    $ 117,573    $ 90,787    $ 53,490    $ 2,329   $ 593,402  
Investment income   $ 52    $ 11    $ 11    $ —     $ 248   $ 322  
Amortization   $ 17,179    $ 6,454    $ 5,573    $ 2,269    $ 19   $ 31,494  
Depreciation   $ 2,552    $ 2,278    $ 1,317    $ 529    $ 749   $ 7,425  
Interest expense   $ 13,638    $ 11,003    $ 2,121    $ 6,001    $ (24,676)  $ 8,087  
Income before income taxes   $ 76,086    $ 25,195    $ 20,072    $ 5,605    $ 26,977   $ 153,935  
Total assets   $2,229,198    $1,149,268    $795,134    $268,629    $(1,344,938)  $3,097,291  
Capital expenditures   $ 2,635    $ 5,850    $ 1,886    $ 805    $ 1,501   $ 12,677  
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NOTE 11· Subsequent Event

On July 1, 2013, Brown & Brown acquired Beecher Carlson Holdings, Inc. (“Beecher”), an insurance and risk management broker with operations that
include retail brokerage, program management and captive management, pursuant to a merger agreement, dated May 21, 2013, among the Company, Brown &
Brown Merger Co., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Beecher, and BC Sellers’ Representative LLC, solely in its capacity as the representative of
Beecher’s shareholders. The aggregate purchase price for Beecher was $454,475,000, including $364,644,000 of cash payments and the assumption of
$89,831,000 of liabilities. Beecher was acquired primarily to expand Brown & Brown’s Retail and National Programs businesses, and to attract and hire high-
quality individuals.

The Beecher acquisition will be accounted for as business combination as follows:
 

(in thousands)                     

Name   

2013
Date of

Acquisition   Cash Paid    

Recorded
Earn-out
Payable    

Net Assets
Acquired    

Maximum
Potential 
Earn-out
Payable  

Beecher    July 1    $364,644    $ —     $364,644    $ —   
      

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The following table summarizes the preliminary estimated fair values of Beecher’s aggregate assets and liabilities acquired:
 

(in thousands)   Beecher  
Cash   $ 40,361  
Other current assets    44,433  
Fixed assets    1,786  
Goodwill    264,972  
Purchased customer accounts    99,017  
Non-compete agreements    2,913  
Other assets    933  

    
 

Total assets acquired    454,475  
    

 

Other current liabilities    (72,949) 
Deferred income taxes, net    (14,288) 
Other liabilities    (2,594) 

    
 

Total liabilities assumed    (89,831) 
    

 

Net assets acquired   $364,644  
    

 

The weighted average useful lives for the above acquired amortizable intangible assets are as follows: purchased customer accounts are 15.0 years, and
non-compete agreements are 5.0 years.

If the Beecher acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2013, the Company’s estimated results of operations would be as shown in the following table.
These unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations that would have occurred had the Beecher acquisition actually
been made as of January 1, 2013.
 

(UNAUDITED)   

For the
three months

ended
June 30,

2013    

For the
six months

ended
June 30,

2013  
(in thousands, except per share data)         
Total revenues   $ 354,873    $718,966  
Income before income taxes   $ 90,152    $193,575  
Net income   $ 54,382    $ 116,887  
Net income per share:     

Basic   $ 0.38    $ 0.81  
Diluted   $ 0.37    $ 0.80  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:     
Basic    140,836     140,816  
Diluted    143,021     142,938  
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On July 1, 2013, in conjunction with the Beecher acquisition, the Company entered into: (1) a revolving loan agreement (the “Wells Fargo Agreement”)
with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”) that provides for a $50.0 million revolving line of credit (the “Wells Fargo Revolver”) and (2) a term loan
agreement (the “Bank of America Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of America”) that provides for a $30.0 million term loan (the “Bank of
America Term Loan”). The Wells Fargo Revolver was drawn down in the amount of $30.0 million and the Bank of America Term Loan was funded in the amount
of $30.0 million, each on July 1, 2013, and these facilities provided the financing for the acquisition.

The maturity date for the Wells Fargo Revolver is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest will be due. The Wells
Fargo Revolver may be increased by up to $50.0 million (bringing the total available to $100.0 million). The calculation of interest and fees for the Wells Fargo
Agreement is generally based on the Company’s funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio. Interest is charged at a rate equal to 1.00% to 1.40% above LIBOR or 1.00%
below the Base Rate, each as more fully described in the Wells Fargo Agreement. Fees include an up-front fee, an availability fee of 0.175% to 0.25%, and a letter
of credit margin fee of 1.00% to 1.40%. The obligations under the Wells Fargo Revolver are unsecured and the Wells Fargo Agreement includes various
covenants, limitations and events of default that are customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers.

The maturity date for the Bank of America Term Loan is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest will be due. The
calculation of interest for the Bank of America Agreement is generally based on the Company’s fixed charge coverage ratio. Interest is charged at a rate equal to
the Alternative Base Rate or 1.00% to 1.40% above the Adjusted LIBOR Rate, each as more fully described in the Bank of America Agreement. Fees include an
up-front fee. Initially, until the Lender receives the Company’s September 30, 2013 quarter end financial statements, the applicable margin for Adjusted LIBOR
Rate advances is 1.50%. The obligations under the Bank of America Term Loan are unsecured and the Bank of America Agreement includes various covenants,
limitations and events of default that are customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers.
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ITEM 2 — MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION UPDATES THE MD&A CONTAINED IN THE COMPANY’S ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE FISCAL
YEAR ENDED IN 2012, AND THE TWO DISCUSSIONS SHOULD BE READ TOGETHER.

GENERAL

We are a diversified insurance agency, insurance programs, wholesale brokerage and services organization headquartered in Daytona Beach and Tampa,
Florida. As an insurance intermediary, our principal sources of revenue are commissions paid by insurance companies and, to a lesser extent, fees paid directly by
customers. Commission revenues generally represent a percentage of the premium paid by an insured and are materially affected by fluctuations in both premium
rate levels charged by insurance companies and the insureds’ underlying “insurable exposure units,” which are units that insurance companies use to measure or
express insurance exposed to risk (such as property values, or sales and payroll levels) to determine what premium to charge the insured. Insurance companies
establish these premium rates based upon many factors, including reinsurance rates paid by such insurance companies, none of which we control.

The volume of business from new and existing customers, fluctuations in insurable exposure units and changes in general economic and competitive
conditions all affect our revenues. For example, level rates of inflation or a general decline in economic activity could limit increases in the values of insurable
exposure units. Conversely, the increasing costs of litigation settlements and awards have caused some customers to seek higher levels of insurance coverage.
Historically, our revenues have typically grown as a result of, among other things, a concentrated focus on net new business growth and acquisitions.

We attempt to foster a strong, decentralized sales culture with a goal of consistent, sustained growth over the long term. As of July 1, 2013, our senior
leadership group included eight executive officers with regional responsibility for oversight of designated operations within the Company, and six regional vice
presidents in our Retail Division and one regional vice president in our Wholesale Brokerage Division, each of whom reports directly to one of our executive
officers. Among the regional vice presidents in our Retail Division, the Company announced that P. Barrett Brown and Steve Denton had been named regional
vice presidents as of July 1, 2013.

We increased revenues every year from 1993 to 2012, with the exception of 2009, when our revenues dropped 1.0%. Our annual revenues grew from $95.6
million in 1993 to $1.2 billion in 2012, reflecting a compound annual growth rate of 14.2%. In the same 19 year period, we increased annual net income from
$8.0 million to $184.0 million in 2012, a compound annual growth rate of 17.9%.

The years 2007 through 2011 posed significant challenges for us and for our industry in the form of a prevailing decline in insurance premium rates,
commonly referred to as a “soft market” and increased significant governmental involvement in the Florida insurance marketplace which resulted in a substantial
loss of revenues for us. Additionally, beginning in the second half of 2008 and continuing throughout 2011, there was a general decline in insurable exposure
units as the consequence of the general weakening of the economy in the United States. As a result, from the first quarter of 2007 through the fourth quarter of
2011 we experienced negative internal revenue growth each quarter. Part of the decline in 2007 was the result of the increased governmental involvement in the
Florida insurance marketplace, as described below in “The Florida Insurance Overview.” In 2010 and 2011, continued declining exposure units had a greater
negative impact on our commissions and fees revenue than declining insurance premium rates.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2012, many insurance premium rates began to slightly increase. Additionally, in the second quarter of 2012, the general
declines in insurable exposure units started to flatten and these exposures units subsequently began to gradually increase during the year. As a result, we recorded
positive internal revenue growth for each quarter of 2012 for each of our four divisions with two exceptions; the first quarter for the Retail Division and the third
quarter for the National Programs Division, in which declines of 0.7% and 3.3%, respectively, were experienced. For 2012, our consolidated internal revenue
growth rate was 2.6%.

The growth trend has continued into 2013. For the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2013, our consolidated internal revenue growth rates were
7.4% and 8.8%, respectively. Additionally, each of our four divisions recorded positive internal revenue growth for each quarter in 2013. In the event that the
gradual increases in insurance premium rates and insurable exposure units that occurred in 2012 and in the first half of 2013 continue for the remainder of 2013,
we expect to see continued positive quarterly internal revenue growth rates for the remaining six months of 2013, excluding the impact relating to our Colonial
Claims operation. In the fourth quarter of 2012, Colonial Claims earned claims fees of $7.4 million as a direct result of the significant claims activity from
Superstorm Sandy. Absent another major flooding event, we estimate Colonial Claims revenues for each of the 2013 third and fourth quarters to be between $1.5
million and $2.0 million.

We also earn “profit-sharing contingent commissions,” which are profit-sharing commissions based primarily on underwriting results, but which may also
reflect considerations for volume, growth and/or retention. These commissions are primarily received in the first and second quarters of each year, based on the
aforementioned considerations for the prior year(s). Over the last three years, profit-sharing contingent commissions have averaged approximately 4.8% of the
previous year’s total commissions and fees revenue. Profit-sharing contingent commissions are typically included in our total commissions and fees in the
Consolidated Statements of Income in the year received. The term “core commissions and fees” excludes profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs (as
defined below),
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and therefore represents the revenues earned directly from specific insurance policies sold, and specific fee-based services rendered. In contrast, the term “core
organic commissions and fees” is our core commissions and fees less (i) the core commissions and fees earned for the first twelve months by newly-acquired
operations and (ii) divested business (core commissions and fees generated from offices, books of business or niches sold or terminated during the comparable
period). Core organic commissions and fees attempts to express the current year’s core commissions and fees on a comparable basis with the prior year’s core
commissions and fees. The resulting net change reflects the aggregate changes from (i) net new and lost accounts, (ii) net changes in our clients’ exposure units,
and (iii) net changes in insurance premium rates. The net changes in each of these three components can be determined for each of our customers. However,
because our agency management accounting systems do not aggregate such data, it is not reportable. Core organic commissions and fees can reflect either
“positive” growth with a net increase in revenues, or “negative” growth with a net decrease in revenues.

In recent years, five national insurance companies have replaced the loss-ratio based profit-sharing contingent commission calculation with a guaranteed
fixed-base methodology, referred to as “Guaranteed Supplemental Commissions” (“GSCs”). Since GSCs are not subject to the uncertainty of loss ratios, they are
accrued throughout the year based on actual premiums written. As of December 31, 2012, we accrued and earned $9.1 million from GSCs during 2012, most of
which was collected in the first quarter of 2013. For the three-month periods ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, we earned $1.7 million and $2.3 million,
respectively, from GSCs. For the six-month periods ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, we earned $3.9 million and $4.9 million, respectively, from GSCs.

Fee revenues relate to fees negotiated in lieu of commissions, which are recognized as services are rendered. Fee revenues are generated primarily by:
(1) our Services Division, which provides insurance-related services, including third-party claims administration and comprehensive medical utilization
management services in both the workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as Medicare set-aside services, Social Security disability and
Medicare benefits advocacy services, and catastrophe claims adjusting services, and (2) our National Programs and Wholesale Brokerage Divisions, which earn
fees primarily for the issuance of insurance policies on behalf of insurance companies. These services are provided over a period of time, typically one year. Fee
revenues, as a percentage of our total commissions and fees as of the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 represented 20.7% and 19.1%, respectively. Fee
revenues, as a percentage of our total commissions and fees as of the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 represented 26.4% and 18.4%, respectively. Fee
revenues, as a percentage of our total commissions and fees, represented 21.7% in 2012, 16.4% in 2011 and 14.6% in 2010.

Historically, investment income has consisted primarily of interest earnings on premiums and advance premiums collected and held in a fiduciary capacity
before being remitted to insurance companies. Our policy is to invest available funds in high-quality, short-term fixed income investment securities. As a result of
the bank liquidity and solvency issues in the United States in the last quarter of 2008, we moved substantial amounts of our cash into non-interest bearing
checking accounts so that they would be fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or into money-market investment funds (a portion
of which is FDIC insured) of SunTrust and Wells Fargo, two large national banks. Effective January 1, 2013, the FDIC ceased providing insurance guarantees on
non-interest bearing checking accounts. Investment income also includes gains and losses realized from the sale of investments.

Florida Insurance Overview

Many states have established “Residual Markets,” which are governmental or quasi-governmental insurance facilities that are intended to provide coverage
to individuals and/or businesses that cannot buy insurance in the private marketplace, i.e., “insurers of last resort.” These facilities can be designed to cover any
type of risk or exposure; however, the exposures most commonly subject to such facilities are automobile or high-risk property exposures. Residual Markets can
also be referred to as FAIR Plans, Windstorm Pools, Joint Underwriting Associations, or may even be given names styled after the private sector like “Citizens
Property Insurance Corporation” (“Citizens”) in Florida.

In August 2002, the Florida Legislature created Citizens, to be the “insurer of last resort” in Florida. Initially, Citizens charged insurance rates that were
higher than those generally prevailing in the private insurance marketplace. In each of 2004 and 2005, four major hurricanes made landfall in Florida. As a result
of the ensuing significant insurance property losses, Florida property insurance rates increased in 2006. To counter the higher property insurance rates, the State
of Florida instructed Citizens to significantly reduce its property insurance rates beginning in January 2007. By state law, Citizens guaranteed these rates through
January 1, 2010. As a result, Citizens became one of the most, if not the most, competitive risk-bearers for a large percentage of Florida’s commercial habitational
coastal property exposures, such as condominiums, apartments, and certain assisted living facilities. Additionally, Citizens became the only insurance market for
certain homeowner policies throughout Florida. Today, Citizens is one of the largest underwriters of coastal property exposures in Florida.

In 2007, Citizens became the principal direct competitor of the insurance companies that underwrite the condominium program administered by one of our
indirect subsidiaries, Florida Intracoastal Underwriters, Limited Company (“FIU”), and the excess and surplus lines insurers represented by wholesale brokers
such as Hull & Company, Inc., another of our subsidiaries. Consequently, these operations lost significant amounts of revenue to Citizens. From 2008 through
2012, Citizens’ impact was not as dramatic as it
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had been in 2007; FIU’s core commissions and fees decreased 19.7% during this four-year period. Citizens continued to be competitive against the excess and
surplus lines insurers, and therefore Citizens has negatively affected the revenues of our Florida-based wholesale brokerage operations, such as Hull & Company,
Inc. since 2007, although the impact has been decreasing each year.

Citizens’ impact on our Florida retail offices was less severe than on our National Programs and Wholesale Brokerage Division operations because our
retail offices have the ability to place business with Citizens, although at slightly lower commission rates and with greater difficulty than with other insurance
companies.

Effective January 1, 2010, Citizens raised its insurance rates, on average, 10% for properties with values of less than $10 million, and more than 10% for
properties with values in excess of $10 million. Citizens raised its insurance rates again in 2011, 2012, and 2013. Our commission revenues from Citizens for
2012, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $6.4 million, $7.8 million, and $8.3 million, respectively. If, as expected, Citizens continues to attempt to reduce its
insured exposures, the financial impact of Citizens on our business should continue to be reduced in the second half of 2013.

Company Overview — Second Quarter of 2013

We continued the trend that began in the first quarter of 2012, by achieving a quarterly positive growth rate of our core organic commissions and fees in the
second quarter of 2013. This positive growth rate of 7.4% for the second quarter of 2013 accounted for $21.1 million of new core organic commissions and fees,
which was generally broad-based across all four Divisions. Of the $21.1 million of new core organic commissions and fees, $7.1 million related to a new
automobile aftermarket program in our National Programs Division, and $2.4 million was generated by our Colonial Claims operation in our Services Division as
a result of the slowing claims activity related to the 2012 Superstorm Sandy.

Additionally, our profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the three months ended June 30, 2013 increased by $6.3 million over the second
quarter of 2012.

Income before income taxes in the three-month period ended June 30, 2013 increased over the same period in 2012 by 21.2%, or $15.1 million, to $86.2
million, primarily due to net new business.

Acquisitions

Approximately 37,500 independent insurance agencies are estimated to be operating currently in the United States. Part of our continuing business strategy
is to attract high-quality insurance intermediaries to join our operations. From 1993 through the second quarter of 2013, we acquired 442 insurance intermediary
operations, excluding acquired books of business (customer accounts).

A summary of our acquisitions and related adjustments to the purchase price of prior acquisitions for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 are as
follows (in millions, except for number of acquisitions):
 

   Number of Acquisitions    
Estimated

Annual    Cash    Note    Other   Liabilities   
Recorded
Earn-Out   

Aggregate
Purchase  

   Asset    Stock    Revenues    Paid    Payable   Payable  Assumed    Payable    Price  
2013    2     —     $ 6.0    $ 14.4    $ —     $ (0.3)  $ 0.9    $ 1.8    $ 16.8  
2012    7     1    $ 123.1    $428.6    $ 0.1    $ 23.6   $ 133.9    $ 12.9    $ 599.1  

Critical Accounting Policies

Our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. We continually evaluate our estimates, which are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates form the basis for our judgments about the carrying values of our assets and liabilities, which
values are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that of our significant accounting and reporting policies, the more critical policies include our accounting for revenue recognition, business
acquisitions and purchase price allocations, intangible asset impairments and reserves for litigation. In particular, the accounting for these areas requires
significant judgments to be made by management. Different assumptions in the application of these policies could result in material changes in our consolidated
financial position or consolidated results of operations. Refer to Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2012 on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for details regarding our critical and significant accounting
policies.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2013 AND 2012

The following discussion and analysis regarding results of operations and liquidity and capital resources should be considered in conjunction with the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes.

Financial information relating to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, is as follows
(in thousands, except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2013   2012   
%

Change  2013   2012   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Core commissions and fees   $314,571   $286,641    9.7%  $ 621,103   $ 556,361    11.6% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    7,879    1,043    655.4%   32,918    25,264    30.3% 
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    1,700    2,258    (24.7)%   3,922    4,850    (19.1)% 
Investment income    239    187    27.8%   425    322    32.0% 
Other income, net    1,403    787    78.3%   2,436    6,605    (63.1)% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    325,792    290,916    12.0%   660,804    593,402    11.4% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    163,514    150,752    8.5%   323,012    300,348    7.5% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    3,623    3,738    (3.1)%   7,473    7,485    (0.2)% 
Other operating expenses    47,397    42,220    12.3%   93,736    85,620    9.5% 
Amortization    16,121    15,881    1.5%   32,282    31,494    2.5% 
Depreciation    4,263    3,784    12.7%   8,430    7,425    13.5% 
Interest    3,997    4,000    (0.1)%   7,981    8,087    (1.3)% 
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payables    656    (604)   NMF(1)   2,178    (992)   NMF(1) 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    239,571    219,771    9.0%   475,092    439,467    8.1% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Income before income taxes    86,221    71,145    21.2%   185,712    153,935    20.6% 

Income taxes    34,214    28,674    19.3%   73,574    62,031    18.6% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

NET INCOME   $ 52,007   $ 42,471    22.5%  $ 112,138   $ 91,904    22.0% 
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

Net internal growth rate – core organic commissions and fees    7.4%   3.2%    8.8%   2.1%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    50.2%   51.8%    48.9%   50.6%  
Other operating expenses ratio    14.5%   14.5%    14.2%   14.4%  

Capital expenditures   $ 4,176   $ 6,772    $ 7,123   $ 12,677   
Total assets at June 30, 2013 and 2012      $3,326,320   $3,097,291   
 
(1) NMF = Not a meaningful figure

Commissions and Fees

Commissions and fees, including profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs, for the second quarter of 2013 increased $34.2 million, or
11.8%, over the same period in 2012. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the second quarter of 2013 increased $6.3 million, or 190.2%, over the
second quarter of 2012, to $9.6 million, due primarily to $5.6 million and $0.8 million increases in profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs in our
National Programs and Wholesale Brokerage Divisions, respectively. Core organic commissions and fees are our core commissions and fees, less (i) the core
commissions and fees
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earned for the first twelve months by newly acquired operations and (ii) divested business (core commissions and fees generated from sold or terminated offices,
books of business or niches). Core commissions and fees revenue for the second quarter of 2013 increased $27.9 million on a net basis, of which approximately
$8.5 million represented core commissions and fees from agencies acquired since the third quarter of 2012. After divested business of $1.7 million, the remaining
net increase of $21.1 million represented net new business, which reflects a 7.4% internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees.

Commissions and fees, including profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs, for the six months ended June 30, 2013 increased $71.5 million,
or 12.2%, over the same period in 2012. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the six months ended June 30, 2013 increased $6.7 million or
22.3%, from the first half of 2012, to $36.8 million, due primarily to $3.3 million, $1.8 million, and $1.4 million increase in profit-sharing contingent
commissions and GSCs in our Retail, National Program and Wholesales Brokerage Divisions, respectively. Core commissions and fees revenue for the six
months ended June 30, 2013 increased $64.7 million on a net basis, of which approximately $20.0 million represented core commissions and fees from agencies
acquired since the third quarter of 2012. After divested business of $3.7 million, the remaining net increase of $48.4 million represented net new business, which
reflects a 8.8% internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees.

Investment Income

Investment income for the three months ended June 30, 2013, increased $0.1 million, or 27.8%, from the same period in 2012. Investment income
for the six months ended June 30, 2013, increased $0.1 million, or 32.0%, from the same period in 2012. These increases are the result of larger average invested
balances in 2013, primarily as a result of lower acquisition activity.

Other Income, net

Other income for the three months ended June 30, 2013, reflected income of $1.4 million, compared with $0.8 million in the same period in 2012.
Other income for the six months ended June 30, 2013, reflected income of $2.4 million, compared with $6.6 million in the same period in 2012. Other income
consists primarily of gains and losses from the sale and disposition of assets. Although we are not in the business of selling customer accounts, we periodically
will sell an office or a book of business (one or more customer accounts) that we believe does not produce reasonable margins or demonstrate a potential for
growth, or when doing so is otherwise in the Company’s interest. The $0.6 million increase for the three months ended June 30, 2013 over the comparable period
of 2012 is primarily due to a sale of a book of business. Of the $4.2 million decrease for the six months ended June 30, 2013 from the comparable period of 2012,
$1.3 million represented gains on the sale of books of business in 2012, and $3.1 million related to a legal settlement that we received on the enforcement of non-
piracy covenants in our employment agreements.

Employee Compensation and Benefits

Employee compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of total revenues decreased to 50.2% for the three months ended June 30, 2013, from
51.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2012. Employee compensation and benefits for the second quarter of 2013 increased, on a net basis, approximately
8.5%, or $12.8 million, over the same period in 2012. However, that net increase included $1.7 million of new compensation costs related to new acquisitions that
were stand-alone offices. Therefore, employee compensation and benefits expense attributable to those offices that existed in the same three-month period ended
June 30, 2013 and 2012 (including the new acquisitions that combined with, or “folded into” those offices) increased by $11.0 million. The employee
compensation and benefits expense increases in these offices were primarily related to an increase in staff salaries ($5.6 million), an increase in profit center and
other incentive bonuses ($2.1 million), an increase in producer salaries due to our hiring of new producer trainees ($1.0 million), an increase in commissioned
producer compensation due to increased commissions and fees revenues ($1.6 million), and an increase in related payroll taxes ($1.1 million).

Employee compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of total revenues decreased to 48.9% for the six months ended June 30, 2013, from the
50.6% for the six months ended June 30, 2012. Employee compensation and benefits for the six months ended June 30, 2013 increased, on a net basis,
approximately 7.5%, or $22.7 million, over the same period in 2012. However, that net increase included $3.9 million of new compensation costs related to new
acquisitions that were stand-alone offices. Therefore, employee compensation and benefits expense attributable to those offices that existed in the same six-month
period ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 (including the new acquisitions that combined with, or “folded into” those offices) increased by $18.8 million. The
employee compensation and benefits expense increases in these offices were primarily related to an increase in staff salaries ($8.9 million), an increase in profit
center and other incentive bonuses ($2.9 million), an increase in producer salaries due to our hiring of new producer trainees ($1.8 million), an increase in
commissioned producer compensation due to increased commissions and fees revenues ($3.0 million), and an increase in related payroll taxes ($1.9 million).
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Non-Cash Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has an employee stock purchase plan, and grants stock options and non-vested stock awards under other equity-based plans to its
employees. Compensation expense for all share-based awards is recognized in the financial statements based upon the grant-date fair value of those awards. Non-
cash stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2013 decreased $0.1 million, or 3.1%, from the same period in 2012. Non-cash
stock-based compensation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2013 decreased less than $0.1 million, or 0.2%, from the same period in 2012. These
decreases were the result of certain stock grants vesting in December 2012 and January 2013.

On July 1, 2013, the Company issued additional non-vested stock awards primarily to a broad-based group of producers, profit center leaders, and
senior leaders which will add approximately $14.3 million of additional annualized costs.

Other Operating Expenses

As a percentage of total revenues, other operating expenses represented 14.5% in both the second quarter of 2013 and 2012. Other operating
expenses for the second quarter of 2013 increased $5.2 million, or 12.3%, over the same period of 2012, of which $0.5 million related to acquisitions that joined
us as stand-alone offices since July 2012. Therefore, other operating expenses from those offices that existed in both the three-month periods ended June 30, 2013
and 2012 (including the new acquisitions that “folded into” those offices) increased by $4.6 million. The other operating expense increases in these offices were
primarily related to an increase in legal and errors and omissions reserve ($1.9 million), an increase in data processing and software costs ($1.0 million), an
increase in employee meetings ($0.7 million), and an increase in inspection and processing fee expense ($1.2 million).

Other operating expenses represented 14.2% of total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2013, a decrease from the 14.4% ratio for the six
months ended June 30, 2012. Other operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2013 increased $8.1 million, or 9.5%, over the same period of 2012, of
which $1.1 million related to acquisitions that joined us as stand-alone offices since the third quarter of 2012. Therefore, other operating expenses from those
offices that existed in both the six-month periods ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 (including the new acquisitions that “folded into” those offices) increased by $7.0
million. The other operating expense increases in these offices were primarily related to an increase in inspection and processing fee expense ($2.5 million), an
increase in data processing and software costs ($1.9 million), and an increase in employee meetings ($0.9 million).

Amortization

Amortization expense for the second quarter of 2013 increased $0.3 million, or 1.5%, over the second quarter of 2012. Amortization expense for the
six months ended June 30, 2013, increased $0.8 million, or 2.5%, over the first six months of 2012. These increases are primarily due to the amortization of
additional intangible assets as the result of recent acquisitions.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense for the second quarter of 2013 increased $0.5 million, or 12.7%, over the second quarter of 2012. Depreciation expense for the
six months ended June 30, 2013, increased $1.0 million, or 13.5%, over the six months ended June 30, 2012. These increases are due primarily to the addition of
fixed assets as a result of recent acquisitions.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the second quarter of 2013 decreased less than $0.1 million, or 0.1%, from the second quarter of 2012. Interest expense for the
six months ended June 30, 2013 decreased $0.1 million, or 1.3%, from the same period in 2012. These decreases are due to slightly lower interest rates in 2013.

Change in Estimated Acquisition Earn-out Payables

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805 — Business Combinations is the authoritative guidance requiring an acquirer to recognize
100% of the fair values of acquired assets, including goodwill, and assumed liabilities (with only limited exceptions) upon initially obtaining control of an
acquired entity. Additionally, the fair value of contingent consideration arrangements (such as earn-out purchase arrangements) at the acquisition date must be
included in the purchase price consideration. As a result, the recorded purchase prices for all acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009 include an
estimation of the fair value of liabilities associated with any potential earn-out provisions. Subsequent changes in these earn-out obligations are required to be
recorded in the consolidated statement of income when incurred. Estimations of potential earn-out obligations are typically based upon future earnings of the
acquired entities, usually for periods ranging from one to three years.

The net charge or credit to the Consolidated Statement of Income for the period is the combination of the net change in the estimated acquisition
earn-out payables balance, and the interest expense imputed on the outstanding balance of the estimated acquisition earn-out payables.
 

24



Table of Contents

As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, the fair values of the estimated acquisition earn-out payables were re-evaluated and measured at fair value on a
recurring basis using unobservable inputs (Level 3). The resulting net changes, as well as the interest expense accretion on the estimated acquisition earn-out
payables, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, were as follows:

   
For the three  months

ended June 30,   
For the six  months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2013    2012   2013    2012  
Change in fair value on estimated acquisition earn-out payables   $ 159    $ (1,236)  $1,156    $(2,206) 
Interest expense accretion    497     632    1,022     1,214  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Net change in earnings from estimated acquisition earn-out payables   $ 656    $ (604)  $2,178    $ (992) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

For the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the fair value of estimated earn-out payables was re-evaluated and increased by $0.2 million and
decreased by $1.2 million, respectively, which resulted in a charge and a credit to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income. For the six months ended
June 30, 2013 and 2012, the fair value of estimated earn-out payables was re-evaluated and increased by $1.2 million and decreased by $2.2 million, respectively,
which resulted in a charge and a credit to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income. An acquisition is considered to be performing well if its operating
profit exceeds the level needed to reach the minimum purchase price. However, a reduction in the estimated acquisition earn-out payable can occur even though
the acquisition is performing well, if it is not performing at the level contemplated by our original estimate.

As of June 30, 2013, the estimated acquisition earn-out payables equaled $48,918,000, of which $14,455,000 was recorded as accounts payable and
$34,463,000 was recorded as other non-current liabilities. Of the $52,987,000 in estimated acquisition earn-out payables as of December 31, 2012, $10,164,000
was recorded as accounts payable and $42,823,000 was recorded as other non-current liabilities.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate on income from operations for the three months ended June 30, 21013 and 2012, was 39.7% and 40.3%, respectively. The effective
tax rate on income from operations for the six months ended June 30, 21013 and 2012, was 39.6% and 40.3%, respectively. The lower effective annual tax rates
were primarily the result of lower average effective state income tax rates.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — SEGMENT INFORMATION

As discussed in Note 10 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, we operate four reportable segments or divisions: the Retail,
National Programs, Wholesale Brokerage, and Services Divisions. On a divisional basis, increases in amortization, depreciation and interest expenses result from
completed acquisitions within a given division in a particular year. Likewise, other income in each division primarily reflects net gains on sales of customer
accounts and fixed assets. As such, in evaluating the operational efficiency of a division, management places emphasis on the net internal growth rate of core
organic commissions and fees revenue, the gradual improvement of the ratio of total employee compensation and benefits to total revenues, and the gradual
improvement of the ratio of other operating expenses to total revenues.

The term “core commissions and fees” excludes profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs, and therefore represents the revenues earned directly
from specific insurance policies sold, and specific fee-based services rendered. In contrast, the term “core organic commissions and fees” is our core commissions
and fees less (i) the core commissions and fees earned for the first twelve months by newly acquired operations and (ii) divested business (core commissions and
fees generated from offices, books of business or niches sold or terminated during the comparable period). Core organic commissions and fees attempts to express
the current year’s core commissions and fees on a comparable basis with the prior year’s core commissions and fees. The resulting net change reflects the
aggregate changes attributable to (i) net new and lost accounts, (ii) net changes in our clients’ exposure units, and (iii) net changes in insurance premium rates.
The net changes in each of these three components can be determined for each of our customers. However, because our agency management accounting systems
do not aggregate such data, it is not reportable. Core organic commissions and fees reflect either “positive” growth with a net increase in revenues, or “negative”
growth with a net decrease in revenues.
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The internal growth rates for our core organic commissions and fees for the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, by Division, are as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):
 

2013   
For the three months

ended June 30,    Total  Net
Change  

  Total  Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition 
Revenues  

  
Internal

Net 
Growth $  

  
Internal

Net 
Growth %    2013    2012           

Retail   $168,582    $158,035    $10,547     6.7%  $ 6,922    $ 3,625     2.3% 
National Programs    62,860     53,135     9,725     18.3%   —      9,725     18.3% 
Wholesale Brokerage    52,858     46,286     6,572     14.2%   1,592     4,980     10.8% 
Services    30,271     27,521     2,750     10.0%   —      2,750     10.0% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

  

Total core commissions and fees   $314,571    $284,977    $29,594     10.4%  $ 8,514    $21,080     7.4% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

     

 

    

 

  

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the three months ended June 30, 2013, and 2012, is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,  
   2013    2012  
Total core commissions and fees   $314,571    $284,977  
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    7,879     1,043  
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    1,700     2,258  
Divested business    —      1,664  

    
 

    
 

Total commission and fees   $324,150    $289,942  
    

 

    

 

 
(1) The Retail Division includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 10 of the Notes to the Condensed

Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.

The internal growth rates for our core organic commissions and fees for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, by Division, are as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):
 

2012   
For the three months

ended June 30,    Total  Net
Change  

  Total  Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition 
Revenues  

  
Internal

Net 
Growth $ 

  
Internal

Net 
Growth %    2012    2011           

Retail   $159,684    $147,826    $11,858     8.0%  $ 11,431    $ 427     0.3% 
National Programs    53,135     31,424     21,711     69.1%   19,464     2,247     7.2% 
Wholesale Brokerage    46,301     42,493     3,808     9.0%   443     3,365     7.9% 
Services    27,521     16,120     11,401     70.7%   9,772     1,629     10.1% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

  

Total core commissions and fees   $286,641    $237,863    $48,778     20.5%  $ 41,110    $ 7,668     3.2% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

     

 

    

 

  

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the three months ended June 30, 2012, and 2011, is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 31,  
   2012    2011  
Total core commissions and fees   $286,641    $237,863  
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    1,043     2,275  
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    2,258     2,856  
Divested business    —      2,989  

    
 

    
 

Total commission and fees   $289,942    $245,983  
    

 

    

 

 
(1) The Retail Division includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 10 of the Notes to the Condensed

Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.
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The internal growth rates for our core organic commissions and fees for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, by Division, are as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):
 

2013   
For the six months

ended June 30,    Total  Net
Change  

  Total  Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition 
Revenues  

  
Internal

Net 
Growth $  

  
Internal

Net 
Growth %    2013    2012           

Retail   $327,532    $308,006    $19,526     6.3%  $ 14,752    $ 4,774     1.5% 
National Programs    124,566     106,765     17,801     16.7%   1,483     16,318     15.3% 
Wholesale Brokerage    96,129     84,652     11,477     13.6%   3,139     8,338     9.8% 
Services    72,876     53,283     19,593     36.8%   657     18,936     35.5% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

  

Total core commissions and fees   $621,103    $552,706    $68,397     12.4%  $ 20,031    $48,366     8.8% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

     

 

    

 

  

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the six months ended June 30, 2013, and 2012, is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
   2013    2012  
Total core commissions and fees   $621,103    $552,706  
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    32,918     25,264  
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    3,922     4,850  
Divested business    —      3,655  

    
 

    
 

Total commission and fees   $657,943    $586,475  
    

 

    

 

 
(1) The Retail Division includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 10 of the Notes to the Condensed

Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.

The internal growth rates for our core organic commissions and fees for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, by Division, are as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):
 

2012   
For the six months

ended June 30,    Total  Net
Change  

  Total  Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition 
Revenues  

  
Internal

Net 
Growth $ 

 
Internal

Net 
Growth %    2012    2011          

Retail   $ 311,630    $288,191    $23,439     8.1%  $ 23,975    $ (536)   (0.2)% 
National Programs    106,765     65,519     41,246     63.0%   38,788     2,458    3.8% 
Wholesale Brokerage    84,683     78,364     6,319     8.1%   992     5,327    6.8% 
Services    53,283     31,943     21,340     66.8%   18,832     2,508    7.9% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

 

Total core commissions and fees   $556,361    $464,017    $92,344     19.9%  $ 82,587    $ 9,757    2.1% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

     

 

    

 

 

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the six months ended June 30, 2012, and 2011, is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
   2012    2011  
Total core commissions and fees   $556,361    $464,017  
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    25,264     31,155  
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    4,850     6,160  
Divested business    —      6,103  

    
 

    
 

Total commission and fees   $586,475    $507,435  
    

 

    

 

 
(1) The Retail Division includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 10 of the Notes to the Condensed

Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.
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Retail Division

The Retail Division provides a broad range of insurance products and services to commercial, public and quasi-public, professional and individual insured
customers. Approximately 95.7% of the Retail Division’s commissions and fees revenue are commission-based. Because most of our other operating expenses do
not change as premiums fluctuate, we believe that most of any fluctuation in the commissions, net of related compensation, which we receive will be reflected in
our income before income taxes.

Financial information relating to Brown & Brown’s Retail Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, and 2012 is as follows (in thousands,
except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2013   2012   
%

Change   2013   2012   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Core commissions and fees   $168,589   $159,851    5.5%  $ 327,685   $ 312,443    4.9% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    1,003    1,009    (0.6)%   14,304    10,543    35.7% 
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    1,513    1,648    (8.2)%   3,232    3,661    (11.7)% 
Investment income    23    27    (14.8)%   46    52    (11.5)% 
Other (loss) income, net    691    (516)   (233.9)%   1,120    2,524    (55.6)% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    171,819    162,019    6.0%   346,387    329,223    5.2% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    84,484    82,087    2.9%   168,926    164,748    2.5% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    1,533    1,407    9.0%   3,076    2,711    13.5% 
Other operating expenses    26,254    25,391    3.4%   52,096    50,385    3.4% 
Amortization    8,789    8,652    1.6%   17,600    17,179    2.5% 
Depreciation    1,371    1,294    6.0%   2,742    2,552    7.4% 
Interest    5,649    6,704    (15.7)%   11,849    13,638    (13.1)% 
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payables    (743)   2,598    NMF(1)   (595)   1,924    NMF(1) 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    127,337    128,133    (0.6)%   255,694    253,137    1.0% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Income before income taxes   $ 44,482   $ 33,886    31.3%  $ 90,693   $ 76,086    19.2% 
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

Net internal growth rate – core organic commissions and fees    2.3%   0.3%    1.5%   (0.2)%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    49.2%   50.7%    48.8%   50.0%  
Other operating expenses ratio    15.3%   15.7%    15.0%   15.3%  

Capital expenditures   $ 1,488   $ 1,574    $ 2,823   $ 2,635   
Total assets at June 30, 2013 and 2012      $2,501,084   $2,229,198   
 
(1) NMF = Not a meaningful figure

The Retail Division’s total revenues during the three months ended June 30, 2013, increased 6.0%, or $9.8 million, over the same period in 2012, to $171.8
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the second quarter of 2013 decreased $0.1 million, or 5.3%, from the second quarter of 2012, to
$2.5 million. The $8.7 million net increase in core commissions and fees revenue resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $6.9
million related to the core commissions and fees revenue from acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2012; (ii) a decrease of $1.7
million related to commissions and fees revenue recorded in the first quarter of 2012 from business divested during 2012; and (iii) the remaining net increase of
$3.6 million primarily related to net new business. The Retail Division’s internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees revenue was 2.3% for the
second quarter of 2013, and was driven by slightly increasing insurable exposure units in most areas of the United States, and slight increases in general insurance
premium rates.

Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2013, increased 31.3%, or $10.6 million, over the same period in 2012, to $44.5 million.
This increase was primarily due to net new business, an increase in other income primarily due to gains on the sale of books of businesses in 2013, and continued
improved efficiencies relating to compensation and employee benefits and certain other operating expenses. These increases were also enhanced by the net
decreases in the inter-company interest expense allocation of $1.1 million and changes in estimated acquisition earn-out payables of $3.3 million. The continued
improved efficiencies
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relating to compensation and employee benefits, and certain other operating expenses resulted mainly from such costs increasing at a lower rate than our growth
in net new business. However, a portion of the improved ratio of employee compensation and benefits to total revenues was the result of the $1.5 million of bonus
compensation related to a special one-time bonus for the three months ended June 30, 2012 which was not repeated in 2013.

The Retail Division’s total revenues during the six months ended June 30, 2013, increased 5.2%, or $17.2 million, over the same period in 2012, to $346.4
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the first half of 2013 increased $3.3 million, or 23.5%, over the same period of 2012, to $17.5
million. The $15.2 million net increase in core commissions and fees revenue resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $14.8 million
related to the core commissions and fees revenue from acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2012; (ii) a decrease of $3.6 million
related to commissions and fees revenue recorded in the first half of 2012 from business divested during 2013; and (iii) the remaining net increase of $4.8 million
primarily related to net new business. The Retail Division’s internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees revenue was 1.5% for the first six months
of 2013, and was driven by slightly increasing insurable exposure units in most areas of the United States, and slight increases in general insurance premium
rates.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2013, increased 19.2%, or $14.6 million, over the same period in 2012, to $90.7 million.
This increase was primarily due to net new business, the increase in profit-sharing contingent commissions, and continued improved efficiencies relating to
compensation and employee benefits and certain other operating expenses, but which was partially off-set by $1.4 million reduction in other income primarily due
to gains on the sale of books of businesses in 2012. These increases were also enhanced by the net decreases in the inter-company interest expense allocation of
$1.8 million and changes in estimated acquisition earn-out payables of $2.5 million. The continued improved efficiencies relating to compensation and employee
benefits, and certain other operating expenses resulted mainly from such costs increasing at a lower rate than our growth in net new business. However, a portion
of the improved ratio of employee compensation and benefits to total revenues was the result of the $2.8 million of bonus compensation related to a special one-
time bonus for the six months ended June 30, 2012 which was not repeated in 2013.

National Programs Division

The National Programs Division provides professional liability and related package products for certain professionals delivered through nationwide
networks of independent agents; and markets targeted products and services designated for specific industries, trade groups, public and quasi-public entities and
market niches. Like the Retail and Wholesale Brokerage Divisions, the National Programs Division’s revenues are primarily commission-based.

Financial information relating to our National Programs Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, and 2012, is as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2013   2012   
%

Change  2013   2012   
%

Change  
REVENUES        
Core commissions and fees   $62,860   $53,135    18.3%  $124,566   $106,765    16.7% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    5,358    (400)   NMF(1)   12,202    10,119    20.6% 
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    (173)   3    NMF(1)   (59)   197    (129.9)% 
Investment income    5    11    (54.5)%   10    11    (9.1)% 
Other income, net    304    217    40.1%   575    481    19.5% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    68,354    52,966    29.1%   137,294    117,573    16.8% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    32,535    25,851    25.9%   64,694    52,338    23.6% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    953    957    (0.4)%   1,900    1,782    6.6% 
Other operating expenses    13,162    9,649    36.4%   25,319    19,929    27.0% 
Amortization    3,511    3,278    7.1%   7,030    6,454    8.9% 
Depreciation    1,326    1,136    16.7%   2,574    2,278    13.0% 
Interest    5,590    4,351    28.5%   11,284    11,003    2.6% 
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payables    51    (1,494)   NMF(1)   (745)   (1,406)   (47.0)% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    57,128    43,728    30.6%   112,056    92,378    21.3% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Income before income taxes   $11,226   $ 9,238    21.5%  $ 25,238   $ 25,195    0.2% 
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

Net internal growth rate – core organic commissions and fees    18.3%   7.2%    15.3%   3.8%  
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For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,

   2013   2012   
%

Change  2013   2012   
%

Change
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    47.6%   48.8%     47.1%   44.5%  
Other operating expenses ratio    19.3%   18.2%     18.4%   17.0%  

Capital expenditures   $1,420   $3,434     $ 2,312   $ 5,850   
Total assets at June 30, 2013 and 2012       $1,224,175   $1,149,268   
 
(1) NMF = Not a meaningful figure

Total revenues for National Programs for the three months ended June 30, 2013, increased 29.1%, or $15.4 million, over the same period in 2012, to $68.4
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the second quarter of 2013 increased $5.6 million over the second quarter of 2012 due primarily to a
$4.5 million increase in profit-sharing contingent commissions accrued by Florida Intracoastal Underwriters (“FIU”). FIU’s profit-sharing contingent
commissions increased in 2013 because certain insurance carriers’ loss-ratios improved over those in the prior contract period. The $9.7 million net increase in
core commissions and fees revenue resulted from net new business. The National Programs Division’s internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees
revenue was 18.3% for the three months ended June 30, 2013. Of the $9.7 million of net new business, $9.2 million related to a net increase in commissions and
fees revenue from our Arrowhead operations.

Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2013 increased 21.5%, or $2.0 million, over the same period in 2012, to $11.2 million.
This net increase was primarily due to the increases in net new business and profit-sharing contingent commissions, but was partially offset by the net increases in
the inter-company interest expense allocation of $1.2 million and changes in estimated acquisition earn-out payables of $1.5 million.

Total revenues for National Programs for the six months ended June 30, 2013, increased 16.8%, or $19.7 million, over the same period in 2012, to $137.3
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the first six months of 2013 increased $1.8 million, or 17.7%, over the first six months of 2012 due
primarily to a $4.5 million increase in profit-sharing contingent commissions received by FIU. FIU’s profit-sharing contingent commissions increased in the 2013
because certain insurance carriers’ loss-ratios improved over those in the prior contract period. The $17.8 million net increase in core commissions and fees
revenue resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $1.5 million related to the core commissions and fees revenue from acquisitions that
had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2012; and (ii) the remaining net increase of $16.3 million primarily related to net new business. The National
Programs Division’s internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees revenue was 15.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2013. Of the $17.8 million
of net new business, $15.5 million related to a net increase in commissions and fees revenue from our Arrowhead operations.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2013 increased 0.2%, or less than $0.1 million, over the same period in 2012, to $25.2
million. This net increase was primarily due to the increases in net new business and profit-sharing contingent commissions, but was partially offset by the net
increases in the inter-company interest expense allocation of $0.3 million and changes in estimated acquisition earn-out payables of $0.7 million.
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Wholesale Brokerage Division

The Wholesale Brokerage Division markets and sells excess and surplus commercial and personal lines insurance and reinsurance, primarily through
independent agents and brokers. Like the Retail and National Programs Divisions, the Wholesale Brokerage Division’s revenues are primarily commission-based.

Financial information relating to our Wholesale Brokerage Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 is as follows (in thousands,
except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2013   2012   
%

Change  2013   2012   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Core commissions and fees   $52,858   $46,301    14.2%  $ 96,129   $ 84,683    13.5% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    1,518    434    249.8%   6,412    4,602    39.3% 
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    360    607    (40.7)%   749    1,204    (37.8)% 
Investment income    4    5    (20.0)%   9    11    (18.2)% 
Other income, net    83    136    (39.0)%   221    287    (23.0)% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    54,823    47,483    15.5%   103,520    90,787    14.0% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    25,651    22,891    12.1%   48,866    44,321    10.3% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    356    328    8.5%   713    630    13.2% 
Other operating expenses    8,928    8,708    2.5%   18,682    16,693    11.9% 
Amortization    2,887    2,786    3.6%   5,784    5,573    3.8% 
Depreciation    716    661    8.3%   1,423    1,317    8.0% 
Interest    723    895    (19.2)%   1,478    2,121    (30.3)% 
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payables    (198)   19    NMF(1)   452    60    653.3% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    39,063    36,288    7.6%   77,398    70,715    9.5% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Income before income taxes   $15,760   $11,195    40.8%  $ 26,122   $ 20,072    30.1% 
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

Net internal growth rate – core organic commissions and fees    10.8%   7.9%    9.8%   6.8%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    46.8%   48.2%    47.2%   48.8%  
Other operating expenses ratio    16.3%   18.3%    18.0%   18.4%  

Capital expenditures   $ 561   $ 712    $ 1,097   $ 1,886   
Total assets at June 30, 2013 and 2012      $925,901   $795,134   
 
(1) NMF = Not a meaningful figure

The Wholesale Brokerage Division’s total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2013, increased 15.5%, or $7.3 million, over the same period in
2012, to $54.8 million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the second quarter of 2013 increased $0.8 million, or 80.7%, over the same quarter
of 2012. The $6.6 million net increase in core commissions and fees revenue resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $1.6 million
related to the core commissions and fees revenue from acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2012; and (ii) the remaining net
increase of $5.0 million primarily related to net new business. As such, the Wholesale Brokerage Division’s internal growth rate for core organic commissions
and fees revenue was 10.8% for the second quarter of 2013.

Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2013, increased 40.8%, or $4.6 million, over the same period in 2012, to $15.8 million,
primarily due to net new business, an increase in profit-sharing contingent commissions, net reductions in the inter-company interest expense allocation of $0.2
million, and changes in estimated acquisition earn-out payables of $0.2 million.

The Wholesale Brokerage Division’s total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2013, increased 14.0%, or $12.7 million, over the same period in
2012, to $103.5 million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions and GSCs for the first six months of 2013 increased $1.4 million, or 23.3%, over the same period
of 2012. The $11.4 million net increase in core commissions and fees revenue resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $3.1 million
related to the core commissions and fees revenue
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from acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2012; and (ii) the remaining net increase of $8.3 million primarily related to net new
business. As such, the Wholesale Brokerage Division’s internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees revenue was 9.8% for the first half of 2013.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2013, increased 30.1%, or $6.1 million, over the same period in 2012, to $26.1 million,
primarily due to net new business, an increase in profit-sharing contingent commissions and a net reduction in the inter-company interest expense allocation of
$0.6 million.

Services Division

The Services Division provides insurance-related services, including third-party claims administration (“TPA”) and comprehensive medical utilization
management services in both the workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as Medicare set-aside services, Social Security disability and
Medicare benefits advocacy services, and catastrophe claims adjusting services.

Unlike our other Divisions, nearly all of the Services Division’s commissions and fees revenue was generated from fees, which are not significantly
affected by fluctuations in general insurance premiums.

Financial information relating to our Services Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, is as follows (in thousands, except
percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2013   2012   
%

Change  2013   2012   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Core commissions and fees   $30,271   $27,521    10.0%  $ 72,876   $ 53,283    36.8% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    —     —     —  %   —     —     —  % 
Guaranteed supplemental commissions    —     —     —  %   —     —     —  % 
Investment income    —     —     —  %   1    —      —  % 
Other income, net    132    139    (5.0)%   173    207    (16.4)% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues    30,403    27,660    9.9%   73,050    53,490    36.6% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    15,478    14,360    7.8%   32,224    28,228    14.2% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    166    153    8.5%   334    284    17.6% 
Other operating expenses    7,415    6,315    17.4%   14,433    12,144    18.8% 
Amortization    925    1,156    (20.0)%   1,849    2,269    (18.5)% 
Depreciation    401    304    31.9%   798    529    50.9% 
Interest    1,883    4,481    (58.0)%   3,804    6,001    (36.6)% 
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payables    1,546    (1,727)   NMF(1)   3,066    (1,570)   NMF(1) 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    27,814    25,042    11.1%   56,508    47,885    18.0% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Income before income taxes   $ 2,589   $ 2,618    (1.1)%  $ 16,542   $ 5,605    195.1% 
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

Net internal growth rate – core organic commissions and fees    10.0%   10.1%    35.5%   7.9%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    50.9%   51.9%    44.1%   52.8%  
Other operating expenses ratio    24.4%   22.8%    19.8%   22.7%  

Capital expenditures   $ 379   $ 444    $ 498   $ 805   
Total assets at June 30, 2013 and 2012      $246,235   $268,629   
 
(1) NMF = Not a meaningful figure

The Services Division’s total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2013 increased 9.9%, or $2.7 million, over the same period in 2012, to $30.4
million. The $2.7 million net increase in commissions and fees revenue resulted from net new business, which was almost exclusively due to our Colonial Claims
operation and the impact of the significant flood claims resulting from the 2012 Superstorm Sandy. As such, the Services Division’s internal growth rate for core
organic commissions and fees revenue was 10.0% for the second quarter of 2013.
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Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2013, decreased 1.1%, or less than $0.1 million, from the same period in 2012, to $2.6
million, primarily due to changes in estimated earn-out payables of $3.3 million but partially offset by net new business from our Colonial Claims operation and a
net reduction in the inter-company interest expense allocation of $2.6 million.

The Services Division’s total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2013 increased 36.6%, or $19.6 million, over the same period in 2012, to $73.1
million. The $19.6 million net increase in commissions and fees revenue resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $0.7 million related
to the core commissions and fees revenue from the TPA business acquired as part of the Arrowhead acquisition, which had no comparable revenues in the same
period of 2012; and (ii) net new business of $18.9 million, which was almost exclusively due to our Colonial Claims operation and the impact of the significant
flood claims resulting from the 2012 Superstorm Sandy. As such, the Services Division’s internal growth rate for core organic commissions and fees revenue was
35.5% for the second quarter of 2013.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2013, increased 195.1%, or $10.9 million, over the same period in 2012, to $16.5 million,
primarily due to net new business from our Colonial Claims operation and a net reduction in the inter-company interest expense allocation of $2.2 million, but
which was partially offset by changes in estimated acquisition earn-out payables of $4.6 million.

Other

As discussed in Note 10 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the “Other” column in the Segment Information table includes any
income and expenses not allocated to reportable segments, and corporate-related items, including the inter-company interest expense charges to reporting
segments.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash and cash equivalents of $385.5 million at June 30, 2013, reflected an increase of $165.7 million from the $219.8 million balance at December 31,
2012. For the six-month period ended June 30, 2013, $221.9 million of cash was provided from operating activities. Also during this period, $14.4 million of cash
was used for acquisitions, $7.1 million was used for additions to fixed assets, and $25.9 million was used for payment of dividends.

Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities (the “current ratio”) was 1.47 and 1.34 at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Contractual Cash Obligations

As of June 30, 2013, our contractual cash obligations were as follows:
 
   Payments Due by Period  

(in thousands)   Total    
Less Than

1 Year    1-3 Years    4-5 Years    
After 5
Years  

Long-term debt   $450,033    $ 33    $125,000    $225,000    $100,000  
Other liabilities    42,557     13,768     17,013     6,341     5,435  
Operating leases    132,567     29,646     48,218     30,778     23,925  
Interest obligations    45,448     15,815     17,773     10,922     938  
Unrecognized tax benefits    159     —      159     —      —   
Maximum future acquisition contingency payments    135,199     33,655     97,244     4,300     —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total contractual cash obligations   $805,963    $ 92,917    $305,407    $277,341    $130,298  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Includes the current portion of other long-term liabilities.
(2) Includes $48.9 million of current and non-current estimated earn-out payables resulting from acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009.

In July 2004, we completed a private placement of $200.0 million of unsecured senior notes (the “Notes”). The $200.0 million was divided into two series:
(1) Series A, which closed on September 15, 2004, for $100.0 million due in 2011 and bore interest at 5.57% per year; and (2) Series B, which closed on July 15,
2004, for $100.0 million due in 2014 and bearing interest at 6.08% per year. We have used the proceeds from the Notes for general corporate purposes, including
acquisitions and repayment of existing debt. On September 15, 2011, the $100.0 million of Series A Notes were redeemed on their normal maturity date. As of
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there was an outstanding balance on the Notes of $100.0 million.

On December 22, 2006, we entered into a Master Shelf and Note Purchase Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) with a national insurance company (the
“Purchaser”). On September 30, 2009, we and the Purchaser amended the Master Agreement to extend the
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term of the agreement until August 20, 2012. The Purchaser also purchased Notes issued by us in 2004. The Master Agreement provides for a $200.0 million
private uncommitted “shelf” facility for the issuance of senior unsecured notes over a three-year period, with interest rates that may be fixed or floating and with
such maturity dates, not to exceed ten years, as the parties may determine. The Master Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default
similar to the Notes issued in 2004. The initial issuance of notes under the Master Agreement occurred on December 22, 2006, through the issuance of $25.0
million in Series C Senior Notes due December 22, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 5.66% per year. On February 1, 2008, $25.0 million in Series D Senior
Notes due January 15, 2015, with a fixed interest rate of 5.37% per year, were issued. On September 15, 2011, and pursuant to a Confirmation of Acceptance,
dated January 21, 2011 (the “Confirmation”), in connection with the Master Agreement, $100.0 million in Series E Senior Notes due September 15, 2018, with a
fixed interest rate of 4.50% per year, were issued. The Series E Senior Notes were issued for the sole purpose of retiring the Series A Senior Notes. As of June 30,
2013, and December 31, 2012, there was an outstanding debt balance of $150.0 million attributable to notes issued under the provisions of the Master Agreement.
The Master Agreement expired on September 30, 2012 and was not extended.

On October 12, 2012, we entered into a Master Note Facility Agreement (the “New Master Agreement”) with another national insurance company (the
“New Purchaser”). The New Purchaser also purchased Notes issued by us in 2004. The New Master Agreement provides for a $125.0 million private
uncommitted “shelf” facility for the issuance of unsecured senior notes over a three-year period, with interest rates that may be fixed or floating and with such
maturity dates, not to exceed ten years, as the parties may determine. The New Master Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default
similar to the Master Agreement. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were no borrowings against this facility.

On June 12, 2008, we entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement dated as of June 3, 2008 (the “Prior Loan Agreement”), with a
national banking institution, amending and restating the Revolving Loan Agreement dated September 29, 2003, as amended (the “Revolving Agreement”), to,
among other things, increase the lending commitment to $50.0 million (subject to potential increases up to $100.0 million) and to extend the maturity date from
December 20, 2011, to June 3, 2013. The Revolving Agreement initially provided for a revolving credit facility in the maximum principal amount of $75.0
million. After a series of amendments that provided covenant exceptions for additional notes issued or to be issued under the Master Agreement and relaxed or
deleted certain other covenants, the maximum principal amount was reduced to $20.0 million. The Revolving Agreement was amended and restated by the
SunTrust Revolver (as defined in the below paragraph).

On January 9, 2012, we entered into: (1) an amended and restated revolving and term loan credit agreement (the “SunTrust Agreement”) with SunTrust
Bank (“SunTrust”) that provides for (a) a $100.0 million term loan (the “SunTrust Term Loan”) and (b) a $50.0 million revolving line of credit (the “SunTrust
Revolver”) and (2) a $50.0 million promissory note (the “JPM Note”) in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”), pursuant to a letter agreement
executed by JP Morgan (together with the JPM Note, (the “JPM Agreement”) that provided for a $50.0 million uncommitted line of credit bridge facility (the
“JPM Bridge Facility”). The SunTrust Term Loan, the SunTrust Revolver and the JPM Bridge Facility were each funded on January 9, 2012, and provided the
financing for the Arrowhead acquisition. The SunTrust Agreement amended and restated the Prior Loan Agreement.

The maturity date for the SunTrust Term Loan and the SunTrust Revolver is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest
will be due. Both the SunTrust Term Loan and the SunTrust Revolver may be increased by up to $50.0 million (bringing the total available to $150.0 million for
the SunTrust Term Loan and $100.0 million for the SunTrust Revolver). The calculation of interest and fees for the SunTrust Agreement is generally based on our
funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio. Interest is charged at a rate equal to 1.00% to 1.40% above LIBOR or 1.00% below the Base Rate, each as more fully described in
the SunTrust Agreement. Fees include an up-front fee, an availability fee of 0.175% to 0.25%, and a letter of credit margin fee of 1.00% to 1.40%. The obligations
under the SunTrust Term Loan and SunTrust Revolver are unsecured and the SunTrust Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default
that are customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers and that are substantially similar to those contained in the Prior Loan Agreement. 

The maturity date for the JPM Bridge Facility was February 3, 2012, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest would have been due. On
January 26, 2012, we entered into a term loan agreement (the “JPM Agreement”) with JPMorgan that provided for a $100.0 million term loan (the “JPM Term
Loan”). The JPM Term Loan was fully funded on January 26, 2012, and provided the financing to fully repay (1) the JPM Bridge Facility and (2) the SunTrust
Revolver. As a result of the January 26, 2012 financing and repayments, the JPM Bridge Facility was terminated and the SunTrust Revolver’s amount outstanding
was reduced to zero. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were no borrowings against the SunTrust Revolver.

The maturity date for the JPM Term Loan is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest will be due. Interest is charged
at a rate equal to the Alternative Base Rate or 1.00% above the Adjusted LIBOR Rate, each as more fully described in the JPM Agreement. Fees include an up-
front fee. The obligations under the JPM Term Loan are unsecured and the JPM Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default that are
customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers.

The 30-day LIBOR and Adjusted LIBOR Rate as of June 30, 2013 were 0.19% and 0.25%, respectively.
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The Notes, the Master Agreement, the SunTrust Agreement and the JPM Agreement all require that we maintain certain financial ratios and comply with
certain other covenants. We were in compliance with all such covenants as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

On July 1, 2013, in conjunction with the Beecher acquisition, we entered into: (1) a revolving loan agreement (the “Wells Fargo Agreement”) with Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”) that provides for a $50.0 million revolving line of credit (the “Wells Fargo Revolver”) and (2) a term loan agreement (the
“Bank of America Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of America”) that provides for a $30.0 million term loan (the “Bank of America Term
Loan”). The Wells Fargo Revolver drawn down in the amount of $30.0 million and the Bank of America Term Loan was funded in the amount of $30.0 million,
each on July 1, 2013, and these facilities provided the financing for the Beecher acquisition.

The maturity date for the Wells Fargo Revolver is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest will be due. The Wells
Fargo Revolver may be increased by up to $50.0 million (bringing the total amount available to $100.0 million). The calculation of interest and fees for the Wells
Fargo Agreement is generally based on our funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio. Interest is charged at a rate equal to 1.00% to 1.40% above LIBOR or 1.00% below the
Base Rate, each as more fully described in the Wells Fargo Agreement. Fees include an up-front fee, an availability fee of 0.175% to 0.25%, and a letter of credit
margin fee of 1.00% to 1.40%. The obligations under the Wells Fargo Revolver are unsecured and the Wells Fargo Agreement includes various covenants,
limitations and events of default that are customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers.

The maturity date for the Bank of America Term Loan is December 31, 2016, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest will be due.
Interest is charged at a rate equal to the Alternative Base Rate or 1.00% to 1.40% above the Adjusted LIBOR Rate, each as more fully described in the Bank of
America Agreement. Fees include and up-front fee. Initially, until the Lender receives the Company’s September 30, 2013 quarter end financial statement, the
applicable margin for Adjusted LIBOR Rate advances is 1.5%. The obligations under the Bank of America Term Loan are unsecured and the Bank of America
Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default that are customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers.

Neither we nor our subsidiaries has ever incurred off-balance sheet obligations through the use of, or investment in, off-balance sheet derivative financial
instruments or structured finance or special purpose entities organized as corporations, partnerships or limited liability companies or trusts.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investment portfolio and funds generated from operations, together with the SunTrust
Revolver, the New Master Agreement, and the Wells Fargo Revolver will be sufficient to satisfy our normal liquidity needs through at least the end of 2013.
Additionally, we believe that funds generated from future operations will be sufficient to satisfy our normal liquidity needs, including the required annual
principal payments on our long-term debt.

Historically, much of our cash has been used for acquisitions. If additional acquisition opportunities should become available that exceed our current cash
flow, we believe that given our relatively low debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, we would be able to raise additional capital through either the private or public
debt markets. This incurrence of additional debt, however, could negatively impact our capital structure and liquidity. In addition, if we are unable to raise such,
or as much additional debt as we want, or at all, we could issue additional equity to finance an acquisition which could have a dilutive effect on our current
shareholders. 

For further discussion of our cash management and risk management policies, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates and equity prices. We are exposed to market
risk through our investments, revolving credit line and term loan agreements.

Our invested assets are held as cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and investments, available-for-sale marketable equity securities, non-marketable
equity securities and certificates of deposit. These investments are subject to interest rate risk and equity price risk. The fair values of our cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and investments, and certificates of deposit at June 30, 2013, and December 31, 2012, approximated their respective carrying values
due to their short-term duration and therefore, such market risk is not considered to be material.

We do not actively invest or trade in equity securities. In addition, we generally dispose of any significant equity securities received in conjunction with an
acquisition shortly after the acquisition date.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation (the “Evaluation”) required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and
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Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act
(“Disclosure Controls”) as of June 30, 2013. Based on the Evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that the design and operation of our Disclosure Controls were
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our senior management, including our CEO and
CFO, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Controls

There has not been any change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the Evaluation that occurred during the quarter
ended June 30, 2013, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls and internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two
or more people, or by management override of the control.

The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

CEO and CFO Certifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications of the CEO and the CFO, respectively. The Certifications are supplied in accordance with Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Section 302 Certifications”). This Item 4 of this Report is the information concerning the Evaluation referred to in the
Section 302 Certifications and this information should be read in conjunction with the Section 302 Certifications for a more complete understanding of the topics
presented.

PART II

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In Item 3 of Part I of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2012, certain information concerning certain
legal proceedings and other matters was disclosed. Such information was current as of the date of filing. During the Company’s fiscal quarter ending June 30,
2013, no new legal proceedings, or material developments with respect to existing legal proceedings, occurred which require disclosure in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There were no material changes in the risk factors previously disclosed in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as a part of this Report:
 
    3.1

  

Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (adopted April 24, 2003) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3a to Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2003), and Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3a to Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 1999).

    3.2   Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K filed on March 2, 2012).

  10.1
  

Merger Agreement, dated May 21, 2013, among Brown & Brown, Inc., Brown & Brown Merger Co., Beecher Carlson Holdings, Inc., and BC
Sellers’ Representative LLC, solely in its capacity as the representative of Beecher’s shareholders.

  31.1   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant.

  31.2   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant.

  32.1   Section 1350 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant.

  32.2   Section 1350 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant.

101.INS*   XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF*   XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
 
* These interactive date files shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 18 of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

  BROWN & BROWN, INC.

  /S/    CORY T. WALKER        
Date: August 2, 2013   Cory T. Walker

  Sr. Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
  (duly authorized officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This Agreement and Plan of Merger (this “Agreement”) is made as of the          day of May, 2013 by and among Brown & Brown, Inc., a Florida
corporation (“Parent”), Brown & Brown Merger Co., a Delaware corporation (“Buyer”), Beecher Carlson Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), and BC Sellers’ Representative LLC, as the Sellers’ Representative. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in the text hereof are defined in
Section 24 of this Agreement.

Preliminary Statement

Each of the Common Stockholders owns the number of the issued and outstanding shares of the Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Class A
Common Stock”), and Class B Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Class B Common Stock”; collectively, the Class A Common Stock and the Class
B Common Stock are referred to as the “Common Stock”), of the Company set forth opposite his, her or its name under the caption “Total Common Shares” in
Section 2.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

Each of the Preferred Stockholders owns the number of the issued and outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Preferred
Stock”), of the Company and in the series set forth opposite his, her or its name under the caption “Total Preferred Shares” in Section 2.4(a) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule.

The Preferred Stock and Common Stock, together, represent all of the issued and outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Company.

The respective Boards of Directors of the Company, Parent, and Buyer have determined that the transactions described herein are in the best interests of such
party and its respective stockholders. This Agreement provides for the acquisition of the Company by Parent pursuant to the merger of Buyer with and into the
Company. At the effective time of such Merger, each outstanding share of Common Stock and Preferred Stock, and each Option and Warrant shall, subject to the
terms and conditions of this Agreement, be converted into the right to receive a cash payment at Closing and contingent payments after Closing.

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation provides that this Agreement and the Merger must be approved by the affirmative vote of holders of (a) a majority of
the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock and voting Common Stock, voting together as a single class, (b) a majority of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock
voting together as a single class, and (c) a majority of the outstanding shares of the Series D Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class (collectively, the
“Stockholders’ Approvals”). Immediately after the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Written Consent will be executed and delivered by the Investors
and the Management Stockholders, which Written Consent when executed and delivered will be sufficient to obtain the Stockholders’ Approval.
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the mutual promises hereinafter set forth and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. The Merger. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, Buyer shall be merged with and into the Company in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the DGCL (the “Merger”). The Company shall be the Surviving Corporation resulting from the Merger (the
“Surviving Corporation”) and shall continue to be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware. The Merger shall be consummated pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement, which has been approved and adopted by the respective Boards of Directors of the Company, Buyer and Parent.

1.1. Effective Time. A certificate of merger shall be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on the Closing Date and the Merger
shall be deemed effective as of the time of the filing of the certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the “Effective Time”).

1.2. Articles of Incorporation. At the Effective Time, the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended to read in its
entirety as set forth on Exhibit A.

1.3. Bylaws. At the Effective Time, the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated to conform to the bylaws of Buyer as in
effect immediately prior to the Effective Time.

1.4. Directors and Officers. The directors of Buyer in office immediately prior to the Effective Time shall become the directors of the Surviving
Corporation and shall continue to hold such office from the Effective Time until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed in the manner provided
by the Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws of the Surviving Corporation or as otherwise provided by Applicable Law. The officers of the Company in office
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall continue as the corresponding officers of the Surviving Corporation and shall continue to hold such offices from the
Effective Time until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed in the manner provided by the Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws of the
Surviving Corporation or as otherwise provided by Applicable Law.

1.5. Conversion of Shares in Merger. Subject to the provisions of this Section 1, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of
Buyer or the Company:

(a) Each share of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding at the Effective Time (excluding Appraisal Shares and shares of Preferred Stock
that were converted into shares of Common Stock at or immediately before the Effective Time) shall cease to be outstanding and shall be converted into and
exchanged for the right to receive from the Merger Consideration, the liquidation preference that such share’s series of Preferred Stock is entitled to receive
pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation (the “Liquidation Preferences”), plus all accrued but unpaid dividends on such share of Preferred Stock as
provided in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation.
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(b) Each share of Series D Preferred Stock that is converted to Common Stock at or immediately before the Effective Time shall also be
entitled to receive from the Merger Consideration any accrued but unpaid dividends on such share of Series D Preferred Stock as provided in the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation. If the Merger Consideration is insufficient to permit the payment to the holders of Preferred Stock of the full amounts described in
Sections 1.5(a) and (b), then the entire Merger Consideration shall be distributed with equal priority and pro rata among the holders of the Preferred Stock in
proportion to the full amounts they would otherwise be entitled to receive pursuant to Sections 1.5(a) and (b).

(c) To the extent any Merger Consideration remains after payment of the Merger Consideration in respect of the Liquidation Preferences and
the accrued but unpaid dividends pursuant to Sections 1.5(a) and (b) (the “Remaining Merger Consideration”), each share of Common Stock issued and
outstanding at the Effective Time (excluding Appraisal Shares, but including shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion of any Preferred Stock) shall cease
to be outstanding and shall be converted into and exchanged for the right to receive an amount equal to (i) the Per Share Price, without any interest thereon, plus
(ii) subject to Section 9, the Per Share Indemnity Escrow Consideration, if any, if and when released in accordance with the Escrow Agreement, plus (iii) the Per
Share Working Capital Excess, if any. To the extent no Merger Consideration remains after payment of Merger Consideration in respect of the liquidation
preferences of all series of Preferred Stock pursuant to Sections 1.5(a) and (b), each issued and outstanding share of Common Stock shall no longer be
outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered or deliverable in exchange therefor.

(d) To the extent of any Remaining Merger Consideration, each Option, whether or not vested or exercisable, issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to be outstanding and shall be converted into and exchanged for the right to receive an amount equal to (i) the
product of (X) the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock of the Company that would be issued to the holder of such Option if such Option were exercised
in full multiplied by (Y) the Per Share Price Per Option, without any interest thereon, plus (ii) subject to Section 9, the Per Share Indemnity Escrow
Consideration, if any, if and when released in accordance with the Escrow Agreement, plus (iii) the Per Share Working Capital Excess, if any.

(e) To the extent of any Remaining Merger Consideration, each Warrant issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall
cease to be outstanding and shall be converted into and exchanged for the right to receive an amount equal to (i) the product of (X) the aggregate number of
shares of Common Stock of the Company that would be issued to the holder of such Warrant if such Warrant were exercised in full multiplied by (Y) the Per
Share Price Per Warrant, without any interest thereon, plus (ii) subject to Section 9, the Per Share Indemnity Escrow Consideration, if any, if and when released in
accordance with the Escrow Agreement, plus (iii) the Per Share Working Capital Excess, if any.
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(f) All shares of the capital stock of the Company which are held in the treasury of the Company shall be cancelled and retired and shall
cease to exist without any conversion thereof, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(g) Each share of capital stock of Buyer issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to be outstanding and
shall be converted into and exchanged for one newly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation and
such shares shall, collectively, represent all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Surviving Corporation.

(h) Buyer, the Company, or the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable with
respect to the conversion of shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock pursuant to Section 1.5 of this Agreement, Options pursuant to Section 1.5(d) of this
Agreement or Warrants pursuant to Section 1.5(e) of this Agreement at the time such consideration is paid, such amounts as Buyer, the Company, or the Surviving
Corporation is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Code, or any applicable provision of state, local, or foreign
Tax law. Payments of the net consideration to be paid to holders of the Options at Closing shall be made by Company checks through the Company’s payroll
process. To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be timely paid to the appropriate Taxing Authority and shall be treated for all
purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of whom such deduction and withholding was made.

(i) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock that are outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time and that are held by any person who is entitled to demand and properly demands appraisal of such shares (the “Appraisal
Shares”) pursuant to, and who complies in all respects with, Section 262 of the DGCL (“Section 262”) shall not be converted into Merger Consideration as
provided in this Section 1.5, but rather the holders of Appraisal Shares shall be entitled to the payment of the fair market value of such Appraisal Shares in
accordance with Section 262; provided, however, that if any such holder shall fail to perfect or otherwise shall waive, withdraw or lose the right to receive
payment of the fair market value under Section 262, then the right of such holder to be paid the fair market value of such holder’s Appraisal Shares shall cease
and such Appraisal Shares shall be deemed to have been converted as of the Effective Time into, and to have become exchangeable solely for the right to receive,
Merger Consideration as provided in this Section 1.5, without interest thereon, upon surrender of the certificate formerly representing such shares. The Company
shall give prompt written notice to Buyer of any written demands for appraisal of such Shares and shall have the right to direct all negotiations and proceedings
with respect to such demands. The Company shall not make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands in excess of the payment of
the applicable Liquidation Preference and accrued but unpaid dividends outlined in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, in the case of Preferred Stock, or
the Per Share Price, if any in the case of Common Stock, in respect of any Appraisal Share, without the written consent of Buyer, except to the extent that (i) the
Company’s cash is used prior to the Closing to effect such payment or settlement, (ii) a full release is obtained from such holder and (iii) no obligations with
respect to the Appraisal Shares remain following the Closing. As
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provided in Section 1.6(f)(i)(H), any payment by the Company prior to the Effective Time with respect to Appraisal Shares shall be a Company Fee and Expense.
Compliance by the Company in delivering notice of any statutory rights to dissent to holders of capital stock of the Company or in complying with the applicable
provisions of the DGCL related to appraisal rights shall not serve as any waiver of the rights the Company has under Section 5 of the Voting Agreement against
any holder who dissents or exercises any rights of appraisal in the Merger. If a payment is made by the Company prior to the Effective Time with respect to
Appraisal Shares, the Sellers’ Representative and Parent shall adjust the Per Share Price to reflect the additional Company Fees and Expenses and the reduced
number of Shares Outstanding, if applicable, arising from the payments so made.

1.6. Exchange Procedures and Payments at Closing.

(a) As a condition to payment of any amounts payable to a Stockholder hereunder, (i) any such holder of shares of Common Stock issued
and outstanding at the Effective Time (other than Appraisal Shares) shall surrender the certificate or certificates representing such shares of Common Stock to the
Company and deliver a letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-1, together with its attachments, (ii) any such holder of shares of Common
Stock issued upon conversion of Preferred Stock and outstanding at the Effective Time shall surrender the certificate or certificates formerly representing shares
of Preferred Stock to the Company and deliver a letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-2, together with its attachments, and (iii) any such
holder of shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding at the Effective Time (other than Appraisal Shares) shall surrender the certificate or certificates
representing such shares of Preferred Stock to the Company and deliver a letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-3, together with its
attachments (the letters of transmittal in the form of Exhibits C-1, C-2 and C-3 collectively, the “Letters of Transmittal”).

(b) As a condition to payment of any amounts payable to an Optionholder hereunder, such Optionholder shall deliver an Option Cancellation
and Payment Acknowledgement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D-1 (the “Option Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement”), together with its
attachments, including its Option, if available, for cancellation by the Company.

(c) As a condition to payment of any amounts payable to a Warrantholder hereunder, such Warrantholder shall deliver a Warrant
Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D-2 (the “Warrant Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement”), together
with its attachments, including its Warrant for cancellation by the Company.

(d) (i) Payments of the Liquidation Preferences and accrued but unpaid dividends pursuant to the terms of the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation shall be made by Parent on the later of the Closing Date or five business days after the receipt by the Company of the certificates representing all of
such holder’s shares of Preferred Stock and a corresponding Letter of Transmittal, by wire transfer or, at the option of the Company, if such payment is less than
$100,000 and not made at the Closing, by check as described in such Letter of Transmittal.
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(ii) Payment of the accrued but unpaid dividends on each share of Series D Preferred Stock that is converted to Common Stock at or
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be paid by Parent when holders receive the Per Share Price pursuant to subsection (iii) below.

(iii) Payments of the Per Share Price (less the value of any outstanding Stockholder Loans) to the holders of the Common Stock
(including Common Stock issuable upon conversion of Preferred Stock) pursuant to Section 1.5(c)(i) shall be made by Parent on the later of the Closing Date or
five business days after the receipt by the Company of the certificates representing all of such holder’s shares of Common Stock and certificates formerly
representing all of such holder’s shares of Preferred Stock and a corresponding Letter of Transmittal, by wire transfer or, at the option of the Company, if such
payment is less than $100,000 and not made at the Closing, by check as described in such Letter of Transmittal.

(iv) Payments of the Per Share Price Per Option to the holders of the Options pursuant to Section 1.5(d)(i) shall be made by Surviving
Corporation on the first day payroll payments are made after the later of the Closing Date or five business days after the receipt by the Company of such holder’s
Option Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement, together with its attachments, by check through the Company’s payroll system as described in such Option
Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement.

(v) Payments of the Per Share Price Per Warrant to the holders of the Warrants pursuant to Section 1.5(e)(i) shall be made by Parent
on the later of the Closing Date or five business days after the receipt by the Company of such holder’s Warrants and corresponding Warrant Cancellation and
Payment Acknowledgement, together with its attachments, by wire transfer as described in such Warrant Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement.

(e) Neither Parent, Buyer nor the Surviving Corporation shall be liable to any holder of a certificate formerly representing shares of Common
Stock or Preferred Stock or any holder of Options or Warrants for any amount properly delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned
property, escheat or similar Applicable Law.

(f) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including, without limitation, Sections 5.1 and 5.2, from the date hereof through
the Closing, the Company shall be entitled to utilize available cash of the Company (i) to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with or related to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Contemplated Transactions”) by Sellers, the Company or the Sellers’ Representative (on behalf of Sellers)
(collectively, “Company Fees and Expenses”), including, without limitation, (A) legal and accounting fees and expenses, (B) the advisory fees, expenses and any
other payments owed to the Company Financial Advisor pursuant to that certain letter agreement dated September 13, 2012, by and between the Company and
the Company Financial Advisor (the “Advisory Agreement”),
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(C) any fees or expenses in the nature of prepayment penalties, or make-whole payments or prepayment penalties associated with the payment of Indebtedness,
(D) fees and expenses (other than one-half of the filing fees under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act which Buyer has agreed to pay) to obtain any Consents required for
the Contemplated Transactions (the “Consent Fees”), (E) $500,000 for the fees and expenses of the Sellers’ Representative (which the Sellers’ Representative
may use to pay any Third Party Payables in excess of the amount set forth therefor on Schedule I or that are not set forth on the Third Party Payables Schedule),
(F) any compensation payable by the Company or its Subsidiaries to any director, officer, employee, agent, consultant or advisor as a result of the Contemplated
Transactions, including those amounts payable to those individuals to be agreed upon by the Parties in writing, (G) amounts paid to any holder of Appraisal
Shares prior to the Effective Time in settlement of such holder’s demand to be paid the fair market value of such Appraisal Shares in connection with the Merger,
(H) all premiums, commissions and other charges, fees and expenses incurred by the Company or its Subsidiaries in connection with the Post-Closing D&O
Policy and the Required Tail Coverage and (I) any special, change-in-control, closing or sale bonus payable at any time before, on or after the Closing Date in
connection with or by reason of the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, arising out of any agreement, arrangement or understanding entered into or
made prior to the Closing between or binding upon the Company or its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any director, officer, employee or agent of, or any
consultant or advisor to, the Company or its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, and (ii) to repay outstanding Indebtedness. On the business day prior to the Closing,
the Company shall deliver to Buyer a schedule (the “Third Party Payables Schedule”) setting forth (x) all Company Fees and Expenses that have been paid after
the Current Balance Sheet Date and prior to the Effective Time (the “Pre-Closing Third Party Payments”) and (y) all Company Fees and Expenses and all
Indebtedness that remain unpaid after giving effect to the Pre-Closing Third Party Payments (the “Third Party Payables”). At the Closing, Parent shall pay or shall
cause to be paid in full the Third Party Payables. For the avoidance of doubt, Company Fees and Expenses shall not include payroll taxes payable by the
Company or the Surviving Corporation with respect to compensation attributable to the exercise of Options and Warrants (provided, however, certain payroll
taxes are included within Current Liabilities).

1.7. Rights of Former Stockholders. After the date hereof, the stock, option and warrant transfer books of the Company shall be closed and no
transfer of Common Stock, Preferred Stock, Options or Warrants of the Company shall thereafter be made or recognized other than the issuance of Common
Stock in connection with the exercise of Options or Warrants, the conversion of Preferred Stock into Common Stock, or the repurchase of Common Stock by the
Company pursuant to the Management Restricted Stock Agreement. Until surrendered for exchange in accordance with the provisions of Section 1.6 of this
Agreement, each certificate theretofore representing shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock, each Option and each Warrant, shall from and after the
Effective Time be deemed to be cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and shall represent for all purposes only the right to receive the consideration set
forth in Section 1.5.
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1.8. Working Capital Adjustments.

(a) Pre-Closing Determination. At least five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent (i) the estimated
unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of the close of business on the Closing Date but prior to the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions (the
“Estimated Closing Balance Sheet”), together with (ii) a certificate of the Company (the “Company Pre-Closing Certificate”) executed on its behalf by the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company that sets forth in reasonable detail the Company’s good faith estimate of the Merger Consideration and the Per Share Price
(assuming conversion of all shares of Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock immediately prior to the Effective Time) as well as its estimates of the
Working Capital Amount (the “Estimated Working Capital”), Indebtedness (“Estimated Indebtedness”), and Third Party Payables (“Estimated Third Party
Payables”) as of the time immediately prior to the Effective Time, such Estimated Closing Balance Sheet and other estimates shall be prepared in accordance with
the Sample Working Capital Calculation and GAAP, using the policies, conventions, methodologies and procedures used by the Company in preparing the
Audited Financial Statements as of and for the period ended December 31, 2012, subject to exceptions for customary year-end adjustments and other
modifications specifically identified in this Agreement. The amount set forth as Estimated Working Capital, Estimated Indebtedness, or Estimated Third Party
Payables, as applicable, on the Company Pre-Closing Certificate shall be deemed to be Estimated Working Capital, Estimated Indebtedness and Estimated Third
Party Payables, as applicable, for all purposes under this Agreement, provided that prior to the Company’s delivery of the Estimated Closing Balance Sheet and
the Company Pre-Closing Certificate, Parent shall have a reasonable opportunity to review and consult with the Company with respect to the Company’s
preparation of the Estimated Closing Balance Sheet and the above estimates set forth in the Company Pre-Closing Certificate. A sample calculation of the
Working Capital Amount and the Closing Date Balance Sheet calculated as of June 30, 2013 is attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Sample Working Capital
Calculation”).

(b) Post-Closing Determination. Within ninety (90) calendar days after the Closing Date, the Surviving Corporation will conduct a review
(the “Closing Date Review”) of the Working Capital Amount as of the Closing Date but prior to the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions and will
prepare and deliver to the Sellers’ Representative a balance sheet (the “Closing Date Balance Sheet”) and a computation of the Working Capital Amount as of the
time immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Closing Date Working Capital Amount”). The Closing Date Working Capital Amount shall be calculated in
accordance with the Sample Working Capital Calculation and GAAP, using the policies, conventions, methodologies used by the Company in preparing the
Audited Financial Statements, as of and for the period ended December 31, 2012, subject to exceptions for customary year-end adjustments. The Surviving
Corporation will make available to the Sellers’ Representative all records and work papers used in preparing the Closing Date Balance Sheet. If the Sellers’
Representative disagrees with the computation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or the items reflected on the Closing Date Balance Sheet, the
Sellers’ Representative may, within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of the Closing Date Balance Sheet, records
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and work papers, deliver a notice (an “Objection Notice”) on behalf of the Sellers to the Surviving Corporation setting forth the Sellers’ Representative’s
calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount. If the Sellers’ Representative does not deliver an Objection Notice within such thirty (30) calendar day
period, then the Closing Date Working Capital Amount shall be deemed to be finally determined. If the Sellers’ Representative delivers an Objection Notice to
the Surviving Corporation, the Sellers’ Representative and the Surviving Corporation will use reasonable efforts to resolve any disagreement as to the
computation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount as soon as practicable, but if they cannot reach a final resolution within forty-five (45) calendar days
after the Surviving Corporation has received the Objection Notice, the Surviving Corporation and the Sellers’ Representative on behalf of the Sellers will jointly
retain a firm to be agreed upon in writing prior to Closing (the “Firm”) to resolve their disagreement. The Surviving Corporation and the Sellers’ Representative
will direct the Firm to render a determination within sixty (60) calendar days of its retention and the Surviving Corporation and the Sellers’ Representative and
their respective agents will cooperate with the Firm during its engagement. The Firm will consider only those items and amounts in the Closing Date Balance
Sheet set forth in the Objection Notice which the Surviving Corporation and the Sellers’ Representative are unable to resolve. In resolving any disputed item, the
Firm may not assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed
by either party. The Firm’s determination will be based on such review as the Firm deems necessary to make its determination, and on the definition of the
Closing Date Working Capital Amount included herein. The determination of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount by the Firm will be conclusive and
binding upon the Surviving Corporation, the Sellers’ Representative and the Sellers. The Surviving Corporation and the Sellers shall bear the costs and expenses
of the Firm based on the percentage which the portion of the contested amount not awarded to each party bears to the amount actually contested by or on behalf
of such party, and the Sellers’ Representative (on behalf of the Sellers) and the Surviving Corporation shall each pay one-half of any retainer required by the Firm
at the initiation of the engagement, such amount to be reallocated and credited or reimbursed by the other party depending on the final award of the contested
amount by the Firm. The Closing Date Working Capital Amount, as finally determined pursuant to this Section 1.8(b), is referred to herein as the “Actual Closing
Date Working Capital Amount.”

(c) Payment of Working Capital Adjustments.

(i) Payment by the Surviving Corporation. If the Actual Closing Date Working Capital Amount exceeds the Estimated Working
Capital (the amount of such excess being defined as the “Working Capital Excess Adjustment”), the Surviving Corporation shall, within five (5) business days
after the determination thereof, pay to the Sellers’ Representative, for subsequent distribution in accordance with this Agreement, an amount equal to the Working
Capital Excess Adjustment, together with interest on such amount from the Closing Date to and including the date of payment at an interest rate equal to the
interest such amount would have earned in the escrow through the Escrow Agreement, if any, after taking into account any amounts paid pursuant to
Section 1.8(c)(iii). Such payment shall be made by wire transfer or delivery of other immediately available funds in United States Dollars to the Sellers’
Representative in cash, by cashier’s or certified check, or by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Sellers’ Representative.
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(ii) Payment by Sellers. If the Actual Closing Date Working Capital Amount is less than the Estimated Working Capital (the amount
of such deficit being the “Working Capital Deficit Adjustment”), the Surviving Corporation and the Sellers’ Representative shall jointly instruct the Escrow
Agent to pay to the Surviving Corporation, from the Escrowed Amount, an aggregate amount equal to the Working Capital Deficit Adjustment, together with
interest earned in the escrow thereon, if any, as provided in the Escrow Agreement, after taking into account any amounts paid pursuant to Section 1.8(c)(iii).
Such payment will be made in cash, by cashier’s or certified check, or by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Surviving
Corporation.

(iii) Payment Pending Resolution of Dispute. If, pursuant to Section 1.8(a) above, a dispute exists as to the final determination of the
Actual Closing Date Working Capital Amount, the Surviving Corporation and Sellers shall promptly pay to the other, as appropriate in accordance with Sections
1.8(c)(i) and 1.8(c)(ii), such amounts as are not in dispute, pending final determination of such dispute pursuant to Section 1.8(b).

1.9. Sellers’ Representative.

(a) In order to efficiently administer (i) the determination of the Merger Consideration and the Actual Closing Date Working Capital
Amount, (ii) the distribution of any amounts payable or distributable to Sellers, (iii) the waiver of any condition to the obligations of the Company to consummate
the Contemplated Transactions, and (iv) the defense and/or settlement of any Proceedings with respect to which any Buyer Indemnified Party may be entitled to
be indemnified pursuant to Section 9 hereof, by approving this Agreement, or by executing and delivering any of the Seller Deliveries, Sellers hereby designate
BC Sellers’ Representative LLC as their representative (the “Sellers’ Representative”).

(b) Sellers, by approving this Agreement or by executing one of the Seller Deliveries, shall authorize the Sellers’ Representative (i) to make
all decisions relating to the determination of the Merger Consideration and the Actual Closing Date Working Capital Amount, (ii) to make all decisions relating to
the distribution of any amounts payable or distributable to Sellers hereunder, in accordance with this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, (iii) to take all action
necessary in connection with the waiver of any condition to the obligations of the Company to consummate the Contemplated Transactions, or the defense and/or
settlement of any Proceedings with respect to which any Buyer Indemnified Party may be entitled to be indemnified pursuant to Section 9 hereof, (iv) to give and
receive all notices required to be given under this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement, (v) to take any and all additional action as is contemplated to be taken by
or on behalf of Sellers by the terms of this Agreement, (vi) to take all other actions to be taken by or on behalf of Sellers in connection herewith, (vii) to withhold
funds to pay Seller-related expenses and obligations, (viii) to withhold
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additional funds as determined by the Sellers’ Representative in its discretion to pay future or contingent Seller expenses and obligations and (ix) to seek recourse
against any Seller for the benefit of the other Sellers in the event of a disbursement to the Buyer Indemnified Parties due to any breach of the representations and
warranties made by such Seller in a Seller Delivery.

(c) In the event that the Sellers’ Representative is dissolved, becomes unable to perform its responsibilities hereunder or resigns from such
position, Sellers holding, prior to the Closing, a majority of the voting Common Stock and Preferred Stock as set forth in Section 2.4(a) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule shall select another representative to fill such vacancy and such substituted representative shall be deemed to be the Sellers’ Representative
for all purposes of this Agreement.

(d) All decisions and actions by the Sellers’ Representative, including, without limitation, any agreement between the Sellers’ Representative
and the Surviving Corporation relating to the determination of the Actual Closing Date Working Capital Amount or the defense or settlement of any Proceedings
with respect to which any Buyer Indemnified Party may be entitled to be indemnified pursuant to Section 9 hereof, shall be binding upon all of the Sellers, and no
Seller shall have the right to object, dissent, protest or otherwise contest the same.

(e) By approving this Agreement, or by executing a Letter of Transmittal, an Option Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement or a
Warrant Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement, Sellers agree that:

(i) Parent, Buyer, the Surviving Corporation and each other Buyer Indemnified Party shall be able to rely conclusively on the
instructions and decisions of the Sellers’ Representative as to the determination of the Actual Closing Date Working Capital Amount or the settlement of any
claims for indemnification by any Buyer Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 9 hereof or any other actions required to be taken by the Sellers’ Representative
hereunder, and no Seller or party hereunder shall have any cause of action against Parent, Buyer, the Surviving Corporation or any other Buyer Indemnified Party
for any action taken by any such Person in reliance upon the instructions or decisions of the Sellers’ Representative;

(ii) all actions, decisions and instructions of the Sellers’ Representative shall be conclusive and binding upon all of the Sellers and no
Seller shall have any cause of action against the Sellers’ Representative for any action taken, decision made or instruction given by the Sellers’ Representative
under this Agreement, except for fraud or willful breach of this Agreement by the Sellers’ Representative;

(iii) the provisions of this Section 1.9 are independent and severable, are irrevocable and coupled with an interest and shall be
enforceable notwithstanding any rights or remedies that any Seller may have in connection with the Contemplated Transactions;
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(iv) the provisions of this Section 1.9 shall be binding upon the executors, heirs, legal representatives and successors of each Seller,
and any references in this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement to a Seller or Sellers shall mean and include the successors to Sellers’ rights hereunder, whether
pursuant to testamentary disposition, the laws of descent and distribution or otherwise;

(v) the Company Fees and Expenses shall include the sum of $500,000 to be paid to the Sellers’ Representative and to be used by the
Sellers’ Representative for the payment of all costs and expenses incurred by the Sellers’ Representative in connection with the exercise by it of the authority
granted to it herein (including reasonable attorney fees and expenses and the fees and expenses of any accountants or other professional advisors retained by the
Sellers’ Representative). From time to time after the Effective Time, Sellers’ Representative may distribute to Sellers, pro rata in accordance with their respective
ownership of all shares of Preferred Stock that are not converted at the Effective Time, plus the Fully Diluted Shares Outstanding immediately prior to the
Effective Time, such portion of such sum as the Sellers’ Representative reasonably determines will not be needed for the payment of future costs and expenses.
Any portion of such sum remaining after the final resolution of all claims asserted against, or asserted by or on behalf of, Sellers hereunder or under the Escrow
Agreement and the final distribution to Sellers of all monies that are or could be distributable to them hereunder or under the Escrow Agreement shall be
distributed to Sellers in their respective percentages based upon all shares of Preferred Stock that are not converted at the Effective Time, plus the Fully Diluted
Shares Outstanding; provided, however, that if the Sellers’ Representative incurs costs and expenses disproportionately due to a Seller’s breach of representations
and warranties made by such Seller in one of the Seller Deliveries, such breaching Seller shall reimburse the Sellers’ Representative for the additional costs and
expenses disproportionately incurred; and

(vi) they will indemnify and hold harmless the Sellers’ Representative, severally and not jointly, from and against any and all damages
which may at any time be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Sellers’ Representative in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, or any
related agreement or instrument or any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Sellers’ Representative under or in connection herewith, unless such damages
resulted solely from the bad faith of the Sellers’ Representative.

(f) All fees and expenses incurred by the Sellers’ Representative in excess of $500,000 shall be paid from any funds otherwise due to Sellers
(including from the Escrowed Amount, if any, after such amount is released to Sellers’ Representative) in proportion to their ownership of all shares of Preferred
Stock that are not converted at the Effective Time, plus the Fully Diluted Shares Outstanding as set forth in Section 2.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule
attached hereto and if no funds are available from the Escrowed Amount, then directly from Sellers pro rata in accordance with their respective ownership of all
Shares of Preferred Stock that are not converted at the Effective Time, plus the Fully Diluted Shares Outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.

1.10. Closing. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions provided for herein (the
“Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Alston & Bird LLP, 1201 West Peachtree Street, Atlanta, Georgia 30309, at 9:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on the second
business day following the satisfaction or
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waiver of all conditions to the obligations of the parties set forth herein (other than conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied on the Closing Date, subject to
such conditions being satisfied on the Closing Date), or at such other place, time or date as may be mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties (the “Closing
Date”). The Closing shall be deemed to have occurred at 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date (i.e., the Closing Date belongs to the Buyer).

1.11. Further Assurances. Following the Effective Time, the parties shall, and shall cause each of their Affiliates to, from time to time, execute and
deliver such additional instruments, documents, conveyances or assurances and take such other actions as shall be necessary, or otherwise reasonably requested,
to confirm and assure the rights and obligations provided for in this Agreement and render effective the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, or
otherwise to carry out the intent and purposes of this Agreement.

1.12. Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. In the event any certificates evidencing shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock or evidencing
Warrants or Options shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, the holder thereof shall be paid the merger consideration with respect to such lost, stolen or
destroyed certificates only upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the holder thereof in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent; provided, however, that
Parent may, in its sole discretion, require the delivery of a satisfactory indemnity, which indemnity shall require the posting of a bond or other collateral, unless
Parent determines that such bond or other collateral is not necessary.

1.13. Transfer Taxes. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration, and other similar transaction taxes and fees (including any penalties
and interest) (collectively, “Transfer Taxes”), if any, imposed solely and directly by reason of the Contemplated Transactions shall be paid by the Surviving
Corporation when due, and the Surviving Corporation will, at its own expense, file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all such
transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration, and other similar taxes and fees, and, if required by Applicable Law, the Sellers will join in the execution of
any such Tax Returns and other documentation.

1.14 Net Operating Losses. Any and all federal, state, local or foreign jurisdiction net operation losses (“NOLs”) available to the Company or its
Subsidiaries shall be retained solely for use by the Surviving Corporation along with all other tangible and intangible assets as of the Effective Time.

2. Representations of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to Parent and Buyer that the statements contained in this Section 2 are correct
and complete as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, except as set forth in the Company disclosure schedule attached hereto (the “Company Disclosure
Schedule”). The Company Disclosure Schedule will be arranged in paragraphs corresponding to the numbered and lettered paragraphs contained in this Section 2;
provided, however, that disclosure of any item in the Company Disclosure Schedule with respect to one paragraph of Section 2 shall be deemed disclosure both to
the referenced paragraph and to every other paragraph of Section 2 as to which the relevance of such item to such other paragraph of Section 2
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is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure (it being understood that to be so apparent it is not required that such other paragraph is cross-referenced;
provided, however, that the Company represents and warrants that it has made all reasonable efforts to specifically cross reference in the Company Disclosure
Schedule all sections where a particular disclosure qualifies or applies).

2.1. Organization, Qualification, and Power.

(a) Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction under which it has been organized, with full power and authority necessary to conduct its business as now being conducted, to own or use the
properties and assets that it purports to own or use.

(b) The jurisdictions under the laws of which each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company has been organized are listed in
Section 2.1(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign
entity and is in good standing under the laws of each state or other jurisdiction in which either the ownership or leasing of its properties or the nature or conduct
of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so qualified would not individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to be
material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(c) Except as set forth in Section 2.1(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor the Subsidiaries of the Company
owns any shares of capital stock, partnership (limited or general) interest, membership interest or other form of investment (either debt or equity) in any
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other form of business entity.

2.2. Authorization of Transaction; Enforceability; Notice.

(a) The Company has the full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the agreements contemplated herein
to which it is or will be a party (the “Company Ancillary Agreements”), to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and subject to obtaining the
Stockholders’ Approvals, to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. Subject to Section 5.5(b), the Company’s Board of Directors has (i) approved this
Agreement, the Company Ancillary Agreements, the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions and declared the Merger and this Agreement advisable,
(ii) resolved to recommend and has recommended that the Merger and this Agreement be approved and adopted by the Stockholders and (iii) directed that the
Merger and this Agreement be submitted to the Stockholders for approval and adoption. The Company’s Board of Directors has not withdrawn, rescinded or
modified such approval, declaration, recommendation or direction. The sole required approval of the Stockholders of this Agreement and the Merger is the
Stockholders’ Approvals. Subject to obtaining Stockholders’ Approvals, the execution, delivery and performance of the terms, conditions and obligations of this
Agreement and the Company Ancillary Agreements, including, without limitation, consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, have been duly authorized
and approved by all
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necessary corporate action. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of the
Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms and conditions, subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium, and other laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally from time to time in effect and to general equitable principles. When duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto at the
Closing, the Company Ancillary Agreements will constitute the valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in
accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium, and other laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally from time to time in effect and to general equitable principles.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 2.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company is not required to give any notice to, make any
filing with, or obtain any Consent of any Governmental Body in order to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.

2.3. No Conflict. Except as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the execution and the delivery of this Agreement or
the Company Ancillary Agreements by the Company, nor the performance of its obligations hereunder or thereunder, nor the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions, will directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both):

(a) require any notice to be given under, contravene, conflict with, or result in a violation of any provision of, or give any Governmental
Body or third party the right to challenge this Agreement, any Company Ancillary Agreement or any of the Contemplated Transactions or to exercise any remedy
or obtain any relief under, any Applicable Law or any judgment, decree or order of any Governmental Body by which the Company, any Subsidiary of the
Company or any of their respective assets are bound;

(b) contravene, conflict with, or result in a violation or breach of any provision of (i) the Certificate of Incorporation, bylaws or other
governing documents of the Company, (ii) any resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company (or any committee thereof) or the Stockholders or
(iii) the corresponding governing documents or resolutions of any Subsidiary of the Company;

(c) require any notice to be given under, contravene, conflict with, or result in a violation or breach of any provision of, or require the
Consent of any third party under, or give a third party the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy under, or to accelerate the maturity of or any
performance under, or to cancel, terminate, or modify, any Material Contract to which the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or any of their respective
assets are bound;

(d) result in the imposition or creation of any Lien upon or with respect to any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; or
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(e) require any notice to be given under, contravene, conflict with, or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any
Governmental Body the right to challenge, revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate, fail to renew or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is held by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or that otherwise relates to the business of, or any of the assets owned or used by, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

2.4. Capitalization.

(a) The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of thirty-seven million (37,000,000) shares of capital stock, consisting of (i) thirteen
million (13,000,000) shares of Class A Common Stock, (ii) seven million (7,000,000) shares of Class B Common Stock, and (iii) seventeen million
(17,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock. Of the Preferred Stock, nine million, fifty thousand (9,050,000) shares are designated as Series B Preferred Stock, five
hundred thousand (500,000) shares are designated as Series B-1 Preferred Stock, one hundred two thousand, eight hundred sixty-three (102,863) shares are
designated as Series C Preferred Stock, and one million, five hundred twenty-eight thousand, one hundred seventy-five (1,528,175) shares are designated as
Series D Preferred Stock. The issued and outstanding Common Stock and Preferred Stock of the Company as of the date hereof is set forth in Section 2.4(a) of the
Company Disclosure Schedule. All such issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock have been and on the Closing Date will be duly
authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and free of any pre-emptive or other similar rights, and have been offered, issued, sold and
delivered by the Company in material compliance with all applicable federal and state securities laws.

(b) Other than the options to purchase shares of Common Stock listed in Section 2.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (the
“Options”), the warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock listed in Section 2.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (the “Warrants”), the rights of the
holders of shares of Preferred Stock to convert such shares into shares of Common Stock, and the Company’s repurchase rights under the Management Restricted
Stock Agreement, there are not on the date hereof, and on the Closing Date there will not be, outstanding: (i) any options, warrants or other rights to purchase or
acquire from the Company any capital stock of the Company; (ii) any securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of such stock; (iii) any calls,
subscriptions, pre-emptive rights, agreements, arrangements, understandings or other commitments of any kind for the purchase or issuance of additional shares
of capital stock or options, warrants or other securities of the Company; or (iv) any “phantom stock” or similar obligations of the Company. The Options will be
converted into and exchanged for the right to receive the consideration for the Options specified in Section 1.5(d); the Warrants will be converted and exchanged
for the right to receive the consideration for the Warrants specified in Section 1.5(e); shares of Preferred Stock are convertible into shares of Common Stock as set
forth in Section 1.5 and in accordance with the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation; and certain shares of Common Stock will be repurchased by the Company
pursuant to the Management Restricted Stock Agreement.

(c) The capitalization and authorized and issued capital stock or other equity interests of each Subsidiary of the Company is described and
held, beneficially and of record, as set forth in Section 2.4(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity
interests of the Subsidiaries of the Company are duly
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authorized, validly issued, fully paid, non-assessable and free of any pre-emptive or similar rights with respect thereto and, except as set forth in Section 2.4(c) of
the Company Disclosure Schedule, all such shares are owned, of record and beneficially, by the Company or another wholly-owned (either direct or indirect)
Subsidiary of the Company free and clear of all Liens or limitations on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such shares. There are no options, warrants,
convertible or exchangeable securities, calls, subscriptions, pre-emptive rights or other rights to purchase or acquire from the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company, or other agreements or commitments of any character relating to, the issued or unissued capital stock or other securities of, or other equity interests in,
any Subsidiary of the Company. There are no agreements, arrangements, understandings, obligations or other commitments of the Company or any Subsidiary of
the Company to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold any shares of capital stock or other securities of, or other equity interests in, any
Subsidiary of the Company. There are no “phantom stock” or similar obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company with respect to any
Subsidiary of the Company.

(d) Except for the Management Restricted Stock Agreement and as set forth in Section 2.4(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither
the Company nor any of its Affiliates, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any Seller is a party to or is bound by any agreements, arrangements, commitments,
obligations or understandings with respect to the voting (including voting trusts and proxies) or sale or transfer (including agreements imposing transfer
restrictions) of any shares of capital stock or any other equity interests or securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in Section 2.4(d)
of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not granted any registration rights or adopted a rights agreement or “poison pill” anti-takeover plan with
respect to any equity security, partnership interest or similar ownership interest of any class of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(e) There are no holders of bonds, debentures, notes or other Indebtedness of the Company having the right to vote (nor holders of bonds,
debentures, notes or other Indebtedness of the Company convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities (equity, debt or otherwise) having the right to vote) on
the Merger, the other Contemplated Transactions or any other matters on which Stockholders may vote.

2.5. Title to Personal Property; Encumbrances; Leases; Condition and Sufficiency.

(a) Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company has good and marketable title to all items of tangible personal property owned by the
Company or such Subsidiary of the Company, as the case may be and material to the business and operation of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the
Company, taken as a whole (collectively, the “Personal Property”), free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Exceptions. A listing of the owned Personal
Property of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company is attached at Section 2.5(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; however, no certification is
made in regards to any owned Personal Property with individual values below $5,000 and leased Personal Property involving annual payments below $100,000.
All Personal Property held under lease by the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company is held by the Company or a Subsidiary of
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the Company under a valid and enforceable lease and neither the Company nor a Subsidiary of the Company is in default under or in breach of any such lease,
and, to the Company’s Knowledge, no event has occurred which with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would result in a default or breach by the
Company or a Subsidiary of the Company under such leases. No written notice has been given, or Proceeding asserted, adverse to the rights of the Company or
any Subsidiary of the Company under any such lease or affecting its rights to the continued use and possession of any such leased property. The Personal Property
owned, leased or used in the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company is in good operating condition and fit for use in the Ordinary Course
of Business, except for ordinary wear and tear and ordinary and routine maintenance and repairs. The rights, properties and assets owned by, or leased or licensed
to, the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company are sufficient in all material respects for the operation and conduct of the business as presently conducted
by the Company and such Subsidiaries.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 2.5(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has
(i) engaged in any risk-bearing or risk-sharing activities, in any capacity, including, without limitation, as a party to any Material Contract whereby the Company
or any of the Subsidiaries agrees (A) to return any portion of its Commissions already received to any Carrier based upon the loss ratios generated by any
insurance program that the Company or any of the Subsidiaries administers for such Carrier, (B) to participate in any underwriting gains or losses, and/or
(C) otherwise to bear any portion of the total insurance risk placed through any insurance program administered by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries for
any Carrier; or (ii) placed or provided any securities products or services for any Client Account. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the foregoing
description of activities shall not include arrangements or agreements with a Carrier for the receipt of Contingent Revenues.

2.6. Financial Statements.

(a) The Company has made available to Parent the audited consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of each of the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2012 (the “Audited Balance Sheets”) and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of the
Company for each of the fiscal years then ended (collectively, the “Audited Financial Statements”). The Company has also made available to Parent the unaudited
consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of April 30, 2013 (the “Current Balance Sheet”) and the related consolidated statements of operations and cash
flows of the Company for the four-month period then ended (collectively, the “Current Financial Statements”). The date of the Current Balance Sheet is referred
to herein as the “Current Balance Sheet Date.” The Audited Financial Statements, the Current Financial Statements and the interim financial statements (the
“Interim Financial Statements”) to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.3 hereof (collectively, the “Financial Statements”) have been (or, in the case of the Interim
Financial Statements, will be) prepared from the books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles applied as of the date the financial statements were prepared and applied consistently with past practices (“GAAP”) and fairly present the financial
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condition and results of operation of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the dates of, and for the periods covered by, such Financial Statements. The Audited
Financial Statements have been certified without qualification by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent public accountants. The Current
Financial Statements do not, and the Interim Financial Statements will not, include footnotes and are subject to customary year-end adjustments (the effect of
which will not, individually or in the aggregate, be material and adverse).

(b) The Company has established a system of internal accounting controls sufficient in all material respects to provide reasonable assurance
that: (i) transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorizations; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP; and (iii) that any unauthorized use, acquisition or disposition of the Company’s assets that would
materially affect the Company’s financial statements would be detected or prevented in a timely manner.

(c) Except as set forth in Section 2.6(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no Liabilities of the Company or the Subsidiaries of
the Company (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise and whether or not due) except (i) those reflected or otherwise reserved against in the Current
Balance Sheet, (ii) those Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business since the Current Balance Sheet Date, (iii) executory obligations under Contracts
to which the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company are party or under Governmental Authorizations held by the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company,
(iv) those Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business and not required to be shown on the Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP and
(v) Liabilities identified in another section of the Company Disclosure Schedule that are specifically cross-referenced in Section 2.6(c) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule.

(d) Except as set forth in Section 2.6(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company and its Subsidiaries do not have any
Indebtedness.

2.7. Books and Records. The books of account and other financial records of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company are complete and
correct in all material respects.

2.8. Compliance with Applicable Laws.

(a) Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company is in compliance in all material respects with, and has complied in all material
respects with, each Applicable Law, and has not received any notice alleging a material violation of any Applicable Law.

(b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any director, officer, agent, employee or affiliate
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are currently in breach of any Sanction.
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(c) The operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries are conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial record keeping and
reporting requirements and money laundering statutes in all jurisdictions in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries conduct business, the rules and
regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by any Governmental Body (the “Money
Laundering Laws”) and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or Governmental Body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries with respect to Money Laundering Laws is pending and, to the Company’s Knowledge, no such actions, suits or proceedings are threatened or
contemplated.

2.9. Description of Material Contracts. Section 2.9 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth each Contract to which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is a party, or by which any of their respective assets are bound, and that is described in any of the following subsections (each, a “Material
Contract”):

(a) collective bargaining agreement or other agreement with any labor union;

(b) Contract requiring an annual or lump-sum payment of $500,000 or more for the employment of any officer, individual employee or other
Person on a full-time or consulting basis or any severance agreements;

(c) Contract under which it is lessee of, or holds or operates, any personal property owned by any other party calling for payments in excess
of $500,000 annually and that cannot be terminated by the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company without penalty upon thirty (30) days’ notice or less;

(d) all Leases involving annual rent payments by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of $50,000;

(e) Contract with any Affiliate, or current or former officer or director, of the Company;

(f) Contract relating to the acquisition or disposition by the Company or its Subsidiaries of any assets outside of the Ordinary Course of
Business, any operating business or the capital stock of any other Person;

(g) Contract relating to the incurrence of Indebtedness (including any promissory note or debenture evidencing Indebtedness) or the making
of any loans or guarantees to or for the benefit of any other Person, in each case by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company;

(h) Contract (including mortgages, pledges, conditional sales contracts, security agreements, factoring agreements and other similar
agreements) pursuant to which any assets or properties of the Company or its Subsidiaries are subject to any Lien, other than Permitted Exceptions;
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(i) Contract (other than a Contract pursuant to which the Company or its Subsidiaries provides services in the Ordinary Course of Business)
containing any obligation or liability of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company to indemnify, defend or hold harmless any other Person or to contribute
to any damages suffered by any other Person or for which any other Person may be liable or to assume any tax, environmental or other Liability of any Person;

(j) Contract calling for payments in excess of $250,000 annually entered into outside of the Ordinary Course of Business;

(k) Contract (including any consent decree) containing covenants of the Company or of any Subsidiary of the Company not to compete in
any line of business or with any Person in any geographical area or covenants of any other Person not to compete with the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company in any line of business or in any geographical area;

(l) Contract with any Governmental Body (other than a Contract entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business);

(m) Contract that provides for any joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement with the Company or any Subsidiary;

(n) Contract pursuant to which Pool Management Services are provided to any Insurance Pool;

(o) Contract including the provision of Captive Management Services as described in Section 2.27 providing payments in excess of
$100,000 to the Company or its Subsidiaries for the Captive Management Services requirements of the Contract; or

(p) any other Contract that calls for payments in excess of $500,000 annually and that is material to the Company or its Subsidiaries.

Except as disclosed in Section 2.9 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) to the Company’s Knowledge, the other party to each Material Contract has
performed in all material respects all the obligations required to be performed by it in connection with such Material Contract, no Material Contract has been
breached or canceled by the other party and no event has occurred which with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would result in a default or
breach by the other party thereunder, (ii) each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company, as applicable, has performed in all material respects all the
obligations required to be performed by it in connection with any Material Contract and is not in default under or in breach of any such Material Contract, and, to
the Company’s Knowledge, no event has occurred which with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would result in a default or breach by the
Company or the Subsidiary of the Company thereunder, and (iii) each Material Contract is legal, valid, binding and enforceable, except to the extent
enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium and other laws affecting creditors’ rights, generally, and by
general equitable principles, is in full force and effect and, assuming all required Consents to assignment, sublease or other transfer of rights thereunder are
obtained, will continue as such following the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions.
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2.10. Legal Proceedings; Orders.

(a) All Proceedings (other than Proceedings to obtain workers’ compensation benefits) pending, or, to the Company’s Knowledge,
threatened, against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or relating to any of their respective businesses, assets and properties, are set forth in Section 2.10(a)
of the Company Disclosure Schedule. There is no pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened Proceeding: (i) that may reasonably be expected to be
material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or (ii) that challenges, or that may reasonably be expected to have the effect of preventing,
delaying, making illegal, or otherwise interfering with, any of the Contemplated Transactions.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 2.10(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there is no judgment, decree or order of any Governmental
Body to which the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties is subject (i) that may reasonably be expected to be material to the Company
and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (ii) that has, or could reasonably be expected to have, the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, or otherwise
interfering with, any of the Contemplated Transactions or (iii) that materially affects the conduct of the business as currently conducted. To the Company’s
Knowledge, no officer, director, agent, or employee of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company is subject to any judgment, decree or order of any
Governmental Body that prohibits such officer, director, agent, or employee from engaging in or continuing any conduct, activity, or practice relating to the
business of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company as currently conducted.

(c) For purposes hereof, “Proceeding” shall mean any action, arbitration, audit, investigation, litigation, or suit (whether civil, criminal,
administrative, investigative, or informal) commenced, brought, conducted, or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Body.

2.11. Tax Matters.

(a) Except as set forth in Section 2.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, all state and federal income Tax Returns and all other
material Tax Returns that the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company was required to file have been duly and timely filed or are subject to lawful and current
filing extensions set forth in Section 2.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. All such Tax Returns properly reflect all liabilities for Taxes for the periods
covered by such Tax Returns and otherwise are true, correct and complete in all material respects.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 2.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, all Taxes due and payable by the Company or any Subsidiary
of the Company, whether or not shown on any such Tax Return, have been timely paid in full. There are no Liens (other than Permitted Exceptions) on any of the
Company’s or Subsidiary of the Company’s assets in connection with any failure (or alleged failure) to pay any Tax by the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company.
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(c) Except as set forth in Section 2.11(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no deficiency, assessment or liability for any Taxes has been
proposed, asserted or assessed in writing by a Taxing Authority against the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, which deficiency, assessment or liability
has not been paid in full.

(d) Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company has timely withheld and timely paid over to the proper Taxing Authority all
Taxes required to have been withheld and paid by the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company in connection with any amounts paid or owing by the
Company or any Subsidiary of the Company to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder, or other third party.

(e) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any
extension of time with respect to an assessment or deficiency with respect to Taxes.

(f) Except as set forth in Section 2.11(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not been advised in writing, and does not
otherwise have Knowledge, that any foreign, federal, state, or local Tax audits or administrative or judicial Tax proceedings are pending or being conducted with
respect to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

(g) Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries of the Company is a party to or bound by, and has no obligation under, any Contract or
Employee Benefit Plan that has resulted or would reasonably be expected to result, individually or in the aggregate, in the payment of any “excess parachute
payment” within the meaning of Code §280G or any corresponding provision of state, local or foreign Tax law. Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries
of the Company has any indemnity or gross-up obligation for any taxes or interest imposed under Section 4999 or Section 280G of the Code. Neither the
Company nor any of the Subsidiaries of the Company has been a member of an affiliated group within the meaning of Code §1504(a) (other than an affiliated
group of which the Company is the common parent) filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return. Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries of the
Company has any liability for the Taxes of any Person or entity (other than the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company) under Reg. §1.1502-6 (or any
similar provision of state, local, or foreign law) as a transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise.

(h) The unpaid Taxes of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company for all periods or portions thereof ending on or before the date of
the Current Balance Sheet did not as of the Current Balance Sheet Date exceed the amount of the current liability accrual for Taxes (excluding reserves for
deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) set forth on the face of the Current Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes
thereto) and will not, as of the Closing Date, materially exceed such current liability accrual for Taxes as adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing
Date in accordance with the past custom and practice of the Company and its Subsidiaries in filing their Tax Returns.
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(i) No power of attorney granted by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company with respect to any Taxes is currently in force.

(j) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is or has been a party to any “listed transaction” or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other
“reportable transaction” as defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b).

(k) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from,
taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of (i) any installment sale or open transaction disposition made
on or prior to the Closing Date, (ii) any prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date, (iii) any change in method of accounting initiated prior to the
Closing by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any “closing agreement” as described in Code Section 7121(or any corresponding or similar provision
of state, local or foreign income Tax law) executed prior to the Closing.

(l) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has distributed stock of another Person, or has its stock distributed by another Person, in a
transaction occurring during the two year period ending on the date of this Agreement that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Code
Section 355 or Code Section 361.

(m) The Company has made available to Parent for inspection as of the date of this Agreement (i) complete and correct copies of all income
Tax Returns and all other Tax Returns of the Company and its Subsidiaries that have been filed as of the date of this Agreement and (ii) complete and accurate
copies of all letter rulings, revenue agent reports, material information document requests, notices of proposed deficiencies, deficiency notices, protests, petitions,
closing agreements, settlement agreements, pending ruling requests, and any similar documents, in each case, in the possession of the Company and any
Subsidiary, submitted by, received by or agreed to by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as of the date of this Agreement, in each case since
January 1, 2009, or that would apply to taxable periods thereafter.

(n) As used in this Agreement, (i) “Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return, or statement, and
any schedule, attachment, or amendment thereto, including, without limitation, any consolidated, combined or unitary return or other document (including any
related or supporting information), filed or required to be filed by any Taxing Authority in connection with the determination, assessment, collection, imposition,
payment, refund or credit of any federal, state, local or foreign Tax or the administration of the laws relating to any Tax, and (ii) “Tax” or “Taxes” means any and
all taxes, charges, fees, levies, deficiencies or other assessments including, without limitation, all net income, gross income, profits, gross receipts, excise, real or
personal property, sales, ad valorem, withholding, social security, retirement, excise, employment, unemployment, minimum, estimated, severance, stamp,
property, occupation, environmental, windfall profits, use, service, net worth, payroll, franchise, license, gains, customs, transfer, recording and other taxes
imposed by any Taxing Authority, together with any interest, penalties or additions to tax relating thereto.
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2.12. Employee Benefits.

(a) Section 2.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of each “Employee Pension Benefit Plan” as defined in Section 3(2)
of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), “Employee Welfare Benefit Plan” (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), plan
of deferred compensation, incentive plans, bonus plans or arrangements, stock option, stock purchase plan, golden parachute plans, medical plan, life insurance
plan, long-term disability plan, dental plan or other plan providing for the welfare of any of the Company’s or Subsidiary of the Company’s employees or former
employees or beneficiaries thereof currently maintained, sponsored or adopted by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or for which the Company or
any Subsidiary of the Company has any material liability (the “Employee Benefit Plans”). Except as set forth in Section 2.12(a) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule, each of the Employee Benefit Plans complies with and has been administered in all material respects with ERISA, the Code, and all other Applicable
Laws, agreements and instruments by which it is governed. All Employee Benefit Plans that are intended to be subject to Code Section 401(a) and any trust
agreement that is intended to be tax exempt have been determined by the Internal Revenue Service to be qualified under Code Section 401(a) and exempt from
taxation or the remedial amendment period for receiving such favorable determination from the Internal Revenue Service has not yet passed or is maintained
under a prototype or volume submitter plan and may rely upon a favorable opinion or advisory letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to such
prototype or volume submitter plan. No event has occurred that would reasonably be expected to cause such favorable determination to be revoked or any such
Employee Benefit Plan or its underlying trust to fail to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code. Except for routine claims for benefits, no litigation, claims or
disputes are pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan that could reasonably be expected to give rise
to a Company Material Adverse Effect. There are no proceedings, audits or investigations pending before the Internal Revenue Service, the United States
Department of Labor or other Governmental Authority with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan, nor to the Knowledge of the Company is any such proceeding
or investigation threatened. Neither the Company nor its ERISA Affiliates (as defined below) have at any time sponsored, contributed to, or been obligated under
Title I or Title IV of ERISA to contribute to a “defined benefit plan” (as defined in ERISA 3(35)). The Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company have
neither maintained in the past nor currently maintain an Employee Benefit Plan providing welfare benefits (as defined in ERISA Section 3(1)) to employees after
retirement or other separation of service except to the extent required under Part 6 of Title I of ERISA or Code Section 4980B or their successors or other
Applicable Law. Except as set forth in Section 2.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, and except for acceleration of the vesting of Options and the
payment of deferred compensation as set forth in Section 2.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor
the consummation of the Contemplated
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Transactions will (i) entitle any current or former employee or current or former director of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company to severance pay, or
any payment contingent upon a change in control or ownership of the Company, (ii) increase or enhance any benefits payable under any Employee Benefit Plan,
or (iii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or increase the amount, of any compensation due to any such current or former employee or current or former
director. For purposes of this Section 2.12, “ERISA Affiliate” shall mean any trade or business, whether or not incorporated, that together with the Company
would be deemed to be a single employer for purposes of Section 4001 of ERISA or Section 414 of the Code.

(b) There are no unpaid contributions due prior to the date hereof with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan that are required to have been
made under its terms and provisions, any related insurance contract or any Applicable Law. All group health plans have been operated in material compliance
with the requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and Part 6 of Title I of ERISA, the provisions of law enacted by the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996, and any similar state Applicable Law. Neither the Company nor any other “disqualified person” or “party in interest,” as defined in
Section 4975 of the Code and Section 3(14) of ERISA, respectively, has engaged in any material non-exempt “prohibited transaction,” as defined in Section 4975
of the Code or Section 406 of ERISA, with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan, nor have there been any fiduciary violations under ERISA by any employee of
the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, which could, to the Knowledge of the Company, subject the Company or any such Subsidiary (or any officer,
director or employee thereof) to any material penalty or tax under Section 502(i) of ERISA or Sections 4971 and 4975 of the Code. Seller has accrued for all
Employee Benefit Plans that constitute self-insured group health plans all claims that have been incurred and filed for reimbursement but not paid prior to Closing
Date.

(c) Complete copies of all Employee Benefit Plans have been made available to Parent and, to the extent applicable: (i) any related trust
agreement; (ii) all material employee communications (including all summary plan descriptions and summaries of material modifications); (iii) the most recent
determination, opinion or advisory letter received from the IRS for each Employee Benefit Plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code; (iv) the
coverage and nondiscrimination testing for the last three (3) years for each Employee Benefit Plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code and
(v) for the most recent plan year, the Form 5500 and attached schedules.

(d) Each Employee Benefit Plan that is a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” (as defined in Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code) to the
extent applicable, has been maintained in compliance in all material respects in both form and in operation with Code Section 409A, except where such non-
compliance may be corrected under IRS correction programs without any material liability to the Company, a Subsidiary or any of their employees. Neither the
Company nor any Subsidiary (i) has been required to report to any government or regulatory authority any corrections made or taxes due as a result of a failure to
comply with Section 409A or (ii) has any indemnity or gross-up obligation for any taxes or interest imposed or accelerated under Section 409A.
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(e) Neither the Company nor its ERISA Affiliates have had, at any time, an “obligation to contribute” (as defined in ERISA Section 4212) to
a “multiemployer plan” (as defined in ERISA Sections 4001(a)(3) and 3(37)(A)) or incurred a “complete or partial withdrawal” (as defined in ERISA Sections
4203 and 4205).

2.13. Environmental Matters; Environmental and Safety Laws. Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company is in compliance in all
material respects with, and has complied in all material respects with, each Environmental Law. The Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company have not
received any written notice or other written communication from (i) any Governmental Body, (ii) the current or prior owner or operator of any of the Company’s
or the Subsidiaries of the Company’s properties or facilities, or (iii) any other Person of any violation or failure to comply with any Environmental Law, or of any
obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Environmental, Health, and Safety Liabilities with respect to any of the Company’s or the Subsidiaries of the
Company’s properties or facilities, or with respect to any property or facility at or to which Hazardous Materials generated, manufactured, refined, transferred,
imported, used, or processed by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or any third party for whose conduct the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company is responsible, have been transported, treated, stored, handled, transferred, disposed, recycled, or received. To the Company’s Knowledge and except as
specifically listed in Section 2.13 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities.

2.14. Broker Fees. With the exception of fees payable to the Company Financial Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, all of which will be
set forth on the Third Party Payables Schedule, the Company has incurred no liability for any fee, commission or other compensation on account of the
employment of a broker or finder in connection with the Contemplated Transactions.

2.15. Governmental Authorizations. Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company has obtained all Consents, licenses, permits and
certificates from Governmental Bodies material and necessary to the conduct of their respective businesses as presently conducted (the “Governmental
Authorizations”). Section 2.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets for all such Governmental Authorizations. Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of
the Company is in material compliance with the terms and conditions of each such Governmental Authorization, has received no notice that it is in violation of
any of the terms or conditions of such Governmental Authorization, and has taken all necessary action to maintain such Governmental Authorization.

2.16. Labor Matters.

(a) Except as set forth in Section 2.16(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company is
in compliance with and since January 1, 2010 has complied with, in all material respects, all laws, rules and regulations relating to the employment of personnel
and labor (including, but not limited to, laws relating to the payment of wages and benefits, labor standards, non-discrimination, non-harassment, immigration,
workers’ compensation, worker safety, mass lay-offs and plant closures,
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unemployment, social security, application and employee background checking, verification of employment eligibility, employee leave and classification of
workers as employees and independent contractors). Except as set forth in Section 2.16(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and other than Proceedings to
obtain workers’ compensation benefits, there are no Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, reasonably expected or threatened, between the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any or all of their respective current or former employees, on the other hand, including, but not limited
to, any claims for salary, wages and other compensation (including commissions and bonuses), tax withholding and payroll deductions, severance, breach of
contract, wrongful termination, actual or alleged harassment, equal employment opportunity (including discrimination based on race, color, national origin, age,
sex, sexual orientation, marital status, religion, disability, veteran’s status, or any other recognized class, status or attribute under any Applicable Law prohibiting
discrimination), verification of eligibility for employment and immigration law compliance, invasion of privacy, defamation, intentional or negligent infliction of
emotional distress, interference with contract or interference with actual or prospective economic advantage, occupational safety and health, workplace injuries,
unfair labor practices, collective bargaining agreements (including claims, grievances or Proceedings thereunder) or any other matter relating to the employment
relationship or the termination thereof.

(b) The Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company have not experienced any labor strike, lockout, work stoppage, work interruption or
work slowdowns since January 1, 2008, and to the Company’s Knowledge, there is no reasonable likelihood of any labor strike, lockout, work stoppage, work
interruption or work slowdown.

(c) Except as set forth in Section 2.16(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company is
subject to any order, decree, settlement agreement or award requiring the payment by it to any employee, former employee or labor organization of any back
wages or other money damages in a material amount for any reason whatsoever, nor to the Knowledge of the Company is any such order, decree, or award
threatened or settlement agreement contemplated.

(d) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with all applicable Immigration Laws. Except as set forth in
Section 2.16(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2010, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries of the Company has been the
subject of any inspection or investigation relating to its compliance with or violation of the Immigration Laws, nor has the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
been fined, penalized, warned or received any other written notice of any failure to comply with the Immigration Laws. For purposes of this Section 2.16(d), the
terms “employee” and “employer” shall have the meanings ascribed to them by Section 274a.1 of Title 8, Code of Federal Regulations.

2.17. Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 2.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and correct list of all of the following that are owned or
licensed by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or that relate to or are used in the business of the Company or
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any Subsidiary of the Company: (i) patented or registered Intellectual Property and pending patent applications or other applications for registrations of
Intellectual Property; (ii) material unregistered trademarks, material unregistered service marks, trade names, corporate names, and Internet domain names;
(iii) computer software (other than commercially available off-the-shelf software purchased or licensed for less than a total annual cost of $25,000); and (iv) any
other material Intellectual Property (collectively, the “Business Intellectual Property”).

(b) Except as set forth in Section 2.17(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule: (i) the Business Intellectual Property does not infringe upon,
misappropriate or otherwise conflict in any material respect with, and the operation of the Company’s or any Subsidiary of the Company’s business as currently
conducted will not in any material respect infringe upon, misappropriate or otherwise conflict with, any Intellectual Property of any third party, and the Company
is not aware of any facts that indicate any reasonable likelihood of any of the foregoing; (ii) to the Company’s Knowledge, no third party has infringed,
misappropriated or otherwise conflicted with any of the Business Intellectual Property and the Company is not aware of any facts that indicate a reasonable
likelihood of any of the foregoing; (iii) the Company owns or holds a valid and subsisting license to use the Business Intellectual Property, free and clear of all
Liens, other than the terms of any related license agreement; and (iv) to the Company’s Knowledge as of the date hereof, no current or former employee, officer,
director, stockholder, consultant or independent contractor has notified the Company in writing of any right, claim or interest in or with respect to any Business
Intellectual Property.

(c) Except as set forth in Section 2.17(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has received written
notice during the past three (3) years alleging either the Company or a Subsidiary has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated the Intellectual Property
rights of any other Person.

(d) For purposes hereof, “Intellectual Property” shall mean (i) all inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced
to practice), all improvements thereto, and all patents, patent applications, and patent disclosures, together with all reissuances, continuations, continuations-in-
part, revisions, extensions, registrations and reexaminations thereof, (ii) all trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos, slogans, trade names, Internet domain
names and corporate names, together with all translations, adaptations, derivations, and combinations thereof and including all goodwill associated therewith, and
all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, (iii) all copyrightable works, all copyrights, and all applications, registrations, and renewals
in connection therewith, (iv) all mask works and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connections therewith, (v) all trade secrets and confidential
business information (including ideas, research and development, know-how, formulas, compositions, manufacturing and production processes and techniques,
technical data, designs, drawings, specifications, customer and supplier lists, pricing and cost information, and business and marketing plans and proposals),
(vi) all computer software (including source code, executable code, data and related documentation), (vii) all other proprietary rights, and (viii) all copies and
tangible embodiments thereof (in whatever form or medium).
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2.18. Real Property.

(a) Owned Real Property. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company owns any real property.

(b) Leased Real Property. Section 2.18(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the address of all real property leased or subleased
by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (the “Leased Real Property”). To the Knowledge of the Company, (i) all improvements on the Leased Real
Property materially conform to all requirements contained in the associated Lease and all Applicable Laws (including use restrictions, building codes and health
and safety codes) and (ii) there are no studies, reports or notices indicating that any of the improvements on the Leased Real Property are defective in design or
construction. There are no pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened condemnation, assessment, annexation or similar Proceedings affecting or
relating to the Leased Real Property, or any portion thereof, and, to the Company’s Knowledge, no such Proceedings are contemplated by any Governmental
Body. The Company and its Subsidiaries have all easements and rights in respect of the Leased Real Property necessary to conduct their respective business,
including easements for all utilities, services, roadway, railway (if any) and other means of ingress and egress to the Leased Real Property.

(c) Leases. Except as set forth in Section 2.18(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, with respect to each real property lease document,
including all amendments, extensions, renewals, guarantees and other agreements with respect to the lease (collectively, the “Leases”): (i) the Company’s (or any
of its Subsidiaries’) possession and quiet enjoyment of the Leased Real Property under such Lease has not been disturbed, and there are no disputes with respect
to such Lease and (ii) except for Permitted Exceptions, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any
Person the right to use or occupy such Leased Real Property or any material portion thereof.

(d) For purposes hereof, “Permitted Exceptions” means: (i) Liens for Taxes, charges and assessments imposed by any foreign, federal, state
or local government or other taxing authority which are not yet due and payable or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings listed in
Section 2.11(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, if reserves or other appropriate provisions, as shall be required by GAAP, shall have been made therefor;
(ii) Applicable Laws regulating the use or occupancy of the Leased Real Property and/or the character, dimensions or locations of the improvements on any
Leased Real Property, provided that there are no provisions of Applicable Law or violations of same which would prohibit use of the Leased Real Property for the
purpose for which it has been customarily used by the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company; (iii) exceptions created by the Company or a Subsidiary of the
Company after the date of this Agreement with the prior, written consent of Parent; (iv) Liens reflected on the Current Balance Sheet; (v) mechanics’, suppliers’,
installment sales and similar Liens for services rendered or materials furnished, the charges for which are not yet due and payable or which are being contested in
good faith by appropriate proceedings listed in Section 2.11(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, if reserves or other appropriate provisions, as shall be
required by GAAP,
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shall have been made therefor; (vi) defects or imperfections in title, easements or rights, and restrictions which do not materially interfere with the use of such
properties, as presently used by the Company or its Subsidiaries, the conduct of the business, as presently conducted by the Company and the Subsidiaries of the
Company, or the marketability or salability of such properties; (vii) Liens under any credit facility of the Company or the Subsidiaries of the Company which will
be released upon the Closing; (viii) Liens arising in connection with purchase money and equipment lease financing arrangements which do not exceed $50,000
of annual payments in the aggregate per lease; and (ix) exceptions listed in Section 2.18(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

2.19. Absence of Certain Developments. Except as set forth in Section 2.19 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2012, neither
the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has:

(a) amended its charter documents or bylaws;

(b) issued, delivered, sold, granted, pledged or otherwise disposed of or encumbered, or redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired or
granted negotiation rights with respect to, any shares of the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ capital stock or other equity interests, or bonds or other
securities or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares, other equity interests, voting
securities or convertible or exchangeable securities other than (i) shares of Common Stock issued to Optionholders in connection with the exercise of Options,
(ii) shares of Common Stock issued to Warrantholders in connection with the exercise of Warrants or (iii) shares of Common Stock issued upon the conversion of
the Preferred Stock;

(c) (i) split, combined or reclassified any of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ capital stock or other equity interests (including through the
declaration or payment of an in-kind dividend) or issued or authorized the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of
the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ capital stock or other equity interests or any of their other securities or (ii) purchased or redeemed any shares or other securities
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(d) suffered any damage, destruction or casualty loss, individually or in the aggregate, in excess of $50,000;

(e) to the Company’s Knowledge, suffered any theft, individually or in the aggregate, in excess of $10,000;

(f) incurred or become subject to any material liabilities or obligations, other than liabilities and obligations incurred in the Ordinary Course
of Business;

(g) subjected any portion of its material properties or assets to any Lien except for Permitted Exceptions;
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(h) sold, leased, assigned or transferred (including, without limitation, transfers to stockholders, directors, officers or employees) any
material portion of its tangible or intangible assets, except in the Ordinary Course of Business, or canceled without fair consideration any material debts or claims
owing to or held by it;

(i) suffered any extraordinary losses or waived any rights of material value;

(j) entered into any other material transaction other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, or materially changed any business practice;

(k) made or granted any bonus or any wage, salary or compensation increase to, or severance agreement with, any director, officer, employee
or sales representative, group of employees or consultant other than, in the case of employees, in the Ordinary Course of Business, or made or granted any
increase in the benefits under any Employee Benefit Plan or arrangement, or amended or terminated any existing Employee Benefit Plan or arrangement or
adopted any new Employee Benefit Plan or arrangement;

(l) made any other change in employment terms for any of its directors, officers, and employees, other than a change in employment terms
for any of its employees in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(m) conducted its cash management customs and practices other than in the Ordinary Course of Business (including, without limitation, with
respect to collection of accounts receivable, purchases of inventory and supplies, repairs and maintenance, payment of accounts payable and accrued expenses,
levels of capital expenditures and operation of cash management practices generally);

(n) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, made any capital expenditures or commitments for capital expenditures in excess of
$150,000 individually or $350,000 in the aggregate;

(o) made any loans or advances to, or guarantees for the benefit of, any third party;

(p) made any material change in accounting methods;

(q) made any capital investment in, any loan to, or any acquisition of the securities or assets of, any other Person;

(r) instituted or settled any Proceeding for more than $150,000;

(s) (i) made any Tax election or changed any Tax election, accounting method or annual Tax accounting period, (ii) settled or compromised
any liability for Taxes, (iii) entered into any Tax sharing, Tax indemnity or closing agreement, (iv) consented to any extension or waiver of the limitation period
applicable to any Tax, or any claim or assessment in respect of any Tax, with any taxing authority, or (v) filed (A) any Tax Return in a manner inconsistent with
past practice, or (B) any amended Tax Return or claim for a Tax refund;
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(t) created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed any Indebtedness (including, without limitation, obligations in respect of capital leases), other
than Indebtedness reflected on the Current Balance Sheet;

(u) made any cash payment (i) to any Related Person outside of the Ordinary Course of Business, (ii) outside of the Ordinary Course of
Business, or (iii) on or in respect of the capital stock or other equity interests of the Company (including dividends or other distributions), other than any of the
foregoing payments that will be reflected on the Third Party Payables Schedule as Company Fees and Expenses or that are made in accordance with the
Management Restricted Stock Agreement; or

(v) committed to do any of the foregoing.

2.20. Bank Accounts. Section 2.20 of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all bank accounts (designating each authorized signatory with respect
thereto) for the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company. Except as set forth in Section 2.20 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Person holds a power
of attorney to act on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has maintained any bank account or disbursed
any of their respective funds except as reflected in the normally-maintained books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

2.21. Insurance. The Company and its Subsidiaries maintain policies of insurance covering such risks, in such amounts and with such deductibles
and exclusions as are reasonable for the business transacted by the Company and its Subsidiaries and their respective businesses and assets. Section 2.21 of the
Company Disclosure Schedule lists all insurance policies of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company currently in place (including, carrier, premium
amount, deductible, term and coverage). Each such insurance policy is in full force and effect and the Company and its Subsidiaries are not in breach or default
under any such insurance policy (including without respect to the payment of premiums), and no event has occurred that, with notice or the lapse of time or both,
would constitute such a breach or default or permit termination, modification or acceleration under such policy. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries
has received any written notice from or on behalf of any insurance carrier issuing policies or binders relating to or covering the Company, its Subsidiaries or their
respective businesses or assets that there has been or will be a cancellation or non-renewal of any material existing policies.

2.22. Accounts Receivable. All accounts receivable shown on the Financial Statements represent, and the accounts receivable of the Company and
its Subsidiaries outstanding on the Closing Date will represent, sales actually made or services actually performed in the Ordinary Course of Business in bona fide
transactions, are not subject to any defenses, counterclaims, or rights of setoff other than those arising in the Ordinary Course of Business, and in accordance with
past practice, should be collectible in accordance with their terms at their recorded amounts, subject only to the reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable
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reflected on the Financial Statements as adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing Date in the Ordinary Course of Business. The reserves for
uncollectible accounts receivable reflected on the Financial Statements were established in accordance with GAAP and are adequate in light of all the facts then
known to the Company and were determined on a basis consistent with the Company’s historical methods and practices in establishing such reserves.

2.23. Transactions with Related Persons. Except as disclosed in Section 2.23 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (a) no Related Person has any
direct or indirect interest in any property (whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible) owned or leased by the Company or its Subsidiaries
or used in or pertaining to the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ business, (b) no Related Person is a party to any material Contract to which the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries are party or by which any of their respective assets are bound and (c) no Related Person is party to any material transaction with the Company or
its Subsidiaries or that pertains to the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries or has any interest in any property used in or pertaining to such business. For
purposes hereof, a “Related Person” means any officer or director of the Company, or any of their Affiliates (excluding limited partners of any such Affiliate).

2.24. Certain Payments. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any agent, employee, contractor or other
Person associated with or acting on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiaries (including any Person to whom the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company has
paid or is obligated to pay any referral fees) has, directly or indirectly, (a) used any corporate funds for unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other
unlawful expenses relating to political activity, (b) made any unlawful payment to foreign or domestic government officials or employees or to foreign or
domestic political parties or campaigns from corporate funds, (c) violated any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the Prevention
of Corruption Acts of 1889 and 1916, the UK Bribery Act 2010, or any other equivalent Applicable Law, or (d) made any bribe or unlawful rebate, payoff,
influence payment, kickback or other similar unlawful payment to any Person.

2.25. Guaranties. Except as set forth in Section 2.25 of the Company Disclosure Schedules, none of the Company of any of its Subsidiaries is a
guarantor or otherwise is liable for any Liability of any other Person.

2.26. Disaster Recovery. The Company and its Subsidiaries currently maintain, and have maintained, a plan with respect to disaster recovery
activities (the “Disaster Recovery Plan”) that is attached to Section 2.26 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. The Disaster Recovery Plan is current and
consistent with industry standards and is adequate to ensure that the technology and data of the Company and its Subsidiaries (the “Necessary Items”) can be
restored in all material respects notwithstanding the occurrence of any disaster, act of God, act of war, act of hostilities, any other force majeure event, the
achievement of any particular dates or any effects thereof (each, a “Force Majeure Event”). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, none of the computer
software, computer hardware (whether general or special purpose), telecommunications capabilities (including all voice, data and video networks) and other
similar or related items of automated, computerized, and/or software systems and any other
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networks or systems and related services that are used by or relied on by the Company and its Subsidiaries and that are material and necessary in the conduct of
their businesses (collectively, the “Systems”) (i) will become unavailable for more than three (3) Business Days due to any single Force Majeure Event, or
(ii) have experienced material bugs, failures, breakdowns, or continued substandard performance in the past 12 months that has caused any material and
substantial disruption or interruption in or to the use of any such Systems.

2.27. Certain Insurance Matters.

(a) All management services provided by the Company and its Subsidiaries to captive insurance companies were provided in material
compliance with Applicable Laws. Except as disclosed on Section 2.27(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and to the Company’s Knowledge, no material
deficiencies have been asserted by any Governmental Body with respect to reports, registrations, filings and submissions Company or its Subsidiaries has filed
with any insurance Governmental Body (including under any Applicable Laws) on behalf of the captive insurance companies it manages that have not been cured
or remedied to the satisfaction of the applicable insurance Governmental Body.

(b) With respect to each of the captive insurance companies managed by any of the Company and its Subsidiaries and to the Knowledge of
the Company, neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries has received any notice from any Governmental Bodies that a captive insurance company the Company or
its Subsidiaries manage does not hold all material required qualifications, registrations, filings, licenses, permits, certificates, Consents, approvals or
authorizations issued or granted by such Governmental Bodies to write the types of insurance products written by it and otherwise as necessary for the conduct of
its insurance businesses in each of the jurisdictions where the captive insurance companies managed by any of the Company and its Subsidiaries conducts or
operates its business (the “Captive Insurance Licenses”).

(c) To the Knowledge of the Company, all of the Captive Insurance Licenses for such captive insurance companies are valid and in full force
and effect and to the Knowledge of the Company, each of the captive insurance companies managed by any of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not the subject
of any pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened Proceeding for or contemplating the suspension, termination, modification, limitation,
cancellation, revocation, nonrenewal or impairment of its Captive Insurance Licenses except as set forth on Section 2.27(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
To the Knowledge of the Company, the captive insurance companies managed by the Company and its Subsidiaries (i) have each marketed, sold and issued
insurance products in compliance with Applicable Laws related to the domicile of the applicable captive (specifically excluding any Applicable Law related to
Taxes) in all material respects and (ii) are each in compliance in all material respects with each Applicable Law. To the Knowledge of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, no Proceeding or customer complaint has been filed with the insurance Governmental Bodies that would reasonably be expected to lead to the
revocation, failure to renew, limitation, suspension, restriction, or impairment of the ability of the Company or its Subsidiaries to perform its captive management
services.
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(d) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have, as part of the Captive Management Services, been engaged to assume decision
making responsibility for any (i) investment strategy or placement, (ii) Tax treatment (either by U.S. or foreign Taxing Authorities), (iii) formation of captive
entities, (iv) legal effect of formation or operation of a captive entity or (v) drafting or policy language.

(e) Company’s captive insurance company, Green Insurance Company Limited (“GICL”), is duly registered and authorized as (i) a Class 3
insurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act 1978, as amended, and related rules and regulations (the “Insurance Act”) and regulated by the Bermuda Monetary
Authority (“BMA”) and (ii) a segregated accounts company pursuant to the Bermuda Segregated Accounts Companies Act 2000 (the “SAC Act”) and its
operations are in material compliance with Applicable Laws, including those applicable to captive insurance companies and segregated accounts companies, and
no material deficiencies have been asserted by any Governmental Body with respect to GICL that have not been cured or remedied to the satisfaction of the
applicable insurance Governmental Body. GICL has at all times since the date it was acquired by the Company (1) conducted business in accordance with the
SAC Act, the Insurance Act and any direction issued to it by the BMA in all material respects, (2) duly complied with the SAC Act in all material respects,
(3) notified all of its clients and customers that they were contracting with a segregated account and the identity of the segregated account to which the transaction
relates, and (4) segregated the assets and liabilities of each segregated account from the general account maintained by GICL and from each other segregated
account of GICL, and the general account of GICL is not liable for any debts or liabilities incurred by any segregated accounts maintained by GICL.

2.28. Employee Obligations. The current obligation of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries for payments due to existing or former employees in
regards to vested payments for bonus payments, deferred compensation, or other rights to receive Shares or payments based on the value of Shares (“Employee
Obligations”) are set out in Section 2.28 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, which disclosure provides employee name, current estimated accrual as of
June 30, current projected amount of the obligation and the payment date of any such obligation.

3. Representations of Parent and Buyer.

Parent and Buyer represent and warrant to the Company and Sellers that the statements contained in this Section 3 are correct and complete as of the
date hereof and as of the Closing Date.

3.1. Organization and Authority. Parent is a corporation organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Florida, and
has all requisite power and authority to own its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted. Parent has full power to execute and deliver this
Agreement and the agreements contemplated herein to which it is or will be a party (the “Parent Ancillary Agreements”), and to consummate the Contemplated
Transactions. Buyer is a newly-formed corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, formed solely
for the purpose of engaging in the Contemplated Transactions, and has not engaged in any other business activities.
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3.2. Financial Strength. Parent has and will cause Buyer to have, sufficient capital to fund and close the Contemplated Transactions.

3.3. Authorization.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Parent Ancillary Agreements by Parent and Buyer, and the consummation by
Parent and Buyer of the Contemplated Transactions, have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action. This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally
binding obligations of Parent and Buyer, enforceable against Parent and Buyer in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganization,
insolvency, moratorium, and other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally from time to time in effect and to general equitable principles. When duly executed
and delivered by the parties thereto at the Closing, the Parent Ancillary Agreements will constitute the valid and legally binding obligations of Parent and Buyer,
enforceable against Parent and Buyer in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium, and
other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally from time to time in effect and to general equitable principles.

(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Parent Ancillary Agreements, and the consummation by Parent and
Buyer of the Contemplated Transactions, will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time or both: (i) violate the provisions of any Applicable
Laws; (ii) violate the provisions of Parent’s or Buyer’s organizational documents or bylaws, as applicable; (iii) violate any judgment, decree, order or award of
any Governmental Body which is binding on Parent or Buyer; or (iv) conflict with or result in the breach or termination of any term or provision of, or constitute
a default under, or cause any acceleration under, any Contract to which Parent or Buyer is a party or by which Parent or Buyer is or may be bound to the extent
that any of the foregoing has, or could reasonably be expected to have, the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, or otherwise interfering with, any of the
Contemplated Transactions.

3.4. Legal Proceedings. There is no Proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Parent or Buyer, threatened to which Parent or Buyer is subject that
has, or could reasonably be expected to have, the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, or otherwise interfering with, any of the Contemplated
Transactions.

4. Access to Information; Public Announcements.

4.1. Access to Management, Properties and Records.

(a) From the date hereof until the Closing Date, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall afford the officers, attorneys, accountants and other
authorized representatives of Parent and its Affiliates access upon reasonable advance notice and during normal business hours to all management personnel,
offices, properties, Contracts, books and records of the
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Company and its Subsidiaries, such rights of access to be exercised in a manner that does not unreasonably interfere with the operations of the Company and its
Subsidiaries. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall furnish to Parent such financial and operating data and other information as to the business of the Company
and its Subsidiaries as Parent shall reasonably request.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not be obligated pursuant to any
provision of this Agreement to provide access to any information that would cause the loss of attorney-client privilege with respect thereto.

4.2. Confidentiality. (a) The parties confirm and acknowledge the continuing obligations under that certain Mutual Nondisclosure Agreement by and
between Parent and the Company dated February 22, 2013 (the “Confidentiality Agreement”).

4.3. Public Announcements. The parties agree that prior to the Closing Date, except as otherwise required by Applicable Law or any listing
agreement with any national securities exchange, any and all general public pronouncements or other general public communications concerning this Agreement
and the Merger, and the timing, manner and content of such disclosures, shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Company, the Sellers’ Representative and
Parent, such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld by any party, and, with respect to any pronouncement or communication required by Applicable Law or
listing agreement with any national securities exchange, the party making such pronouncement or communication should provide a copy of such pronouncement
or communication to the other party prior to making such pronouncement or communication and provide such other party the opportunity to comment on such
pronouncement or communication and to consider in good faith any such comments.

5. Pre-Closing Covenants of the Company.

5.1. Conduct of Business. From and after the date hereof and until the Closing Date, except as otherwise required under this Agreement, or except to
the extent otherwise consented to by Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, provided Parent shall have discretion to consider the impact of any
and all actions and the impact of such actions on the value of the Company and its Subsidiaries to be acquired) or as disclosed in Section 5.1 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company shall:

(a) conduct the respective businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and maintain and operate their respective assets and Leased Real
Property, only in the Ordinary Course of Business and in material compliance with all Applicable Laws;

(b) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve the present business operations and organization of the Company and its Subsidiaries and
the goodwill of their suppliers, customers and others having business relations with them;
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(c) preserve, in accordance with past practices, all material rights, Business Intellectual Property, licenses, permits, Governmental
Authorizations, Consents and approvals and related registrations of its business, owned by it or in which it has any rights, to the extent of such rights;

(d) maintain the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries in good repair, order and condition (normal wear and tear expected) consistent
with current needs and not subject said assets to any material encumbrances of any kind except for Permitted Exceptions; and

(e) keep in full force all current insurance policies.

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent or Buyer, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’
operations prior to the Closing.

5.2. Absence of Material Changes. From and after the date hereof until the Closing Date, except as otherwise required under this Agreement or
except to the extent otherwise consented to by Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, provided Parent shall have full discretion to consider the
impact of any and all actions and the impact of such actions on the value of the Company and its Subsidiaries to be acquired) or as disclosed in Section 5.2 of the
Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall:

(a) take any action to amend its charter documents or bylaws;

(b) issue, deliver, sell, grant, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber, or redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire or grant negotiation
rights with respect to, any shares of the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ capital stock or other equity interests, or bonds or other securities or any securities
convertible into or exchangeable for, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares, other equity interests, voting securities or convertible or
exchangeable securities other than (i) shares of Common Stock issued to Optionholders in connection with the exercise of Options outstanding on the date hereof,
(ii) shares of Common Stock issued to Warrantholders in connection with the exercise of Warrants outstanding on the date hereof, (iii) shares of Common Stock
issued upon the conversion of the Preferred Stock, (iv) pursuant to the Management Restricted Stock Agreement, or (v) with respect to Appraisal Shares in
accordance with Section 1.5(i);

(c) incur any Liability (absolute or contingent), except Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business and pursuant to Contracts
described in clause (d) below;

(d) enter into any Contract outside of the Ordinary Course of Business (other than with respect to the Contemplated Transactions);
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(e) create, incur, assume or guarantee any Indebtedness (including, without limitation, obligations in respect of capital leases) except for
Indebtedness incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business not to exceed $50,000;

(f) (i) split, combine or reclassify any of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ capital stock or other equity interests (including through the
declaration or payment of an in-kind dividend) or issue or authorize the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of the
Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ capital stock or other equity interests or any of their other securities (except as otherwise permitted by this Agreement) or
(ii) purchase or redeem any shares or other securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than Appraisal Shares in accordance with Section 1.5(i) or in
accordance with the Management Restricted Stock Agreement;

(g) pledge or encumber, sell, assign, lease, license, dispose of or otherwise transfer any assets (i) that are material to the Company and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole (including any accounts, leases, contracts or Intellectual Property or any assets or the stock of any of its Subsidiaries) or (ii) outside
of the Ordinary Course of Business (in an amount not to exceed $100,000);

(h) cancel any rights, debts or claims, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(i) (i) except as contemplated by this Agreement, pre-pay any long-term debt, (ii) pay, discharge or satisfy any claims, liabilities or
obligations (absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise), except in the Ordinary Course of Business and in accordance with their terms, (iii) accelerate or delay
collection of notes or accounts receivable in advance of or beyond their regular due dates or the dates when the same would have been collected in the Ordinary
Course of Business or (iv) delay or accelerate payment of any account payable in advance of its due date or the date such liability would have been paid in the
Ordinary Course of Business;

(j) create any new Subsidiary, enter into any joint venture or partnership with any other Person or acquire the securities of, or invest in, any
other Person;

(k) enter into or consummate any agreement (as either buyer or seller) with respect to any acquisition (i) by merger or consolidation with, or
by the purchase of all or a substantial portion of the assets or any stock of, or by any other manner, any business or any corporation, partnership, joint venture,
limited liability company, association or other business organization or division thereof or (ii) of any assets, except in the case of purchases of assets in the
Ordinary Course of Business in an amount not to exceed $100,000 (in transactions not otherwise subject to subparagraph (i) of this Section 5.2(k);

(l) except as contemplated by this Agreement, make, accrue or become liable for any bonus, profit sharing or incentive payment, except for
accruals under existing plans, if any, or increase the rate of compensation payable or to become payable by it to any of its officers, directors or employees, other
than increases to employees in the Ordinary Course of Business;
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(m) change any of its accounting principles, procedures, methods or practices, except as required by GAAP upon notice to Parent;

(n) (i) except as required by Applicable Law, make or change any Tax accounting method or annual Tax accounting period, (ii) settle or
compromise any liability for Taxes, (iii) enter into any Tax sharing, Tax indemnity or closing agreement, (iv) consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation
period applicable to any Tax, or any claim or assessment in respect of any Tax, with any Taxing Authority, (v) except as required by Applicable Law, file (A) any
Tax Return in a manner inconsistent with past practice or (B) any amended Tax Returns or claim for a Tax refund, (vi) fail to file any federal or state income Tax
Return or any other material Tax Return when due (taking into account extensions if written notice thereof had been provided to Parent), (vii) fail to pay any Tax
when due, or (viii) fail to accrue any Tax in accordance with past practice;

(o) modify, amend, alter or terminate any Material Contract or knowingly waive, release or assign any material rights or claims under any
such Material Contract in a manner adverse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including any write-off or other compromise of any material accounts
receivable of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries), except, in each case, in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice;

(p) enter into, adopt or approve any new Employee Benefit Plan;

(q) modify, amend, alter or terminate any existing Employee Benefit Plan, whether or not listed in Section 2.12(a) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, except as may reasonably be required to comply with Applicable Law;

(r) except as contemplated by this Agreement, increase the rate of compensation or benefits of, or pay or agree to pay any benefit to
(including, but not limited to, severance or termination pay), present or former managers, directors, officers or employees, other than to employees in the
Ordinary Course of Business, or negotiate or enter into any collective bargaining agreement, or make any commitment with respect to collective bargaining or
recognition of any labor organization or bargaining unit;

(s) cancel, terminate or permit the lapse of any insurance policy naming it as a beneficiary or a loss payable payee without obtaining
comparable substitute insurance coverage;

(t) waive, release, assign, settle or compromise any claims or any litigation or arbitration other than in the Ordinary Course of Business in an
amount not to exceed $100,000;

(u) modify, amend or terminate, or waive, release or assign any rights or claims with respect to any confidentiality or standstill agreement to
which the Company is a party;
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(v) open or close any facility or office or enter into any new, or cease to operate in, exit or discontinue any existing, line of business or
business segment other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(w) except as contemplated by this Agreement, make any cash payment (i) to any Related Person outside of the Ordinary Course of Business
in an amount not to exceed $50,000, or (ii) on or in respect of the capital stock or other equity interests of the Company (including dividends or other
distributions), other than any of the foregoing payments that will be reflected on the Third Party Payables Schedule as Company Fees and Expenses;

(x) make or incur any capital expenditure other than in the Ordinary Course of Business in an amount not to exceed $50,000; or

(y) agree, whether in writing or otherwise, to do any of the foregoing.

5.3. Delivery of Interim Financial Statements. Within forty-five (45) days after the end of each month, the Company shall deliver to Parent the
internal income statement and balance sheet for the Company and its Subsidiaries for the month period then ended. Such internal income statement and balance
sheet will be prepared in a manner consistent with past practices.

5.4. Exclusive Dealing. None of the Company nor its Subsidiaries will, directly or indirectly, through any officer, director, employee, agent, broker,
investment banker, financial advisor or otherwise, (a) solicit, initiate or encourage submission of proposals or offers from any Person relating to an acquisition or
purchase of (i) any assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries outside of the Ordinary Course of Business, (ii) any equity, debt or other securities of the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) any merger, consolidation or business combination involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (each a “Potential
Transaction”), or (b) enter into any Contract with respect to a Potential Transaction or enter into any Contract requiring it to abandon, terminate or fail to
consummate the Merger or any other Contemplated Transactions; provided that the Company, its Subsidiaries and each of their respective Representatives may, in
response to an inquiry that was not the result of a material violation of this Section 5.4, inform the Person making such inquiry that the Company and its
Subsidiaries are bound by an agreement including a non-solicitation provision that prohibits discussions or negotiations subject to limited exceptions. The
Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce any existing confidentiality agreements relating to the Company and its Subsidiaries and not waive
any rights thereunder in making any such disclosure.

5.5. Submission of Vote for Merger.

(a) The Company shall submit this Agreement and the Merger to votes of the relevant groups of Stockholders to obtain the Stockholders’
Approvals as soon as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, in accordance with the DGCL and the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws.
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(b) The Board of Directors of the Company shall not withdraw, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Parent and Buyer the approval of
the Board of Directors of this Agreement, the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions or the recommendation that the Stockholders provide the
Stockholders’ Approval; provided, that prior to the receipt of the Stockholders’ Approval, the Board of Directors of the Company shall be permitted to (i) not
recommend to the Stockholders that they provide the Stockholders’ Approvals, or (ii) withdraw, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Buyer the
recommendation to the Stockholders that they provide the Stockholders’ Approvals, in each case, however, only if the Board of Directors determines in good
faith, in circumstances not involving a breach of the Agreement, after receiving the advice of counsel that the failure to do so would be inconsistent with its
fiduciary duties to the Stockholders under Applicable Law; and provided further, that this Agreement may be terminated and the Contemplated Transactions
abandoned by Parent if the Company fails to deliver the executed Written Consent to Parent by 9:00 A.M. Eastern time three (3) Business Days immediately
following the date of this Agreement.

(c) As promptly as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare an information statement accurately
describing in all material respects this Agreement (including the indemnification provisions hereunder and the appointment of the Sellers’ Representative), the
Merger and a request for a waiver of the applicable appraisals’ rights provisions of the DGCL (the “Information Statement”), and shall deliver the Information
Statement to all Sellers with rights to vote on the Merger, for the purpose of requesting their approval of this Agreement, the Merger and the other Contemplated
Transactions. The Company shall provide Parent with the reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the Information Statement (and any amendment or
supplement thereto).

(d) The Company agrees to take, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Investors to take, all action necessary to exercise
any drag along or similar rights with respect to any Stockholder that is a party to any Contract containing such rights and to use its commercially reasonable
efforts to cause such other Stockholders to comply with any such obligations thereunder.

5.6. Takeover Statutes. If any “fair price,” “moratorium,” “control share acquisition,” “business combination” or other anti-takeover law becomes
applicable to this Agreement, the Merger or the other Contemplated Transactions, the Company, Parent and Buyer and their respective Boards of Directors or
general partners shall take all necessary action to exempt this Agreement, the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions from, or if necessary to challenge
the validity or applicability of, any such laws and to otherwise ensure that the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions are consummated as promptly as
practicable upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement and otherwise act to eliminate or minimize the effects of such laws.
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5.7. Notification; Supplemental Disclosure.

(a) Between the date hereof and the Closing Date, the Company shall promptly notify Parent in writing of (i) any event constituting a
Company Material Adverse Effect and (ii) any material matter hereafter arising or discovered that, if existing or known on the date hereof, would have been
required to be disclosed on the Company Disclosure Schedule in order for the representations and warranties set forth in Section 2 to be true and correct as of the
date hereof.

(b) If any information provided by the Company pursuant to Section 5.7(a) shall disclose the existence or occurrence of a circumstance or
event that, alone or together with other previously disclosed or discovered circumstances or events, would prevent the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 from
being satisfied, Parent and Buyer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by written notice to that effect (specifying the basis for such termination) within
thirty (30) days after its receipt of such supplemental disclosure. No such disclosed information shall be deemed to amend the Company Disclosure Schedule as
of the date hereof.

5.8. Share Based Compensation or Earn-Out Payments. The Company shall reach agreement with those Persons entitled to receive Shares of the
Company after the Closing in consideration of deferred compensation, earn-out payments or other contractual obligations of the Company to convert any such
rights into the right to receive cash in lieu of such Shares. The Company shall not agree to provide cash in lieu of such Shares in an amount greater than such
Person would have received in Shares at the time of payment without the prior consent of Parent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, provided Parent
shall have discretion to consider the impact of any and all actions and the impact of such actions on the value of the Company and its Subsidiaries to be acquired.
At or prior to Closing, the Company shall provide to Parent a written consent (“Share Conversion Consent”) acknowledged by each such Person entitled to
receive Share based payments regarding conversion of such rights to an obligation to make such payment in cash.

6. Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Obtain Satisfaction of Conditions; Hart-Scott-Rodino Act Filings.

6.1. Commercially Reasonable Efforts. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Company, Parent and Buyer covenant and agree to use their
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the satisfaction of the conditions of the other parties specified in Section 7 and Section 8 of this Agreement.

6.2. Hart-Scott-Rodino Act Filings. Each of Parent and the Company shall promptly file any notification and report forms and related materials
required under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the “Hart-Scott-Rodino Act”), and shall make any further filings
pursuant thereto as may be necessary, proper or advisable in connection therewith, shall supply all information required in connection therewith and shall
cooperate with each other in responding to any such request. Parent and the Company shall each be responsible for one-half of the filing fees required to be paid
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act at the date of initial filing.
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7. Conditions to Obligations of Buyer and Parent. The obligations of Buyer and Parent to consummate the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions
under this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment, on the Closing Date, of the following conditions precedent, each of which may be waived in writing by
Parent, in the sole discretion of Parent:

7.1. Continued Truth of Representations and Warranties of the Company; Compliance with Covenants and Obligations. The representations and
warranties of the Company in this Agreement (i) that are set forth in Section 2.4 shall be true and correct in all respects on the date hereof and at and as of the
Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made as of such date, except for de minimis inaccuracies, (ii) that are not qualified by
materiality or Company Material Adverse Effect shall be true and correct in all material respects on the date hereof and at and as of the Closing Date as though
such representations and warranties were made as of such date, and (iii) that are qualified by materiality or Company Material Adverse Effect shall be true and
correct (without regard to any materiality, Company Material Adverse Effect or similar materiality qualifications set forth in any such representation or warranty)
in all respects on the date hereof and at and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made at and as of such date, other than
representations and warranties that expressly speak only as of a specific date or time, which shall be true and correct as of such specified date or time, and except
in each case where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct in all respects on the Closing Date have not resulted in and could not
reasonably be expected to result, individually or in the aggregate, in a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall have performed
and complied, in all material respects, with all terms, conditions, covenants, obligations, agreements and restrictions required by this Agreement to be performed
or complied with by each of them prior to or at the Closing Date.

7.2. Hart-Scott-Rodino Act; Governmental Approvals.

(a) All required filings under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act shall have been completed and all applicable time limitations under such Act shall
have expired without a request for further information by the relevant federal authorities under such Act, or in the event of such a request for further information,
the expiration of all applicable time limitations under such Act shall have occurred without the objection of such federal authorities.

(b) All Consents of Governmental Bodies which are necessary under any Applicable Law for the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions and are set forth on Section 2.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, shall have Consented to the Contemplated Transactions.

7.3. Adverse Proceedings. No Proceeding shall have been instituted by any Governmental Body or Person whatsoever which shall seek to restrain,
prohibit or invalidate the Contemplated Transactions.

7.4. Stockholders’ Approvals; Appraisal Shares. The Stockholders’ Approvals shall have been obtained by a written consent or vote of Stockholders,
and no more than 5% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock shall be Appraisal Shares.
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7.5. No Company Material Adverse Effect. There shall not have occurred or become known to Parent any change, event, violation or circumstance
that has caused or would reasonably be expected to cause a Company Material Adverse Effect.

7.6. Closing Deliveries. Parent shall have received at or prior to the Closing such documents, instruments or certificates as Parent may reasonably
request including, without limitation:

(a) certificates of the Company’s officers in customary form with respect to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in this Section 7;

(b) a certificate of the Secretary of the Company attesting to the incumbency of the Company’s officers, the authenticity of the Stockholders’
Approvals and the resolutions authorizing the Contemplated Transactions;

(c) a certificate, duly executed by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company, dated the Closing Date, to the effect that attached
thereto is a true and complete copy of the (A) applicable Organizational Documents for each of the Company and each Subsidiary, (B) certificate of good
standing or similar instrument for each of the Company and each Subsidiary from the jurisdiction of such entity’s incorporation, (C) resolutions of the Board of
Directors of the Company approving and authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the
Contemplated Transactions, and recommending this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the Contemplated Transactions, to the Stockholders for their
approval; and (D) resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company (1) terminating the Company’s 401(k) plan, if requested by Buyer or Parent prior to
Closing, and terminating any deferred stock plan, and other equity-based compensation plans in compliance with Code Section 409A, to the extent applicable,
with such termination, contingent upon the consummation of the Acquisition, to be effective before the Closing Date (the “Terminated Plans”), (2) providing that
no contributions shall be made to the Terminated Plans after the termination date except for (i) contributions that have been accrued on behalf of the plan
participants prior to the termination date; (ii) contributions made on behalf of the plan participants that are based on service performed prior to the termination
date; (iii) any corrective contributions necessary to effectuate the plan termination; or (iv) repayments for loans issued prior to the termination date, (3) if
appropriate under applicable Law or the terms of the Terminated Plans, directing the Company’s legal counsel to apply for a determination letter from the IRS
with respect to the termination of the Terminated Plan, and (4) terminating or transferring any life insurance policies procured by the Company for its benefit on
the lives of any Stockholders or any directors or officers of the Company, together with any agreements to provide any such life insurance policies at the expense
of the Company;

(d) as and to the extent requested by Parent in writing no later than five (5) Business Days before the Closing, resignation letters from the
directors and officers of the Company and each Subsidiary, effective as of the Closing;

(e) the stock record book, minute book and seal (if any) of each of the Company and each Subsidiary (such delivery shall be deemed to have
occurred if the stock record book, minute book and seal (if any) of the Company or a subsidiary are located on the premises of the Company or at the offices of
counsel to the Company or to such Subsidiary);
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(f) evidence of the payment of the Company Fees and Expenses and Indebtedness, as provided in Section 1.6(f), including the Payoff Letters,
which letters provide for the release of all Liens relating to such repaid Indebtedness immediately upon satisfaction of the terms contained in the Payoff Letters;

(g) a statement, in a form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, issued by the Company pursuant to sections 1.1445-2(c)(3) and 1.897-2(h) of the
Treasury Regulations, certifying that the capital stock of the Company is not a U.S. real property interest;

(h) delivery of all Option Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgments and Warrant Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgments;

(i) delivery of the Share Conversion Consent;

(j) copy of the Non-Compete Agreement duly executed and delivered by each the parties listed on Schedule 7.6(j);

(k) copy of the Non-Solicitation Agreement duly executed and delivered by each of the parties listed on
Schedule 7.6(k);

(l) copy of the Modified Non-Compete Agreement duly executed and delivered by each of the parties listed on Schedule 7.6(l);

(m) the Key Employee Agreements duly executed and delivered by the employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries set forth on Schedule
7.6(m);

(n) the Release executed by the Investors and the Principal Stockholders;

(o) evidence, in form reasonably acceptable to Parent, of receipt of all required Consents set forth in Schedule 7.6(o);

(p) the Closing Statement, executed by the Sellers’ Representative;

(q) a copy of the Escrow Agreement duly executed and delivered by the Escrow Agent and Sellers’ Representative;

(r) evidence, in form reasonably acceptable to Parent, that all financial obligations (other than those set forth on Schedule 7.6(r)) owed to any of
the Company or any Subsidiary by any Stockholder or any Affiliate, director, or officer of the Company have been paid in full prior to Closing; and

(s) evidence, in form reasonably acceptable to Parent, of the Company’s arrangement to purchase the Required Tail Coverage.
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8. Conditions to Obligations of the Company. The obligations of the Company to consummate the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions under
this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment, on the Closing Date, of the following conditions precedent, each of which may be waived in writing in the sole
discretion of the Sellers’ Representative, who shall have the power and authority to bind the Sellers:

8.1. Continued Truth of Representations and Warranties of Parent and Buyer; Compliance with Covenants and Obligations. The representations and
warranties of Parent and Buyer in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects on the date hereof and at and as of the Closing Date as though
such representations and warranties were made on and as of such date, except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true on and as of the
Closing Date would not reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse effect on Parent’s or Buyer’s ability to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.
Parent and Buyer shall have performed and complied, in all material respects, with all terms, conditions, covenants, obligations, agreements and restrictions
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by them prior to or at the Closing Date.

8.2. Corporate Proceedings. All corporate and other proceedings required to be taken on the part of Parent and Buyer to authorize or carry out this
Agreement shall have been taken.

8.3. Hart-Scott-Rodino Act; Governmental Approvals.

(a) All required filings under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act shall have been completed and all applicable time limitations under such Act shall
have expired without a request for further information by the relevant federal authorities under such Act, or in the event of such a request for further information,
the expiration of all applicable time limitations under such Act shall have occurred without the objection of such federal authorities.

(b) All Consents of Governmental Bodies which are necessary under any Applicable Law for the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions and are set forth on Section 2.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, shall have Consented to the Contemplated Transactions.

8.4. Adverse Proceedings. No Proceeding shall have been instituted by any Governmental Body or Person whatsoever which shall seek to restrain,
prohibit or invalidate the Contemplated Transactions.

8.5. Stockholders’ Approvals. The Stockholders’ Approvals shall have been obtained.

8.6. Closing Deliveries. The Company shall have received at or prior to the Closing the following documents, instruments and certificates:

(a) certificates of Parent’s and Buyer’s officers in customary form with respect to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in this Section 8;
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(b) (i) a certificate of the Secretary of State of the State of Florida as to the active status of Parent and (ii) a certificate of the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware as to the legal existence of Buyer in the State of Delaware;

(c) a certificate of the Secretary of Parent attesting to the incumbency of Parent’s officers, the authenticity of the resolutions authorizing the
Contemplated Transactions and the Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws of Parent;

(d) a certificate of the Secretary of Buyer attesting to the incumbency of Buyer’s officers, the authenticity of the resolutions authorizing the
Contemplated Transactions and the Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws of Buyer;

(e) evidence of the payment of the Merger Consideration owed under Section 1 hereof, the payment of Indebtedness pursuant to the Payoff
Letters, and payment of the Stockholder Loans through reduction of the Merger Consideration otherwise owed to any Stockholder by the amount of principal and
interest owed under any Stockholder Loan; and

(f) a copy of the Escrow Agreement, duly executed and delivered by Parent, and evidence of the payment of the Escrowed Amount to the
Escrow Agent.

9. Indemnification.

9.1. Of Buyer Indemnities. Parent, Buyer and each of their officers, directors, members, stockholders, partners, successors (including the Surviving
Corporation following the Closing), Affiliates (including the Subsidiaries of the Company following the Closing), assigns and Representatives (collectively, the
“Buyer Indemnified Parties”) shall be indemnified, defended and held harmless (including by reimbursement for Losses) as and to the extent provided for herein
and in the Escrow Agreement, out of the Escrowed Amount and up to the Aggregate Cap, for all Losses suffered or incurred by the Buyer Indemnified Parties, or
any of them, in connection with, based upon, arising from, or relating to, each and all of the following:

(a) any misrepresentation or breach of any representation or warranty made by the Company in Section 2 of this Agreement;

(b) any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement required to be performed by the Company or its
Subsidiaries prior to or at the Closing;

(c) any amounts in excess of the Per Share Price, if any, required to be paid to holders of Appraisal Shares that do not otherwise qualify as a
Company Fee and Expense, including any interest required to be paid thereon and the costs and expenses, including the reasonable fees and expenses of
attorneys, accountants and other professionals incurred in connection with the determination of such amount required to be paid;
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(d) without duplication, (i) any Third Party Payable that is not set forth on the Third Party Payables Schedule, and (ii) any Indebtedness
outstanding after the Closing Date;

(e) any Pre-Closing Taxes of the Company and its Subsidiaries (except to the extent such Taxes were included as a Liability in the
calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount), including the Tax indemnification set forth in Section 10.4(c) of this Agreement;

(f) the amount of Aged Net Receivables outstanding at six (6) months from the Closing Date as set forth on the Final Aged Net Receivables
Report following Parent’s and the Surviving Corporation’s post-Closing efforts set forth in Section 10.7 of this Agreement; and

(g) subject to Section 10.8, the amount of any transition costs for transition employees in excess of $95,000 (“Transition Costs”).

9.2. Of the Seller Indemnities. Sellers and each of their officers, directors, members, stockholders, partners, Affiliates, assigns and Representatives
(collectively, the “Seller Indemnified Parties”) shall be indemnified, defended and held harmless (including by reimbursement for Losses) by Parent and Buyer
(including the Surviving Corporation, as successor to Buyer after the Effective Time), as and to the extent provided for herein, in an amount, in the aggregate, up
to the Aggregate Cap (except as set forth herein), for all Losses suffered or incurred by the Seller Indemnified Parties, or any of them, in connection with, based
upon, arising from, or relating to, each and all of the following:

(a) any misrepresentation or breach of any representation or warranty made by Parent or Buyer in Section 3 of this Agreement; and

(b) any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement required to be performed by (i) Parent or Buyer prior
to, at or after the Closing, or (ii) by the Surviving Corporation after the Closing.

9.3. Claims for Indemnification. Whenever any claim shall arise for indemnification under this Section 9, the party entitled to indemnification (the
“Indemnified Party”) shall promptly notify the party obligated to provide indemnification under this Section 9 (the “Indemnifying Party”) of the claim and, when
known, the facts constituting the basis for such claim, but the failure to provide such notice shall not affect the Indemnified Party’s right to indemnification
hereunder except, and then only to the extent, the Indemnifying Party was actually and materially prejudiced by such failure to give notice. In the event of any
such claim for indemnification hereunder resulting from or in connection with any Proceeding by a third party, the notice shall specify the amount or an estimate
of the amount of the liability arising therefrom, if known.
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9.4. Third-Party Claims. In connection with any claim which may give rise to indemnity hereunder resulting from or arising out of any Proceedings
by a Person other than the Indemnified Parties, the Indemnifying Party may, upon written notice to the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days of receipt of
notice under Section 9.3(a), assume the defense of any such Proceeding (at the sole expense of the Indemnifying Party) if and only if (a) the Indemnifying Party
acknowledges its obligation to indemnify the Indemnified Party for any Losses resulting from such Proceeding, (b) the Proceeding does not seek to impose any
liability on the Indemnified Party other than for monetary damages and (c) where a Buyer Indemnified Party is the Indemnified Party, the Proceeding does not
relate to a Buyer Indemnified Party’s relationship with its customers or employees. If the Indemnifying Party is entitled to assume, and assumes, the defense of
any such Proceeding, the Indemnifying Party shall select counsel reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party to conduct the defense of such Proceedings and
shall take all steps reasonably necessary in the defense or settlement thereof. The Indemnifying Party shall not consent to a settlement of, or the entry of any
judgment arising from, any such claim or Proceeding, the defense of which has been assumed by the Indemnifying Party, without the prior written consent of the
Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). The Indemnified Party shall be entitled to participate in (but not
control) the defense of any such Proceeding, with its own counsel and at its own expense. If the Indemnifying Party is not entitled to assume, or does not assume
within thirty (30) days after the date such claim is made, the defense of any such claim or Proceeding: (i) the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to defend against
such claim or Proceeding and shall have the right to undertake all steps in the defense or settlement thereof; provided that the Indemnified Parties shall not
consent to a settlement of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, any such claim or Proceeding, without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), and (ii) the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to participate in (but not control) the
defense of such action, with its counsel and at its own expense. If the Indemnifying Party thereafter seeks to question the manner in which the Indemnified Party
defended such third party claim or the amount or nature of any such settlement, the Indemnifying Party shall have the burden to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that the Indemnified Party did not defend or settle such third party claim in a reasonably prudent manner.

9.5. Survival of Representations; Claims for Indemnification. All representations and warranties made by the Company in Section 2 hereof, and all
representations and warranties made by Parent and Buyer in Section 3 hereof, shall survive the Closing and any investigation at any time made by or on behalf of
the Buyer Indemnified Parties until 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time eighteen (18) months following the Closing Date, unless prior to such time a claim is asserted in
writing and identified as a claim for indemnification based upon the good faith belief of the party making such claim that a bona fide breach of any of such
representations and warranties has occurred; provided, however, that (a) the representations and warranties made by the Company in Section 2.16 hereof shall
survive the Closing and any investigation at any time made by or on behalf of the Buyer Indemnified Parties until 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time two (2) years following
the Closing Date, (b) all representations and warranties made by the Company in Section 2 hereof and all representation and warranties made by Parent and Buyer
in Section 3 hereof that, in either case, are included in the definition of “Special Matter” shall survive the Closing and any investigation at any time made by or on
behalf of the Buyer Indemnified Parties until 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on December 15, 2015, unless prior to such times a claim is
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asserted in writing and identified as a claim for indemnification based upon the good faith belief of the party making such claim that a bona fide breach of any of
such representations and warranties has occurred. All covenants and agreements herein that by their terms extend past the Closing shall survive the Closing
without limitation as to time; provided, however, that except for the indemnification obligations set forth in Sections 9.1(a) and 9.2(a) related to breaches of
representations and warranties which survive for the limited periods described above, the other indemnification obligations set forth in Sections 9.1, 10.4 and 10.5
shall only survive the Closing and any investigation at any time made by the Buyer Indemnified Parties until 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on December 15, 2015.

9.6. Limits.

(a) None of the Buyer Indemnified Parties nor the Seller Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to indemnification with respect to Losses under
Section 9.1 until the aggregate amount of all Losses under such Sections equals or exceeds $500,000.00 (the “Threshold Amount”), at which time such
Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to indemnification for all Losses in excess of the Threshold Amount.

(b) The maximum aggregate amount that either the Buyer Indemnified Parties or the Seller Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to receive as
indemnity for all Losses under Section 9.1 or Section 9.2, respectively, shall not exceed the Escrowed Amount remaining in escrow at the time a claim is properly
made (the “Aggregate Cap”). Any liability under Section 9.1 shall be satisfied to the extent of the Aggregate Cap exclusively out of the Escrowed Amount as
provided in the Escrow Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Aggregate Cap shall not limit the obligation of the Buyer to pay the Merger Consideration
at the Closing.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Buyer Indemnified Parties nor the Seller Indemnified Parties shall be subject to the limits set
forth in (a) above with respect to any Losses incurred by either of the Indemnified Parties with respect to or as a result of any Special Matter or, in regards to the
Buyer Indemnified Parties, with respect to reimbursement of Aged Net Receivables, Transition Costs or Mississippi Pre-Closing Tax Liabilities.

(d) With respect to any representation or warranty that contains a materiality qualifier (including “material” and “in all material respects”),
such materiality qualifier shall be deemed to have been satisfied and a breach of such representation or warranty shall be deemed to have occurred if the aggregate
Losses arising from such breach or series of related breaches equals or exceeds $100,000. Solely for purposes of determining the amount of Losses actually
incurred by a Buyer Indemnified Party, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 2 shall be read without giving effect to any materiality, Company
Material Adverse Effect, or similar materiality qualification set forth therein.

9.7. Losses. Except in respect of a third party claim, in no event shall any Indemnified Party be entitled to indemnification under this Agreement for
any Losses in the nature of punitive, incidental or consequential damages. Each of the Indemnified Parties and the
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other parties to this Agreement shall use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue all legal rights and remedies available in order to minimize the Losses for
which indemnification is provided to it under this Section 9. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, no Buyer Indemnified Party, including the
Surviving Corporation as successor in interest to Buyer, shall be entitled to recover under this Section 9 for Losses for any item (a) that is specifically included in
the calculation of the Merger Consideration Deductions and taken into account to reduce the amount of the Merger Consideration, solely to the extent of such
reduction, or (b) to the extent such item specifically caused the payment of a working capital adjustment pursuant to Section 1.8 hereof, solely to the extent of
such adjustment. The preceding sentence is intended only to avoid a Buyer Indemnified Party receiving duplicate payments for a Loss.

9.8. Insurance Proceeds and Third Party Payments.

The amount of Losses recoverable by any Indemnified Party under this Section 9 with respect to an indemnity claim shall be reduced by any amount actually paid
to such Indemnified Party (or an Affiliate thereof), with respect to the Losses to which such indemnity claim relates, from an insurance carrier or a third party,
including any amount actually paid from any third party from which the Company has contractual indemnification rights. Each of the Indemnified Parties shall
use reasonable commercial efforts to pursue, and to cause its Affiliates to pursue, all insurance claims and claims against third parties to which it may be entitled
in connection with any Losses incurred, and the Sellers’ Representative and the Surviving Corporation shall cooperate with each other and with such other
Indemnified Parties in pursuing such claims with respect to any Losses or any indemnification obligations with respect to Losses. If any Indemnified Party (or an
Affiliate thereof) receives any insurance or third party payment in connection with any claim for Losses for which it has already received an indemnification
payment pursuant to this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement, it shall pay to the Indemnifying Party, within thirty (30) days of receiving such insurance or third
party payment, an amount equal to the excess of (A) the amount previously received by such Indemnified Party under this Section 9 with respect to such claim
plus the amount of the insurance or third party payments received, over (B) the amount of Losses with respect to such claim which such Indemnified Party has
become entitled to receive under this Section 9.

9.9. Exclusive Remedy. (a) The indemnification provisions set forth in this Section 9 will be the sole and exclusive remedy of the parties to this
Agreement with respect to any and all claims relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and (b) recourse by the disbursement of funds through the Escrow
Agreement shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of the Buyer Indemnified Parties with respect to claims covered by this Section 9.

9.10. Errors and Omissions and Employment Practices Liability Extended Reporting (“Tail”) Coverage.

(a) On or before the Closing Date, the Company will arrange to purchase, at the Company’s expense (to be treated as Company Fees and
Expenses hereunder), extended reporting period (“tail”) coverage extensions for each of the Company’s professional liability (E&O) insurance policy and
employment practices liability (EPL) insurance policy (each and collectively, the “Required Tail Coverage”).
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The Required Tail Coverage shall extend for a period of at least five (5) years from the Effective Time, shall have the same limits and deductibles currently in
effect, and shall otherwise be in form reasonably acceptable to Parent. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the endorsement or policy evidencing the
Required Tail Coverage shall not contain an “other insurance” or similar provision that purports to make the Required Tail Coverage excess rather than primary
and non-contributory coverage as to any error or omission or EPL occurrence arising before later of the Closing Date and the Effective Time (an “Excess
Coverage Provision”). If the Required Tail Coverage is procured as an endorsement to the Company’s existing E&O insurance policy or EPL insurance policy,
and the existing policy contains an Excess Coverage Provision, the Required Tail Coverage endorsement shall amend the existing policy to (i) remove the Excess
Coverage Provision and (ii) state expressly that the Required Tail Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory as to any error or omission or EPL occurrence
arising before the Effective Time.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is the parties’ intent that, subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 9: (i) as between the
Required Tail Coverage and any coverage that might be available under Parent’s policies, the Required Tail Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory;
(ii) Parent may seek indemnity from the Escrowed Amount for any deductibles or retentions under the Required Tail Coverage (“Required Tail Deductible”) to
the extent permitted under this Section 9.

(c) After the Closing, with respect to any Action that names or otherwise involves the Company, Parent, the Surviving Corporation, or their
Affiliates as to which defense and/or coverage may be available for the Company, the Surviving Corporation, Parent or their Affiliates under the Required Tail
Coverage, Parent may, at its option and sole discretion, directly pay any applicable Required Tail Deductible under the Required Tail Coverage to the appropriate
Carrier and seek indemnity for such Required Tail Deductible pursuant to this Section 9. Nothing in this Section 9.11 shall limit or affect the parties’ indemnity
rights and obligations under Section 9.1.

9.11. Tax Treatment. The parties agree (a) to treat all payments made under this Section 9 as adjustments to the aggregate consideration paid
hereunder, (b) that appropriate adjustments shall be made in calculating the amount of any Losses for which indemnification is sought under this Section 9 to take
account of any net Tax benefit that will actually be realized for the year of the Loss by the Surviving Corporation related to the payment or incurrence of any item
giving rise to such Loss.

10. Post-Closing Agreements.

10.1. Indemnification of Officers and Directors. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall obtain a directors and officers liability insurance
policy (the cost of which shall be a Company Fee and Expense) with coverage for post-Effective Time periods for the benefit of any Person who was an officer,
director or manager of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or who served as a fiduciary of any Employee Benefit Plan maintained by the Company
or any Subsidiary of the Company (the “Post-Closing D&O Policy”).
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10.2. Release of Sellers, Directors and Officers. In consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration, effective at the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation hereby releases Sellers and the directors, managers, and officers of the Company and the
Subsidiaries of the Company serving prior to Closing for any and all actions taken or omitted to be taken by them in connection with the conduct of the business
of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company for any and all periods prior to the Closing and agree not to assert any Proceedings against any of them for
any such actions, whether in their capacities as officers, managers, directors or controlling parties of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company; provided,
however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to modify, impair or limit the rights of Buyer Indemnified Parties against Sellers with respect to any claim arising
under or in connection with this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions.

10.3. Employee Matters. Parent will cause the Surviving Corporation to continue the employment of those employees of the Company and the
Subsidiaries of the Company agreed upon in writing between the Company and Buyer who are employed on the date prior to the Closing Date (the “Continuing
Employees”) at the same wage and salary levels as in effect thereon. Parent will cause the Surviving Corporation to provide to the Continuing Employees
employee benefits, including medical, dental, disability, severance, and 401(k) plan benefits as it shall determine in its sole discretion. Subject to the provisions of
any written employment agreement, nothing contained in this Section will preclude Parent or the Surviving Corporation at any time after the Closing Date from
terminating in its discretion the employment of any Continuing Employee, or from amending or terminating any Employee Benefit Plan; provided, however, that
the Surviving Corporation shall bear all costs (including costs associated with severance benefits, back pay, civil penalties, or benefits coverage under an
Employee Benefit Plan) incurred as a result of any such termination. This Agreement shall not affect the “at will” employment of any employee of the Company
or its Subsidiaries and does not constitute an agreement to employ any Person or provide any level of wages, salary or benefits to any Persons for any duration.

10.4. Tax Matters.

(a) Pre-Closing Tax Period Tax Returns. The Sellers’ Representative shall prepare or cause to be prepared and timely file each Tax Return to
be filed by or on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries after the Closing Date which applies to any Pre-Closing Tax Period. The Sellers’ Representative shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to Parent, no later than thirty (30) days (or in the case of income Tax Returns, forty-five (45) days) prior to the due
date for filing (or such shorter period agreed to by the Sellers’ Representative and Parent), such Tax Return in final form, and Parent will have the right to review
and comment on each such Tax Return and will make such revisions to such Tax Return to the extent relating to a Pre-Closing Tax Period as are reasonably
requested by Parent, if received at least five (5) days (or, in the case of income Tax Returns, twenty (20) days) prior to the due date for filing (or such later date
agreed to by the Sellers’ Representative and Parent). If Parent does not deliver to the Sellers’ Representative its dispute (described in the previous sentence)
within the permitted time periods (as described in the previous sentence), then the relevant Tax Return shall be deemed to be finally determined and the Sellers’
Representative shall be entitled to file such Tax
 

- 55 -



Return. If Parent does deliver its dispute to the Sellers’ Representative within the requisite time period, the Sellers’ Representative and Parent agree to consult and
to resolve in good faith any issue arising as a result of the review of such Tax Returns and to mutually consent to the filing of such Tax Returns as promptly as
possible. To the extent required by the terms of Sections 9.1(e) and 10.4(c) of this Agreement, payable from the Escrowed Amount remaining in escrow at the
time a claim is properly made as described in Section 9.6(b) of this Agreement, the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to receive as indemnity any Taxes
shown as due by the Company and its Subsidiaries on the Tax Returns described in this Section 10.4(a) (and excluding such Taxes included as a liability in the
calculation of the Working Capital Amount and net operating losses deductible against the income giving rise to any Pre-Closing Taxes). No Buyer Indemnified
Party shall be entitled to any indemnification under Sections 9.1(e) and 10.4(c) of this Agreement with respect to any Tax Claim arising in connection with any
amendment of any Tax Return of the Company or any Subsidiary for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or any Straddle Period, or the making of any Tax election that
has retroactive effect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, in each case absent the prior written consent of the Sellers’ Representative with respect to such amendment
or election and as otherwise in accord with Sections 10.4 and 10.5 herein.

(b) Preparation of Tax Returns.

(i) All Tax Returns referred to in (a) will be prepared in a manner consistent with the prior practice of the Company and its
Subsidiaries unless otherwise required by Applicable Law.

(ii) Parent will prepare or cause to be prepared all Tax Returns of the Company and its Subsidiaries for periods commencing after the
Closing Date and will be responsible for paying any Taxes shown as due on such Tax Returns (subject to the indemnification provisions hereunder).

(c) Tax Indemnification. Without duplication and subject to Section 9 as it applies to Tax matters, in addition to claims for indemnification
by the Buyer Indemnified Parties under Section 9 of this Agreement relating to Tax matters, the Buyer Indemnified Parties will be indemnified and held harmless,
against all Losses reasonably incurred, suffered or sustained by them, directly or indirectly, arising out of, as a result of, or with respect to or in connection with:

(i) all Losses attributable to (A) all Taxes (or the non-payment thereof) of the Company and its Subsidiaries for all taxable periods
ending on or before the Closing Date and the portion through the end of the Closing Date for any taxable period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing
Date (“Pre-Closing Tax Period”), (B) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries (or any predecessor of any of the foregoing) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date, including pursuant to Treasury Regulation
Section 1.1502- 6 or any analogous or similar state, local, or foreign law or regulation, and (C) any and all Taxes of any Person (other than the Company and its
Subsidiaries) imposed on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a transferee or successor, by contract (other than any contract the only parties of which are the
Company and its Subsidiaries) or pursuant to any law, rule, or regulation, which Taxes relate to an event or transaction occurring before the Closing; and
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(ii) in the case of any taxable period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”), (A) the amount of any
Taxes based on or measured by income or receipts of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be determined based on an interim
closing of the books as of the close of business on the Closing Date (and for such purpose, the taxable period of any entity classified for U.S. federal income tax
purposes as a partnership or disregarded entity in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries holds a beneficial interest shall be deemed to terminate at such
time); provided, however, that exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (such as the deductions for depreciation and real estate
taxes) will be apportioned to the Pre-Closing Tax Period in a manner consistent with the methodology described in clause (A) hereof, (B) the amount of Delaware
franchise taxes for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be determined using the proration method that is applicable in Delaware upon the amendment to the
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation changing the Company’s authorized number of shares of capital stock, and (C) the amount of other Taxes of the Company
and its Subsidiaries for a Straddle Period that relates to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire taxable period
multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the taxable period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the
number of days in such Straddle Period. If any party (the “Paying Party”) pays or has paid a Tax for which the other party (the “Non-Paying Party”) is responsible
pursuant to the apportionment set forth in this Section 10.4, the Paying Party shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Non-Paying Party, unless such payment
was taken into account in the calculation of the Working Capital Amount.

(d) Satisfaction of Claims. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, (A) this Section 10.4 and Section 10.5 shall govern
the procedures for all contests, defenses and indemnification obligations related to or attributable to Tax Claims, and (B) Sections 9, 10.4 and 10.5 shall govern
the procedures for all contests, defenses and indemnification obligations for Claims relating to Tax Matters that are not Tax Claims.

(e) Section 338 Election. No election under Section 338(g) of the Code, or any similar provision of state, local or foreign law, may be made
with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the Contemplated Transactions without the Seller Representative’s written consent (on
behalf of Sellers).

(f) Transaction Tax Benefits. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties agree that the expenses and other costs
incurred by the Company in connection with the Contemplated Transactions shall be reported on applicable income Tax Returns as income Tax deductions of the
Company, the Surviving Corporation or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, for a Pre-Closing Tax Period and shall not be treated or reported as income Tax deductions
for a Post-Closing Tax Period (including under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-76(b)(1)(ii)(B) or any comparable or similar provision under state or local
Applicable Law) unless otherwise required by Applicable Law. Unless otherwise requested by
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the Sellers’ Representative, Parent shall cause the Company or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, to make an election under IRS Revenue Procedure 2011-
29 to treat seventy percent (70%) of any success-based fees that were paid by or on behalf of the Company or the Surviving Corporation as an amount that did not
facilitate the Merger and therefore as deductible in a Pre-Closing Tax Period for U.S. federal income Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Applicable Law.

(g) Conflicts. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Section 9, on the one hand, and Sections 10.4 and 10.5, on the other
hand, the provisions of Sections 10.4 and 10.5 shall govern.

10.5. Cooperation on Tax Matters; Tax Claims.

(a) Cooperation on Tax Matters. Each of Parent and the Sellers’ Representative will cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested
by the other Party, in connection with the filing of all Tax Returns and any audit, litigation or other claim with respect to Taxes (including the provision of
appropriate powers of attorney). Such cooperation will include the retention and (upon the other Party’s request) the provision of records and information that are
reasonably relevant to any such audit, Tax Return, litigation or other claim and using commercially reasonable efforts to make employees available on a mutually
convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Parent agrees to retain all books and records with respect
to Tax matters pertinent to the Company and its Subsidiaries relating to any taxable period beginning before the Closing Date until the expiration of the statute of
limitations of the relevant taxable periods (and any extensions thereof), and to abide by all record retention agreements entered into with any Governmental Body.

(b) Amendment and Filing of Certain Pre-Closing Tax Returns. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, except as may
be required by Applicable Law, neither Parent nor any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Company and its Subsidiaries) may amend any Tax
Return with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries for any Pre-Closing Tax Period (including a Straddle Period) without the prior written consent of the
Sellers’ Representative (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(c) Notice of Tax Claims. If Parent or any of its Affiliates receives any notice of a pending or threatened Tax audit, assessment, or adjustment
relating to the Company or its Subsidiaries which may give rise to an indemnification obligation of the Sellers hereunder (a “Tax Claim”), Parent will notify the
Sellers’ Representative within ten (10) Business Days of the receipt of such notice. The failure to so notify the Sellers’ Representative shall not relieve the
Sellers’ Representative of its obligations hereunder, except to the extent such failure shall have adversely prejudiced the Sellers’ Representative or to the extent
the survival periods stated herein have lapsed.
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(i) With respect to any Tax Claim that relates to one or more taxable periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date, the Sellers’
Representative shall have thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice of a Tax Claim to assume the conduct and control, through counsel reasonably acceptable to
Parent and at the expense of the Sellers’ Representative, of the settlement or defense thereof (to the extent relating to the taxable periods ending on or prior to the
Closing Date), and Parent shall cooperate with the Sellers’ Representative in connection therewith; provided that the Sellers’ Representative shall permit Parent to
participate in (in the manner described in clause (iii) below), but not control, such settlement or defense through counsel chosen by Parent (the fees and expenses
of such counsel shall be borne by Parent) and further provided that the Sellers’ Representative shall not pay or settle such Tax Claim (or portion thereof) without
the prior written consent of Parent, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If (A) the Sellers’ Representative does not notify Parent within thirty
(30) days after the receipt of the Sellers’ Representative’s notice of such Tax Claim hereunder that it elects to undertake the defense thereof, or (B) the Sellers’
Representative elects in writing not to conduct the defense and settlement of such Tax Claim, Parent shall have the right to contest and defend the claim but shall
not thereby waive any right to indemnity therefor pursuant to Section 10.4(c). In such case, the Sellers’ Representative will reimburse Parent periodically (but not
more than once each calendar quarter) for the reasonable cost of any third-party expenses (if any) incurred to defend against the portion of such Tax Claim
relating to the taxable periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date, which amounts shall be treated as Losses. If the Sellers’ Representative does not conduct the
defense and settlement of a Tax Claim, Parent shall not pay or settle such Tax Claim without the consent of the Sellers’ Representative (which shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(ii) With respect to any Tax Claim that relates to a Straddle Period, Parent and the Sellers’ Representative shall jointly control the
resolution and defense thereof and shall keep each other informed on a regular basis regarding the status of any such Tax Claim. Parent and the Sellers’
Representative will separately be responsible for their own fees and expenses incurred in the settlement and defense of such Tax Claim. Neither Parent nor the
Sellers’ Representative shall pay or settle any such Tax Claim without the prior written consent of the other party, with such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld, delayed or conditioned. Additionally, clause (i) above shall apply to the Pre-Closing Tax Period portion of the Straddle Period.

(iii) For purposes of clause (i) above, if Parent or the Sellers’ Representative elects to participate in the settlement or defense of a Tax
Claim pursuant to clause (i), such party will have the right to (A) participate in the defense of the Tax Claim with counsel selected by it (at its own cost), (B) be
kept reasonably informed on a timely basis of all material communications relating to the Tax Claim (other than privileged communications), including e-mails
and filings, (C) be consulted on all material decisions relating to the defense of the Tax Claim, including suggesting strategic approaches to the defense, which
suggestions the controlling party shall consider in good faith, (D) participate in meetings with Governmental Bodies with respect to the Tax Claim, and (E) review
and comment on drafts of material submissions (including settlement proposals) to Governmental Bodies (with such drafts and comments being provided on a
timely basis).
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10.6. Covenant Regarding Post-Closing Payments. Parent and the Surviving Company shall honor and pay all post-closing payment obligations
listed on Schedule 10.6, in accordance with their terms.

10.7. Covenant Regarding Aged Net Receivables. With respect to all Aged Net Receivables, the Parent covenants and agrees to do the following:

(a) Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall use commercially reasonable efforts to collect all accounts receivable and premiums
receivable, and to pay all premiums payable, in a manner consistent with the policies and practices used by the Company prior to Closing in the collection of its
own accounts and premiums receivable and premiums payable, a brief description of which policies and practices has been provided to the Sellers’
Representative prior to the date hereof;

(b) Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cancel any premium payable associated with a
premium receivable determined to be uncollectible after ninety (90) days;

(c) The Buyer Indemnified Parties shall offset any negative account or premium receivable against a positive account or premium receivable
associated with the same client in determining the Aged Net Receivables. Examples of the mechanics for offsetting the receivables and payables is attached
hereto as Schedule 10.7(c); and

(d) During the period from the Closing Date until six (6) months following the Closing Date, Parent shall forward to the Sellers’
Representative on a monthly basis a detailed report identifying the status of the Aged Net Receivables and such other information reasonably requested by the
Sellers’ Representative related to the Aged Net Receivables, including a final detailed report as of the date that is six (6) months from the Closing Date
identifying all Aged Net Receivables collected during such six (6) month period and all Aged Net Receivables that remain outstanding after such six (6) month
period no later than five business days after the end of such six (6) month period (the “Final Aged Net Receivables Report”).

10.8 Transition Costs Agreement. Company and Parent have agreed upon certain transition costs as set forth on Schedule 10.8, which identifies the
names of certain Company employees and the length of time they will remain as employees of the Surviving Corporation after the Closing. Additional transition
costs will not be deemed to be Transition Costs unless they are consented to by Sellers’ Representative. Sellers’ Representative will not unreasonably withhold,
delay or condition its consent for up to a maximum of three months total transition time for any individual set forth on Schedule 10.8 based on the representations
of Dan Donovan and Steve Denton.
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11. Termination of Agreement.

11.1. Termination by Lapse of Time.

(a) This Agreement may be terminated and the Contemplated Transactions abandoned by Parent if the Closing does not occur on or before
5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on October 1, 2013 (the “Termination Time”), unless the failure of such occurrence is due to the failure of Parent or Buyer to perform or
observe their respective agreements as set forth in this Agreement required to be performed or observed at or before the Closing.

(b) This Agreement may be terminated and the Contemplated Transactions abandoned by the Company if the Closing does not occur on or
before the Termination Time unless the failure of such occurrence is due to the failure of the Company to perform or observe their respective agreements as set
forth in this Agreement required to be performed or observed at or before the Closing.

11.2. Termination by Agreement of the Parties. This Agreement may be terminated and the Contemplated Transactions abandoned at any time prior
to the Closing by the mutual written agreement of the Company, Parent and the Sellers’ Representative.

11.3. Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Closing Date, Parent and Buyer may, to the extent legally allowed, extend the time for the
performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the Company, waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the Company contained
herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and waive compliance with any of the agreements of the Company or the conditions to the obligations of
Parent and Buyer contained herein. Any agreement on the part of a party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written
instrument signed on behalf of such party. The failure of any party to this Agreement to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not
constitute a waiver of such rights.

11.4. Availability of Remedies at Law. In the event of termination of this Agreement as provided in this Section 11, this Agreement shall
immediately become void and there shall be no liability or obligation on the part of Parent, Buyer, or the Company to consummate the transactions provided for
herein; provided, however, that (a) no such termination shall relieve any party hereto from liability for damages arising out of or with respect to the breach of this
Agreement by such party prior to such termination and (b) the Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and survive any termination of this
Agreement.

12. Brokers.

12.1. For the Company. The Company represents and warrants that, other than Macquarie Capital (USA) Inc. (the “Company Financial Advisor”)
pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, no Person, firm or corporation has acted in the capacity of broker or finder on its behalf to bring about the negotiation of this
Agreement. All fees, expenses and other compensation owed to the Company Financial Advisor, or any such other broker or finder, shall be Company Fees and
Expenses and shall be paid pursuant to Section 1.6(f).
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12.2. For Buyer. Parent agrees to pay all fees, expenses and compensation owed to any Person, firm or corporation who has acted in the capacity of
broker or finder on its behalf or on behalf of any Affiliate thereof (other than the Company or the Surviving Corporation) to bring about the negotiation of this
Agreement. Parent agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Sellers against any claims or liabilities asserted against them by any Person acting or claiming to act as
a broker or finder on behalf of Buyer or any of its Affiliates.

13. Notices. Any notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be sufficiently given if delivered personally or sent by UPS or
other reliable overnight courier or facsimile transmission addressed as follows or to such other address of which the parties may have given notice:
 

 

To Buyer or Parent:

  

Brown & Brown, Inc.
220 S. Ridgewood Avenue
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
Attn: Robert W. Lloyd, General Counsel
Facsimile: (386) 239-7293   

 

Post-Closing, to the Sellers’ Representative or Sellers,
or before Closing to the Company:   

BC Sellers’ Representative LLC
Attn: Dan Donovan   

 

With a copy to:

  

Alston & Bird LLP
One Atlantic Center
1201 West Peachtree Street
Atlanta, GA 30309
Attn: Teri L. McMahon
Facsimile: 404-253-8190   

Unless otherwise specified herein, such notices or other communications shall be deemed received and become effective for all purposes at the time it shall have
been (a) delivered, if delivered personally or transmitted by overnight mail or (b) delivered by facsimile or other electronic means with evidence of a non-
automated answer back or call back. Any party may change its address or add or delete recipients for purposes hereof by notice to all other parties.

14. Successors and Assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement may be assigned or delegated, in
whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties, and any such assignment
without such prior written consent shall be null and void; provided, however, that Parent or Buyer may, without the consent of the Company, assign any of its
rights and interests under this Agreement as security to any lender or financial institution providing financing for the Contemplated Transactions, which
assignment will not relieve either party from their respective obligations hereunder. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon,
inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Nothing in this Agreement will create or be
deemed to create any third party beneficiary rights in any person or other legal entity not party to this Agreement (except for the Indemnified Parties with respect
to claims under Section 9 and the release of Sellers, directors and officers under Section 10.2).
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15. Entire Agreement; Amendments; Attachments.

(a) This Agreement, all Schedules and Exhibits hereto, all agreements and instruments to be delivered by the parties pursuant hereto, and the
Confidentiality Agreement represent the entire understanding and agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all
prior oral and written and all contemporaneous oral negotiations, commitments and understandings among such parties. Parent and the Company may amend or
modify this Agreement, in such manner as may be agreed upon, by a written instrument executed by Parent and the Company, and such amendment or
modification shall be binding on all parties to this Agreement.

(b) If the provisions of any Schedule or Exhibit to this Agreement are inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of
the Agreement shall prevail. The Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto or to be attached hereafter are hereby incorporated as integral parts of this Agreement.

(c) With regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this Agreement, time is of the essence.

16. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to that jurisdiction, be ineffective
solely to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability, without affecting in any way the remaining provisions hereof in such jurisdiction or rendering
that or any other provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any other jurisdiction.

17. Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of
the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of law thereof. Parent, Buyer, the Company and the Surviving Corporation hereby submit and
consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court located in the State of Delaware (and any court having jurisdiction of appeals therefrom), and
agree that all actions or proceedings relating to this Agreement shall be litigated in such courts (including the appropriate appellate courts), and Parent, Buyer, the
Company and the Surviving Corporation waive any objection which they may have based on improper venue or forum non conveniens to the conduct of any such
action or proceeding in such courts. Process in any action or proceeding referred to in this Section 17 may be served on any party anywhere in the world.

18. Section Headings; Currency. The section headings are for the convenience of the parties and in no way alter, modify, amend, limit, or restrict the
construction of this Agreement or the contractual obligations of the parties. All references to currency or dollar amounts in this Agreement shall be to lawful
currency of the United States of America.
 

- 63 -



19. Counterparts; Electronic Signature. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but
all of which shall be one and the same document. This Agreement may be executed by facsimile, photo or electronic signature and such facsimile, photo or
electronic signature shall constitute an original for all purposes.

20. Expenses. Except as otherwise provided herein, each of the parties shall bear its own expenses and the expense of its counsel and other agents in
connection with preparation, negotiation and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions.

21. Remedies. Except as otherwise provided herein (including, without limitation, in Section 9 hereof), any and all remedies herein expressly conferred
upon a party shall be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby, or by Applicable Law or equity, upon such party, and the
exercise by a party of any one remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other remedy. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the
event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly
agreed that, whether prior to or following the Closing Date, the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and
to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement, this being in addition to any other remedy to which the parties are entitled by Applicable Law
or in equity.

22. Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE
TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT TO ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH
THIS AGREEMENT OR THE CONTEMPLATED TRANSACTIONS OR DISPUTES RELATING HERETO OR THERETO. EACH PARTY (A) CERTIFIES
THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH
OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT
IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL
WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 22.

23. Waiver of Conflict. Each of the parties to this Agreement hereby agrees, on its own behalf and on behalf of its directors, members, partners, officers,
employees and Affiliates, that Alston & Bird LLP may serve as counsel to each and any Seller, and each of their respective Affiliates (individually and
collectively, the “Seller Group”), on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of
this Agreement and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, and that, following consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, Alston & Bird
LLP (or any successor) may serve as counsel to the Seller Group or any director, member, partner, officer, employee or Affiliate of the Seller Group, in
connection with any litigation, claim or obligation arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions
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notwithstanding such representation and each of the parties hereto hereby consents thereto and waives any conflict of interest arising therefrom, and each of such
parties shall cause any Affiliate thereof to consent to waive any conflict of interest arising from such representation.

24. Definitions.

(a) The capitalized terms set forth below have been defined herein on the respective pages set forth below:
 
Term   Page     Term   Page
Actual Closing Date Working Capital       Current Balance Sheet Date   18
Amount   9    Current Financial Statements   18
Advisory Agreement   6    Disaster Recovery Plan   34
Aggregate Cap   52    Effective Time   2
Agreement   1    Employee Benefit Plans   25
Appraisal Shares   4    Employee Obligations   36
Audited Balance Sheets   18    Employee Pension Benefit Plan   25
Audited Financial Statements   18    Employee Welfare Benefit Plan   25
BMA   36    ERISA   25
Business Intellectual Property   29    ERISA Affiliate   26
Buyer   1    Estimated Closing Balance Sheet   8
Buyer Indemnified Parties   49    Estimated Indebtedness   8
Capital Leases   71    Estimated Third Party Payables   8
Captive Insurance Licenses   35    Estimated Working Capital   8
Class A Common Stock   1    Excess Coverage Provision   53
Class B Common Stock   1    Final Aged Net Receivables Report   60
Closing   12    Financial Statements   18
Closing Date   12    Firm   9
Closing Date Balance Sheet   8    Force Majeure Event   34
Closing Date Review   8    GAAP   18
Closing Date Working Capital Amount   8    GICL   35
Common Stock   1    Governmental Authorizations   27
Company   1    Hart-Scott-Rodino Act   44
Company Ancillary Agreements   14    Indemnified Party   50
Company Disclosure Schedule   13    Indemnifying Party   50
Company Fees and Expenses   6    Information Statement   43
Company Financial Advisor   61    Insurance Act   36
Company Pre-Closing Certificate   8    Intellectual Property   29
Confidentiality Agreement   38    Interim Financial Statements   18
Consent Fees   7    Leased Real Property   30
Contemplated Transactions   6    Leases   30
Continuing Employees   54    Letters of Transmittal   5
Current Balance Sheet   18    Liquidation Preferences   2

      Material Contract   20
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Merger   2    Section 262   4
Money Laundering Laws   19    Seller Group   64
Necessary Items   34    Seller Indemnified Parties   49
NOLs   13    Sellers’ Representative   10
Non-Paying Party   56    Share Conversion Consent   44
Objection Notice   8    Stockholders’ Approvals   1
Option Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgement   5    Straddle Period   56
Options   16    Surviving Corporation   2
Parent   1    Systems   34
Parent Ancillary Agreements   36    Tail   53
Paying Party   56    Tax   24
Permitted Exceptions   30    Tax Claim   58
Personal Property   17    Tax Return   24
Post-Closing D&O Policy   54    Taxes   24
Potential Transaction   42    Terminated Plans   46
Pre-Closing Tax Period   56    Termination Time   60
Pre-Closing Third Party Payments   7    Third Party Payables   7
Preferred Stock   1    Third Party Payables Schedule   7
Proceeding   22    Threshold Amount   51
Related Person   34    Transfer Taxes   13
Remaining Merger Consideration   3    Transition Costs   49
Required Tail Coverage   53    Warrant Cancellation and Payment   
Required Tail Deductible   53    Acknowledgement   5
SAC Act   36    Warrants   16
Sample Working Capital Calculation   8    Working Capital Deficit Adjustment   9

      Working Capital Excess Adjustment   9

(b) Except as otherwise provided herein, the capitalized terms set forth below shall have the following meanings:

“Affiliate” has the meaning as defined in Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Aged Net Receivables” means the net amounts of those Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ accounts receivable, premiums receivable and premium payable
that are aged more than ninety (90) days on the Closing Date as set forth on a schedule provided by the Company on the Closing Date, after offset of any negative
accounts receivable against positive accounts receivable from the same clients. Any offset of premiums payable shall be subject to written approval from the
carriers entitled to receive such premiums.

“Aggregate Option Exercise Price” means the aggregate price that the holders of Options would be required to pay to exercise all such Options outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“Aggregate Stockholder Loan Value” means the aggregate value of all Stockholder Loans outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.
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“Aggregate Warrant Exercise Price” means the aggregate price that the holders of Warrants would be required to pay to exercise all such Warrants
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“Applicable Law” means, with respect to a Person, any statute, law, code, ordinance, rule, decree, order or regulation of a Governmental Body, including
any policy having the force and effect of law, any rule of common law and any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including for the avoidance of
doubt, the laws of Bermuda, that, in any such case, is applicable to such Person or the assets of such Person.

“Applicable Percentage” means, with respect to any Stockholder, a ratio, expressed as a percentage (rounded to four decimal places), equal to (x) the sum
of (i) the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock held by such holder immediately prior to the Effective Time, plus (ii) the aggregate number of shares of
Common Stock issuable in respect of all outstanding Options held by such holder at the Effective Time, plus (iii) the aggregate number of shares of Common
Stock issuable upon the exercise in full for cash of all outstanding Warrants held by such holder at the Effective Time, divided by (y) the Fully Diluted Shares
Outstanding.

“Baseline Working Capital Amount” means $7,000,000.00.

“Carrier” means any insurance company, surety, insurance pool, risk retention group, risk purchasing group, self-insured group, reinsurer, Lloyd’s of
London syndicate, state fund or pool or other risk assuming entity in which any insurance, reinsurance, or bond has been placed or obtained.

“CERCLA” means the United States Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act and the Superfund Amendments and
Reauthorization Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq., as amended.

“Client” means any Person to whom any insurance products or services have been provided by an applicable Person.

“Client Account” means collectively, (a) the right to payment of a monetary obligation, whether or not earned by performance, for the provision of any
insurance products or services to any Client, and (b) the goodwill and business relationship with such Client relating to the provision of any insurance products or
services to such Client.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Commissions” means (a) commission revenues, including Overrides (if any) and GSCs (if any), plus (b) fees (other than Service Fees) in addition to or in
lieu of commissions, provided such fees are disclosed and otherwise permissible in accordance with applicable law, plus (c) premium financing commissions,
provided such fees are billed and received in accordance with applicable law, in each case net of any Commissions or referral fees paid to any third party
producing or referring agent or broker. Commissions do not include Contingent Revenues.
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“Common Stockholders” means the Persons who, immediately prior to the Effective Time, are the record owners of the issued and outstanding Common
Stock.

“Company Material Adverse Effect” means any change, event, violation or circumstance the effect of which is both material and adverse to (i) the property,
business, operations, assets (tangible and intangible) or financial condition of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company, taken as a whole or (ii) the
ability of the Company to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, none of the following shall be deemed, in and of itself, to be a
Company Material Adverse Effect: (A) a change that primarily results from economic or political conditions or events affecting the United States economy or
world economy that does not disproportionately affect the Company or its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or (B) a change that results directly from action taken
by a party to this Agreement in connection with fulfilling its obligations hereunder.

“Consent” means any authorization, approval, consent, order of a Governmental Body, license, permit, ratification or waiver.

“Contingent Revenues”—

(a) Contingent Revenues means all contingent, bonus, profit-sharing, subsidies, and similar incentive-based revenues, including, without limitation, all
sliding-scale commissions arrangements.

(b) Contingent Revenues exclude:

(i) any specific percentage commission on premium to be paid by a Carrier set at the time of purchase, renewal, placement or servicing of an
insurance policy;

(ii) any specific fee, to the extent legally permissible, to be paid by the Client Account in addition to or in lieu of such specific percentage
commission;

(iii) a combination of such commissions and fees; and

(iv) Overrides.

“Contract” means any written, oral or other agreement, contract, lease, arrangement, understanding, instrument, indenture, note, mortgage, option,
warranty, purchase order, license, sublicense, insurance policy, benefit plan or legally binding commitment or undertaking of any nature.

“Current Assets” means and includes the following as of the date of determination: cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade accounts receivable,
premiums receivable, deposits, prepaid expenses used in the Ordinary Course of Business and miscellaneous and other receivables and other current assets;
provided, however, that Direct Bill Receivables, deferred Tax assets and non-refundable prepaid insurance premiums shall be excluded from such definition.
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“Current Liabilities” means and includes the following as of the date of determination: premium payables to insurance companies and brokerage
companies, commissions payable, accounts payable, accrued expenses (including, without limitation, rent, salaries, surplus lines tax payable, vacation, sick leave,
severance payments and similar employee related expenses), accrued incentive (including commissions, incentive pay and variable pay) of $3,274,948.28,
accrued payroll taxes of $403,233.85, a cancellation reserve of $326,584.00, the current portion of deferred compensation, E&O reserves, audit expenses
associated with the completion of the audit for the period January 1, 2013 through the Closing Date, expenses associated with preparation of income tax returns
related to the Pre-Closing Tax Period portion of the Straddle Period, Transfer Taxes and any Liabilities for services to be rendered in the future for which the
Company has already received payment in accordance with prior practices of the Company and its Subsidiaries; excluding, (1) any dividends payable, deferred
compensation in excess of $327,161.15 and the current portion of any debt and capital lease payments owed to third parties which are paid as of Closing, and
(2) any earnout, any deferred Tax liabilities and any other amounts arising purely as an accommodation to Buyer. Notwithstanding the foregoing and GAAP
utilized by the Seller, the total amount of the accruals for payroll taxes, cancellation reserve, and current portion of deferred compensation shall be $1,056,979.00
and the total amount of the accruals for commissions, incentive pay and variable pay shall be $3,274,948.28, both as outlined in the Sample Working Capital
Calculation.

“DGCL” means the Delaware General Corporation Law.

“Direct Bill Receivables” means the accounts receivable of commissions owed with respect to premiums for which a Client is billed directly by the Carrier.

“Environment” means soil, land surface or subsurface strata, surface waters (including navigable waters, ocean waters, streams, ponds, drainage basins, and
wetlands), groundwater, drinking water supply, stream sediments, ambient air (including indoor air), plant and animal life, and any other environmental medium
or natural resource.

“Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities” means any actual or contingent liability, obligation or other responsibility of the Company, its Subsidiaries
or any director, officer, employee, agent, contractor, or representative of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company under any Environmental Law
(i) arising from the operations of the Company’s or any Subsidiary of the Company’s business, including in connection with the off-site shipment of Hazardous
Materials by the Company or its Subsidiaries, or (ii) existing at or under, and releases onto or from, any property (including the air, soil, groundwater, surface
water, or within any buildings or structures) which is or has been owned, leased, operated or occupied by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or their
respective businesses, at any time before or after the Closing, with respect to and including, without limitation, the following: (A) any environmental, health, or
safety matter or condition (including on-site or off-site contamination, occupational safety and health, and regulation of chemical substances or products);
(B) fines, penalties, judgments, awards, settlements, legal or administrative proceedings, damages, losses, claims, demands and response, investigative, remedial,
or inspection costs and expenses arising under any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law; (C) financial responsibility under any
Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law for cleanup
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costs or corrective action, including any investigation, cleanup, removal, containment, or other remediation or response action required by any Environmental
Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law and for any natural resource damages; or (D) any other compliance, corrective, investigative, or remedial measure
required under any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law. The terms “removal,” “remedial,” and “response action,” include, without
limitation, the types of activities covered by CERCLA.

“Environmental Laws” means all Applicable Laws relating to: (i) public health and safety, including advising appropriate authorities, employees, and the
public of intended or actual releases of pollutants or hazardous substances or materials, violations of discharge limits, or other prohibitions and of the
commencements of activities, such as resource extraction or construction, that could have a significant impact on the Environment; (ii) preventing or reducing to
acceptable levels the release into the Environment of, or the exposure of employees or the public to, pollutants or hazardous, toxic, radioactive or other substances
or materials alleged to be harmful; (iii) reducing the quantities, preventing the release, or minimizing the hazardous characteristics of solid, gaseous or liquid
waste generation, handling, treatment, storage, disposal or transportation; (iv) assuring that products are designed, formulated, packaged, and used so that they do
not present unreasonable risks to human health or the Environment when used or disposed of; (v) protecting the air, water, land, wetlands, natural resources,
wildlife (including endangered species) or other ecological amenities; (vi) reducing to acceptable levels the risks inherent in the transportation of hazardous
substances, pollutants, oil, or other potentially harmful substances; (vii) cleaning up pollutants that have been released, preventing the threat of release, or paying
the costs of such cleanup or prevention; or (viii) making responsible parties pay private parties, or groups of them, for damages done to their health or the
Environment, or permitting self-appointed representatives of the public interest to recover for injuries done to public assets. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, “Environmental Laws” includes, without limitation, CERCLA, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. §§1801 et seq.), the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq.), the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.), the Safe Drinking Water Act (42 U.S.C. §§300f et
seq.), the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.), the Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.), the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and
Rodenticide Act (7 U.S.C. §§136 et seq.), the Occupational Safety and Health Act (29 U.S.C. §§651 et seq.), the New Jersey Solid Waste Management Act
(N.J.S.A. 13:1E-1 et seq.), the New Jersey Industrial Site Recovery Act (N.J.S.A. 13:1K-6 et seq.), the New Jersey Air Pollution Control Act (N.J.S.A. 26:2C-1 et
seq.), and the New Jersey Water Pollution Control Act (N.J.S.A. 58:10A-1 et seq. and 58:10B), as each has been amended from time to time, the regulations
promulgated pursuant thereto, and any Governmental Authorizations required thereunder.

“Escrow Agent” means SunTrust Bank.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement among Parent, the Surviving Corporation, the Escrow Agent, and the Sellers’ Representative on behalf
of the Sellers substantially in the form of Exhibit E hereto.

“Escrowed Amount” means an amount equal to the sum of (i) ten percent (10%) of the Purchase Price, and (ii) any accrued interest thereon as provided for
in the Escrow Agreement.
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“Estimated Working Capital Excess” means the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Working Capital is more than the Baseline Working Capital
Amount.

“Estimated Working Capital Shortfall” means the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Working Capital is less than the Baseline Working Capital
Amount.

“Fully Diluted Shares Outstanding” means the sum of (i) the aggregate number of Shares Outstanding plus (ii) the aggregate number of additional shares of
Common Stock that would be issued and outstanding if all Options and Warrants issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time were exercised in full.

“Governmental Body” means any: (i) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of any nature;
(ii) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; or (iii) foreign, federal, state, local, municipal or other governmental or regulatory authority of
any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, commission, instrumentality, official, organization, unit, body or entity and any court,
arbitrator or other tribunal).

“Group Company” means the Company and each of its Subsidiaries. Collectively referred to herein as “Group Companies.”

“GSCs” means guaranteed supplemental commissions.

“Hazardous Materials” include any: (i) “hazardous substance,” “pollutants,” or “contaminant” (as defined in Sections 101(14) and (33) of CERCLA or the
regulations issued pursuant to Section 102 of CERCLA and found at 40 C.F.R. Section 302), including any element, compound, mixture, solution or substance
that is designated pursuant to Section 102 of CERCLA; (ii) substance that is designated pursuant to Section 311(b)(2)(A) of the FWPCA; (iii) hazardous waste
having the characteristics identified under or listed pursuant to Section 3001 of RCRA; (iv) substance containing petroleum, as that term is defined in
Section 9001(8) of RCRA; (v) toxic pollutant that is listed under Section 307(a) of FWPCA; (vi) hazardous air pollutant that is listed under Section 112 of the
Clean Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 7401, 7412); (vii) imminently hazardous chemical substance or mixture with respect to which action has been
taken pursuant to Section 7 of the Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended (15 U.S.C. Sections 2601, 2606); (viii) source, special nuclear, or by-product
material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (42 U.S.C. Section 2011 et seq.); (ix) asbestos, asbestos-containing material, or urea
formaldehyde or material that contains it; (x) waste oil and other petroleum products; and (xi) any other toxic materials, contaminants, substances or wastes
defined in or regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.

“Immigration Laws” means the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Indebtedness” means, without duplication, (i) all indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries for borrowed money together with all prepayment
premiums and penalties and accrued interest thereon, (ii) all other indebtedness under derivatives, swap or exchange
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agreements, and other obligations for any guaranty of the indebtedness of any other Person, together with all accrued interest thereon, and in each such case all
premiums, penalties, breakage costs, unwind costs, fees, termination costs, redemption costs, expenses and other charges with respect to any of the foregoing,
(iii) all indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or lender under such agreement in the event of default are limited to repossession or sale of such
property), (iv) all indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries secured by a Lien to secure all or part of the purchase price of the property subject to
such mortgage or Lien, (v) all obligations under leases which have been or must be, in accordance with GAAP, recorded as capital leases in respect of which the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries is liable as lessee (“Capital Leases”), (vi) liabilities under securitization or receivables factoring arrangements or transactions,
and (vii) all indebtedness referred to above that is directly or indirectly guaranteed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or which the Company or any such
Subsidiary has agreed (contingently or otherwise) to purchase or otherwise acquire or in respect of which it has otherwise assured a creditor against loss. For the
avoidance of doubt, “Indebtedness” shall not include earn-out obligations listed in Section 2.9(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule or future bonus payment
obligations to employees listed in Schedule 10.6.

“Insurance Pool” means (i) a group of insurers or reinsurers through which particular types of risks are underwritten, with premiums, losses, and expenses
shared in agreed ratios, or (ii) a group of organizations that form a shared risk pool. Insurance Pool does not include any entity (such as an RRG or RPG) where
the members of the Insurance Pool are affiliated with each other (by contract, ownership or otherwise) other than solely by membership in the trade organization
sponsoring the Insurance Pool.

“Investors” means BC Management Holdings, LLC, Austin Ventures VII, L.P., Austin Ventures VIII, L.P., AV Partners VII, L.P., AV Partners VIII, L.P. and
FSPM, LLC.

“Key Employee Agreements” means, collectively, employment agreements to be entered into as of the Effective Time between the Parent, Company and
each of those Company employees set forth in Schedule 7.6(m).

“Knowledge” and the phrases “to the knowledge of the Company,” “to the Company’s knowledge,” and any other similar phrases as used with respect to
the Company means the actual knowledge of Management Stockholders, Tom Golub, Bret Quigley and Jason Flaxbeard.

“Liabilities” means any direct or indirect, primary or secondary, liability, indebtedness, obligation, penalty, cost or expense (including costs of
investigation, collection and defense), claim, deficiency, guaranty or endorsement of or by any Person of any type, secured or unsecured whether accrued,
absolute or contingent, direct or indirect, liquidated or unliquidated, mature or unmatured, known or unknown or otherwise.

“Lien” means any charge, burden, encumbrance, claim, community or other marital property interest, equitable interest, lien, option, deposit, pledge,
security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, rights of a vendor under any title retention or conditional sale agreement (or lease
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or other arrangement substantially equivalent thereto), right-of-way, easement, encroachment, right of first option, right of first refusal or similar right, restrictive
covenant or other restriction or limitation of any kind (including, without limitation, any restriction on the use, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any
attributes of ownership).

“Loss” means any loss, liability, claim, obligation, deficiency, demand, judgment, damage, interest, fines, penalties, claims, suits, actions, causes of action,
assessments, awards, costs and expenses (including costs of investigation and defense and attorneys’ and other professionals’ fees), whether or not involving a
third-party claim.

“Management Restricted Stock Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Agreement dated December 21, 2007, by and among the
Company, BC Management Holdings, LLC, Austin Ventures VIII, L.P., AV Partners VII, L.P., and AV Partners VIII, L.P., as amended by that certain Amendment
#1 to Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Agreement dated June 16, 2008.

“Management Stockholders” means Steve Denton, Dan Donovan, Rob Bothwell, Frank McKenna and Scott Davis.

“Merger Consideration” means (i) the Purchase Price, plus (ii) the Aggregate Option Exercise Price, the Aggregate Warrant Exercise Price and the
Aggregate Stockholder Loan Value, plus (iii) the Estimated Working Capital Excess, if any, minus (iv) the amount of the Merger Consideration Deductions, and
minus (v) the Escrowed Amount.

“Merger Consideration Deductions” means the aggregate amount of (i) the outstanding Indebtedness, (ii) all outstanding Company Fees and Expenses set
forth on the Third Party Payables Schedule and (iii) the Estimated Working Capital Shortfall, if any.

“Mississippi Pre-Closing Tax Liability” means any Taxes due and payable by the Company for the Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period in the State
of Mississippi and any attendant Taxes due in other jurisdictions related to the failure to file Tax Returns or pay Taxes in the State of Mississippi during the Pre-
Closing Tax Period.

“Modified Non-Compete Agreement” means those certain Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation, Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreements, in the
form attached as Exhibit F-1 hereto, to be entered into as of the Closing Date by and among Parent, the Company and the individuals listed on Schedule 7.6(l).

“Non-Compete Agreement” means those certain Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation, Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreements, in the form attached
as Exhibit F-2 hereto, to be entered into as of the Closing Date by and among Parent, the Company and the individuals listed on Schedule 7.6(j).

“Non-Solicitation Agreement” means those certain Non-Solicitation, Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreements, in the form attached as Exhibit F-3
hereto, to be entered into as of the Closing Date by and among Parent, the Company and the individuals listed on Schedule 7.6(k).
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“Occupational Safety and Health Law” shall mean any Applicable Law designed to provide safe and healthful working conditions and to reduce
occupational safety and health hazards.

“Optionholders” means the Persons who, immediately prior to the Effective Time, are the record owners of Options.

“Ordinary Course of Business” means consistent with past practices of the Company and its Subsidiaries and in the ordinary and usual course of normal
day-to-day operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

“Overrides” means a fixed rate compensation method for the provision of insurance services expressed either as a flat fee or as a percentage of the cost of a
service.

“Payoff Letters” means the letter or letters provided by the lender or lenders of funded Indebtedness in connection with the repayment thereof at the
Effective Time as contemplated by Section 1.6(f).

“Per Share Indemnity Escrow Consideration” means the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the Escrowed Amount held in escrow pursuant to the terms of the
Escrow Agreement, less any amounts distributed therefrom pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, by (ii) the Fully Diluted Shares
Outstanding.

“Per Share Price” means an amount equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the Remaining Merger Consideration by the Fully Diluted Shares
Outstanding.

“Per Share Price Per Option” means with respect to each share of Common Stock that would be issuable upon exercise of any Option outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time (i) the Per Share Price minus (ii) the applicable exercise price per share of Common Stock under such Option.

“Per Share Price Per Warrant” means with respect to each share of Common Stock that would be issuable upon exercise of any Warrant outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time (i) the Per Share Price minus (ii) the applicable exercise price per share of Common Stock under such Warrant.

“Per Share Working Capital Excess” means, if there is a Working Capital Excess Adjustment, the quotient obtained by dividing (A) the Working Capital
Excess Adjustment (including any interest thereon), by (B) the Fully Diluted Shares Outstanding.

“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a joint venture, a corporation, a limited liability company, a trust, an unincorporated organization or a
government or any department or agency thereof or any other legal entity.
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“Pool Management Services” means the combination of underwriting, claims administration, preparing policy forms, selection of service providers for the
Insurance Pool, risk control services and setting rules and rates. Pool Management Services do not include Captive Management Services or general risk
management consulting services incidental to a brokerage client’s insurance program.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” means a taxable period or portion thereof other than a Pre-Closing Tax Period.

“Preferred Stockholders” means the Persons who, immediately prior to the Effective Time, are the record owners of the issued and outstanding series of
Preferred Stock.

“Principal Stockholders” means those Stockholders, Optionholders or Warrantholders listed on Schedule 24.

“Purchase Price” means $360,000,000.00 in cash.

“Release” means that certain Release of the Company by the Investors, the Management Stockholders, Bret Quigley and Thomas Golub, in the form
attached as Exhibit G hereto, dated as of the Closing Date.

“Sanction” means any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or any equivalent
sanctions or measures imposed by the United Nations and/or the European Union and/or the United Kingdom and/or Bermuda or other relevant sanctions
authority.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Seller Deliveries” means the Letters of Transmittal, the Warrant Cancellation and Payment Acknowledgements and the Option Cancellation and Payment
Acknowledgements.

“Sellers” means the Stockholders, Optionholders and Warrantholders.

“Shares Outstanding” means the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time (including Appraisal
Shares then outstanding, but excluding Appraisal Shares that have been redeemed or cancelled by the Company prior to the Effective Time pursuant to a final
settlement of the demands of the holder thereof for the fair market value thereof in connection with the Merger), but after the conversion of any Preferred Stock to
Common Stock.

“Special Matter” means any one or more of the following indemnity matters:

(i) As to Parent’s right to indemnity under this Agreement, any breach of the Company’s representations and warranties contained in
Section 2.1, Section 2.2, Section 2.3(b) or Section 2.4; reimbursement of uncollected Aged Net Receivables as set forth in Section 10.7 and reimbursement for
Transition Costs in excess of $95,000; and
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(ii) As to the Sellers’ right to indemnity under this Agreement, any breach of Parent’s representations and warranties contained in
Section 3.1, Section 3.3, or Section 12.2.

“Stockholder Loans” means any Stockholder loans made by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and listed in Section 2.9(g) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule.

“Stockholders” means the Persons who, immediately prior to the Effective Time, are the record owners of the issued and outstanding Common Stock or
Preferred Stock.

“Subsidiary” means with respect to any Person, any other Person which, directly or indirectly, is controlled by such Person. For purposes of the preceding
sentence, “control” shall include the power to vote or direct the voting of more than 50% of the voting shares, partnership interests, limited liability company
interests or other voting equity interests of a Person.

“Taxing Authority” means the IRS and any other state, local or foreign Governmental Body responsible for the administration and collection of any Taxes.

“Voting Agreement” means the Beecher Carlson Holdings, Inc. Second Amended and Restated Voting Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2007, as
amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of February 8, 2011, by and among the Company and the investors listed on the signature pages thereto.

“Warrantholders” means the Persons who, immediately prior to the Effective Time, are the record owners of Warrants.

“Working Capital Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the amount that is equal to the difference between Current Assets and Current
Liabilities, as adjusted to the extent that any Current Assets or Current Liabilities are included in Third Party Payables or elsewhere in the calculation of Merger
Consideration, including Aggregate Stockholder Loan Value. For the avoidance of confusion, except for the adjustments outlined above and exhibited in the
Sample Working Capital Calculation, all amounts will be calculated using the policies, conventions and methodologies and procedures used by the Company in
preparing the Audited Financial Statements as of and for the period ended December 31, 2012, subject to exceptions for customary year-end adjustments.

“Written Consent” means the written consent in the form of Exhibit H hereto, approving and adopting this Agreement and the Merger, to be executed and
delivered by the Investors and the Management Stockholders immediately following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, which written consent when
executed and delivered will be sufficient to obtain the Stockholders’ Approvals.

{Signatures are on the following page.}
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement and Plan of Merger has been duly executed by the parties hereto as of and on the date first above written.
 

BUYER:
BROWN & BROWN MERGER CO.

By:   

Name:   

Title:   

PARENT:
BROWN & BROWN, INC.

By:   

Name:   

Title:   

COMPANY:
BEECHER CARLSON HOLDINGS, INC.

By:   

Name:   

Title:   

BC SELLERS’ REPRESENTATIVE LLC, SOLELY IN ITS
CAPACITY AS SELLERS’ REPRESENTATIVE:

By:   

Name:   

Title:   



Exhibit 31.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, J. Powell Brown, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 2, 2013
 

/s/ J. Powell Brown
J. Powell Brown
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Cory T. Walker, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 2, 2013
 

/s/ Cory T. Walker
Cory T. Walker
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), I, J. Powell Brown, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m or § 78o(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 2, 2013
 
/s/ J. Powell Brown
J. Powell Brown
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), I, Cory T. Walker, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m or § 78o(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 2, 2013
 
/s/ Cory T. Walker
Cory T. Walker
Chief Financial Officer


